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Statement of Chairman
FERESE

To all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”),

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China Resources
and Transportation Group Limited (Bl & R B EE B R A 7)) (the
“Company”), | am delighted to present the Annual Report 2023 and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2023.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s revenue was
mainly contributed by toll income from the 265-kilometre heavy-
haul toll expressway in Inner Mongolia (“Zhunxing Expressway”)
operated by Inner Mongolia Zhunxing Heavy Haul Expressway
Company Limited* (AR HAEREHFSRAKBEREE L F)
(“Zhunxing”). In view of the national economic recovery as a
result of reopening of borders and the relaxation of the pandemic
prevention measures in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), we
achieved an approximately 54.62% increase in the average daily
revenue from the Zhunxing Expressway during the year ended 31
March 2023.

To encourage a steady and healthy development of the coal
industry, the PRC government implements measures to amplify coal
supply, stabilize coal prices, adjust the pace of coal imports, and
coordinate measures for coal transportation to encourage the steady
development of the coal industry and bring about a turnaround for
the transportation industry. It is expected that the positive factors
will bring growth to the traffic volume and toll income of Zhunxing
Expressway, and the Group will continue to move forward steadily.

Looking back at the year of 2022, the staffs at all levels of the Group
had strived together and continued to take actions to improve the
liquidity position of the Group. Amid the challenging economic
environment, the Company is in the progress of implementing
various measures including but not limited to seeking other potential
purchasers to dispose of the equity interests in Zhunxing and debt
restructuring with the Group’s creditors (the “Creditors”). The Group
will take up challenges with prudence and step forward to achieve
sustainable growth of the Group and maximize the benefits of the
Shareholders as a whole.

| wish to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation and
gratitude to all Shareholders and Creditors for their continued

support and to thank my fellow directors and colleagues for their
tremendous energy, dedication and hard work in the past year.

Mr. Gao Zhiping
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 11 December 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group was principally
engaged in expressway operations, compressed natural gas (“CNG”)
gas stations operations, growing and sales of forage and agricultural
products and timber operations.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Operation of Zhunxing Expressway

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s revenue was
mainly contributed by toll income from the 265-kilometre heavy-
haul toll expressway in Inner Mongolia (“Zhunxing Expressway”)
operated by Inner Mongolia Zhunxing Heavy Haul Expressway
Company Limited* (AEH FHEH SR 2K ERETAF)
(“Zhunxing”) which is indirectly held as to 86.87% by the Company.
Zhunxing Expressway is strategically important to the energy
resources logistics in the northern PRC as it connects the major coal
production area with distribution centers in the region in a convenient
and economical way.

Following the recovery of the national economy as a result of
reopening of borders and the relaxation of the pandemic prevention
measures in the PRC, the number of trucks using Zhunxing
Expressway has gradually increased, leading to a steady increase in
the toll revenue of Zhunxing Expressway during the year ended 31
March 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, Zhunxing Expressway recorded
an accumulated toll income of approximately HK$733.58 million
(approximately RMB644.72 million), representing an increase of
approximately 54.41% from approximately HK$475.08 million
(approximately RMB391.03 million) for the last reporting year. The
average daily toll revenue of Zhunxing Expressway during the year
are as follows:
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENREDM

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Operation of Zhunxing Expressway (Continued)

Upon traffic opening and commencement of toll collection of
Zhunxing Expressway on 21 November 2013, the Group actively
introduced measures and promotions to build client base. Apart
from the economic factors as discussed above, other factors which
restrained the growth of both traffic volume and toll income of
Zhunxing Expressway during the year include but not limited to the
following:

Q)

Due to the implementation of energy consumption control
policies and air pollution control policies in the PRC, certain
coal related enterprises were shut down, resulting in a
decrease in both coal consumption and traffic volume of
Zhunxing Expressway;

The “Railway to Railway” policy in the PRC has affected
the transportation pattern of bulk cargo. The mode of
transportation of coal has been shifted from road-oriented
to railway-oriented. Railways save the transportation cost
of coal and improve efficiency. As a result, the shift of the
transportation pattern has a direct impact on traffic volume of
Zhunxing Expressway; and

The road network has become increasingly dense and certain
original road users of Zhunxing Expressway has transferred to
other new or renovated national expressways under the road
network.

Zhunxing will carry on a number of measures to boost the growth in
traffic volume and toll income of Zhunxing Expressway and attract
more coal transport vehicles to utilize Zhunxing Expressway on a
regular basis:

1

6

Fine-tune its business strategies to seek revenue growth in this
competitive market environment:

i) Executing a road maintenance program that is
comprehensively planned and deployed under Zhunxing’s
policy to “normalize, standardize, and ensure the road
conditions of Zhunxing Expressway to preserve its best
state”. During the past years, Zhunxing Expressway
maintained good standards on road appearance and
road condition, and thus fully realized the maintenance
management objectives of “smooth, safe, comfortable
and splendid” for an expressway; and
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Operation of Zhunxing Expressway (Continued)

(1)

(Continued)

ii) Reinforcing a safe and expedient driving environment
by implementing 24-hour patrol system to improve the
service level and emergency response capability of
the maintenance, road administration and traffic police
personnel, with an aim to swiftly resolve spontaneous
traffic incidents and minimize the time to restore traffic
fluency on Zhunxing Expressway;

Strengthen daily management of Zhunxing Expressway by
incorporating daily inspection, comprehensive inspection
and special inspection to achieve a full coverage of vehicle
inspection at the entrance and exit of toll stations, curbing the
phenomenon of evasion and leakage of toll;

Focus on marketing activities to grow customer base. Zhunxing
will explore the cooperation opportunities with the neighboring
logistic base and coal chemical enterprises and promote
Zhunxing Expressway’s advantageous position in bringing
together a coal transport process that reinforces traffic fluency,
cost-saving and high efficiency; and

Actively utilize the national toll collection policy and implement
a differentiated toll strategy. Based on the “Comprehensive
Implementation Plan for Differentiated Toll Collection” issued
by the Ministry of Transport, the National Development and
Reform Commission, and the Ministry of Finance, Zhunxing will
formulate a differentiated toll plan for road sections to attract
different types of vehicles to use the Zhunxing Expressway.

Forage and Agricultural Product Business

The Group has commenced its business in the growing and sales
of forage and agricultural products in May 2017 upon Ar Horgin
Banner Xinze Agricultural & Animal Husbandry Company Limited* (P

BHMELHEBEERUMEBRAA

) (“Xinze") becoming a 60% owned
g

subsidiary of the Group after the acquisition of the Company was
completed on 10 May 2017.

The major factor attributes to the sales revenue of the forage is
the level of local precipitation that affects the yield of the forage.
Due to climate changes in recent years, especially affected by the
multiple drastic changes in natural temperature and the effect of
cold currents since the second half of 2018 till now, it is difficult to
maintain the production and sales of forage at a sustainable level.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EERENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Forage and Agricultural Product Business (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, no sales income was recorded
under the forage and agricultural product business (2022: HK$Nil)
as the production of sorghum silage has ceased as a result of the
significant drop in local precipitation since 2019.

In light of the local climate condition and Xinze's current operation,
the management of Xinze considers that the forage production
will require additional investment in extensive irrigation equipment
and rebuild wells to recover and stabilize the productivity of the
operation.

Forest Operation

With an aim to improve the cashflows of the Group, the Company
will continue to look for opportunity to dispose its forestry related
businesses in the PRC.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately HK$735.13 million, representing a increase of about
53.28% from approximately HK$479.60 million for the last financial
year. The Group’s income was recognized under two reportable
segments of the Group, namely expressway operation and others
including timber operations and forage and agricultural business,
contributed approximately HK$733.58 million (99.79%) and HK$1.55
million (0.21%) (2022: HK$475.08 million (99.06%) and HK$4.52
million (0.94%)) respectively to the Group’s consolidated revenue.

Toll income from expressway operation of approximately HK$733.58
million (2022: approximately HK$475.08 million) constituted the
mainstream of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March
2023. The increase of about 54.41% in the annual toll revenue from
the expressway operation was mainly attributable to the factors as
discussed in the “Business Review” section.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales for the year ended 31 March 2023
was approximately HK$460.80 million, representing a decrease
of about 49.38% from approximately HK$910.40 million for the
last financial year. The Group’s cost of sales during the year was
mainly attributable to (i) the amortization of concession intangible
asset arising from the expressway operation of approximately
HK$350.31 million (2022: approximately HK$704.73 million), and (ii)
the depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$44.04 million (2022: approximately HK$72.31 million). The
decrease of about 49.38% in the cost of sales was mainly due to a
significant decrease in amortization of concession intangible asset
arising from the expressway operations and the implementation of
cost control measures during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Gross profit/loss

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded a gross
profit of approximately HK$274.33 million (2022: gross loss of
approximately HK$430.81 million).

Adjusted EBITDA

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded an
increased adjusted EBITDA (defined as earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation, amortization and non-cash changes in values
of assets and liabilities) (the “Adjusted EBITDA”) amounted to
approximately HK$645.13 million compared to the Adjusted EBITDA
of approximately HK$231.48 million for the last financial year. The
approximately 178.70% increase in the Adjusted EBITDA was
primarily driven by the increased revenue from the expressway
operations of the Group as discussed in the “Business Review”
section and the approximately 49.38% and 55.33% decrease in the
Group’s cost of sales and selling and administrative expenses during
the year ended 31 March 2023, respectively.

The Company is of the view that this non-HKFRS financial indicator
facilitates comparisons of operating performance overtime by
eliminating potential impacts of items which the management
considers to be non-indicative of the Group’s operating performance.
However, not all companies adopt the same way for calculating such
non-HKFRS financial indicator. Hence, similar measurements made
by other companies may not be comparable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EERENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Adjusted EBITDA (Continued)

R % B B (4R
CEEEREE 3 EEERC )

The adjusting items are included in the reconciliation from the loss &AEBEEDF ABRRATBIBESHABRERITE
before taxation to the Adjusted EBITDA as follows: FEBEFBE 2 HERAT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Loss before taxation TAIE 18 (1,510,776) (5,071,509)
Finance costs B 75 B 2R 433,364 1,328,728
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- BELEEBITE 45,880 75,190
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 11,545 12,207
Amortisation of concession intangible asset AR EAEEE 350,309 704,731
Impairment loss of concession intangible asset  #FFHEEFR L EREEIE 1,232,395 3,782,162
Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment #12% - W= & & # 2 B (E E 18 26,483 98,803
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) of 8 5 K E b g U 7018 7 Rl &
trade and other receivables, net =V (ﬁﬁféﬂé% [B) F 58 44,835 (83,043)
Fair value change in biological assets EMEECATEBRE 25,770 (3,098)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value BEATEEFABEZHBEE
through profit or loss 2N EERE (14,678) (23,181)
Gain on extinguishing financial liabilities by FRBITHROMBMBARZ
issuing new shares & - (589,513)
Adjusted EBITDA A SR B BT B T M 8 A A 645,127 231,477

The management of the Company is of the view that the (i)
impairment loss and amortisation of concession intangible asset, (ii)
impairment loss and depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
(iii) depreciation of right-of-use assets, (iv) impairment loss/(reversal
of impairment loss) of trade and other receivables, net, (v) fair value
change in biological assets, (vi) fair value gain on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, and (vii) gain on extinguishing
financial liabilities by issuing new shares are non-cash items, which
do not directly reflect the Group’s business operations. Hence,
by eliminating the effects of these items in the calculation of the
Adjusted EBITDA, it is believed that relevant operating performance
can be better reflected, and it would be more convenient to compare
operating performance in different years.

Detailed segment revenue and contribution to loss before income tax
of the Group is shown in Note 5 to this report.

ARBEEBRR  (WHARELEEZRERR
KEESH - (VD% BELRRBZAEBRRITE -

(ERBEEENE (VB DK HEAMEWRE 2R
E%E/%WEEE%@)@ﬁ U$%§§2

FEEED VIRQAFEEFABZZMBEE
Z AT EEWE - K(vii)iF B 21T R M8 B 5
BEZRER/IFRASER I TEERRAKE
MEBLE At £t EKABREHITE R E
HAMBRERERER ZYE  HEEREHHT
RIREBEAEERR  THEERLBTIRFE
ZEERE -

AEBEZzABRBRERGAEHAEBER
IR M EES -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Concession intangible asset

For the purpose of impairment testing, the concession intangible
asset under the Group’s expressway operations section is allocated
to a cash-generating unit of expressway operation (‘Expressway
CGU”), and during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, the
recoverable amounts of the Expressway CGU were determined
adopting value in use (“VIU”) calculation. There have been no
subsequent changes in the valuation methods used in the prior year.

In the current year, the actual toll revenue of the Zhunxing
Expressway was higher than the amount previously projected for the
year ended 31 March 2022, which is mainly due to the factors as
discussed in the “Business Review” section.

For the purpose of estimating the recoverable amount of the
Expressway CGU of the Group as at 31 March 2023, an independent
valuation was performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal
and Advisory Limited, a firm of qualified professional surveyors and
international valuation consultants with over 20 years of valuation
experience. Details of the VIU calculation and its key assumptions
are set out in Note 14(b) to the consolidated financial statements in
this report. Among the key assumptions involved, toll revenue growth
rates of various annum during the remaining exclusive operating
period were estimated based on the traffic forecast data determined
by an independent traffic consultant, in which the expected annual
GDP growth rate in the PRC is a major driver of the expected
traffic volume in the VIU calculation. Despite the toll revenue of
the Zhunxing Expressway for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
increased as compared to that of year ended 31 March 2022,
conservative toll revenue growth rates over the remaining exclusive
operating period are adopted in the VIU calculations for the year
ended 31 March 2023 after taking into account the uncertainties
arising from the China’s economy slowdown, the implementation of
energy consumption control policies and air pollution control policies
in the PRC.

In addition to the toll revenue growth rates, other factors considered
by the management of the Company include but not limited
to discount rate, vehicle types, existing road network, future
transportation plan, proposed forthcoming development of Zhunxing
and the actual operating results of Zhunxing Expressway during the
respective years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EERENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Concession intangible asset (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the recoverable amount of the Expressway
CGU amounting to approximately HK$6,197.97 million was lower
than the carrying amount of the Expressway CGU, thus impairment
loss of HK$1,232.40 million (2022: HK$3,782.16 million) and
HK$26.48 million (2022: HK$96.79 million) were recognised in
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 20283 in respect of
the concession intangible asset and related property, plant and
equipment respectively on the basis of conservative projected toll
revenues adopted in the VIU calculation. Details on the proforma
sensitivity analysis on the potential downside effects on the carrying
amount of the Expressway CGU are set out in Note 4(c) to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

Fair value of the biological assets

For the purpose of estimating the fair value of the Group’s biological
assets in the PRC as at 31 March 2023, an independent valuation
was performed by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited (the
“Vincorn”), a firm of qualified professional surveyors and international
valuation consultants with over 15 years of valuation experience.
The Board is satisfied that Vincorn is independent and competent to
conduct the valuation. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
Group recorded a loss on the change in fair value less costs to sell
of biological assets amounted to approximately HK$25.77 million
(2022: gain of approximately HK$3.10 million).

Further details on the qualifications of Vincorn, valuation
methodology and assumptions, material input used in the valuation
and sensitivity analysis in relation to the biological assets are set out
in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

R % B (4R
BB EE (H)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Loss for the year

The Group’s net loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately HK$1,510.78 million, representing an decrease of
approximately 70.21% from approximately HK$5,071.51 million.
The Group’s net loss for the year was primarily contributed by
the impairment loss of concession intangible asset amounted to
approximately HK$1,232.40 million (2022: HK$3,782.16 million),
the impairment loss of property, plant and equipment amounted
to approximately HK$26.48 million (2022: HK$98.80 million),
the finance costs amounted to approximately HK$433.36 million
(2022: approximately HK$1,328.73 million) and the selling and
administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$58.66
million (2022: approximately HK$131.32 million). The Group’s selling
and administrative expenses for the year primarily attributed to
staff costs and benefits of approximately HK$7.04 million (2022:
approximately HK$36.58 million) and cost on litigation settlement
and legal and professional fees of approximately HK$31.02 million
(2022: approximately HK$52.13 million).

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2023 was approximately HK$1,341.95 million (2022:
approximately HK$4,358.02 million). The basic loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company for the year was HK$0.13 as
compared with HK$0.48 for the last financial year. No diluted loss
per share was presented for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022 as all share options of the Company were expired during the
year ended 31 March 2019 and there were no potential ordinary
shares of the Company in issue during the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022.

LIQUIDITY REVIEW

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its short
and long term needs. The Group’s assets portfolio is mainly financed
by its borrowings and debt securities.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group was in a net liabilities position of
approximately HK$15,270.54 million as compared to a net liabilities
position of approximately HK$14,398.68 million as at 31 March
2022.

As at 31 March 2023, contractual maturities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows of approximately HK$22,843.91 million,
HK$126.30 million, HK$2.73 million and HK$4.22 million (2022:
approximately HK$23,956.36 million, HK$0.01 million, HK$162.81
million and HK$4.74 million) were required to be repaid within 1
year or on demand, after 1 year but within 2 years, after 2 years but
within 5 years and after 5 years, respectively.
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EERENWR DN

LIQUIDITY REVIEW (Continued)

The gearing ratio of the Group, measured as total liabilities to total
assets, was approximately 298.37% as at 31 March 2023 (2022
approximately 248.31%).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$17.77 million (2022: approximately HK$41.40
million) and its available banking facilities were amounted to
approximately HK$10,989.95 million (2022: approximately
HK$11,989.20 million) which have been fully utilized (2022: fully
utilized).

Borrowings

The Group’s outstanding borrowings, all being denominated in RMB
and HKS$, amounted to approximately HK$11,018.95 million (2022:
approximately HK$11,991.20 million), represented approximately
47.97% of the Group’s total liabilities as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
approximately 49.74%). Approximately HK$484.67 million (2022:
approximately HK$494.07 million) of the Group’s outstanding
borrowings were charged at fixed rates.

As the expressway operation is a capital intensive industry, the
Group’s outstanding borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB9,635.32 million (approximately HK$10,989.95 million), were
obtained and drawn down primarily for the construction of Zhunxing
Expressway as at 31 March 2023. The syndicated loan facilities of
approximately RMB8,314.09 million (approximately HK$9,482.97
million) (the “Syndicated Loans”) granted by several PRC banks (the
“Banks”) in December 2012 were secured by Zhunxing’s receivables
of toll income. Furthermore, Zhunxing obtained and drawn down
loan facilities amounted to approximately RMB1,321.24 million
(approximately HK$1,506.99 million) from several authorized financial
institutions in the PRC, of which approximately RMB921.74 million
(approximately HK$1,051.32 million) was secured by a combination
of (i) Zhunxing’s receivables of toll income; (ii) the Group’s equity
interests in Zhunxing; and/or (jii) certain Zhunxing’s investments.

As part of the restructuring process with the Banks (as set out in
the “Material Events” section below), the Syndicated Loans were
regarded in default before the completion of the debt restructuring.
Accordingly, all of the Group’s outstanding borrowings were
classified as current liabilities as at 31 March 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY REVIEW (Continued)
Significant investments, acquisitions and disposals

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any
significant investments.

On 20 June 2022, the Group disposed its 100% equity interest in
NE o EEFEERBER QA at a consideration of approximately
HK$4,683,000 (equivalent to RMB4,000,000). Details of the disposal
of a subsidiary are set out in Note 41(c) to the consolidated financial
statements in this report. Save as disclosed above, the Group did
not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures during the year ended 31 March 2028.

Capital Commitments

The Group’s capital commitments outstanding as at 31 March 2023
decreased by approximately 7.53% to approximately HK$22.34
million (2022: approximately HK$24.16 million), representing the
capital expenditure arising from the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment under the expressway operations sector.

Going Concern

For the year ended 31 March 2023, certain conditions as set out
in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial statements in this report
indicate the existence of multiple material uncertainties which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and therefore, the Group may not be able to realize its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

In view of the circumstances, the Board has undertaken and/or is in
the progress of implementing various measures (the “Measures”) to
improve the Group’s liquidity position as set out in the below section
headed “Action Plan to Address Audit Qualification”. Assuming the
successful implementation of the Measures, a cash flow forecast
(the “Cash Flow Forecast”) of the Group was prepared for a
period of not less than twelve months from the date of approval
(the “Approval Date”) of the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2023. With reference to the Cash
Flow Forecast, the Board is of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligation as and when
they fall due in the next twelve months from the Approval Date.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023 have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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LIQUIDITY REVIEW (Continued)

Going Concern (Continued)

Due to the potential interaction of multiple uncertainties relating
to going concern and their possible cumulative effect on the
consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2023
as set out under the “Basis For Disclaimer Of Opinion” section in
the Independent Auditor’'s Report, the auditor of the Company (the
“Auditor”) was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2023. Accordingly, the
Auditor issued a disclaimer of opinion in relation to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
(the “Audit Qualification”).

Further discussions in relation to the Company’s action plan to
address the Audit Qualification are set out on pages 24 to 25 of this
annual report.

If the Group had been unable to continue business as a going
concern, adjustments would have been made to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 to restate the
value of assets to their recoverable amounts, reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively, and make provision for further liabilities that
may arise. However, there has been no indication that the Group
cannot continue business as a going concern up to the Approval
Date.

Treasury Policy

The Group’s business operations, assets and liabilities are dominated
mainly in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars. There was no
significant foreign exchange gain or loss recognized during the year.
The management will review from time to time of potential foreign
exchange exposure and will take appropriate measures to minimize
the risk of foreign exchange exposure in the future.

The Group did not use any financial instruments for hedging
purposes and did not have foreign currency investments being
hedged by foreign currency borrowings and other hedging
instruments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL EVENTS
WINDING UP PETITION

On 11 January 2023, the Company received a statutory demand
from the petitioner (the “Petitioner”) under the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
(Chapter 32, Laws of Hong Kong), claiming that pursuant to an
order of the District Court dated 8 December 2022, the Company
owes the Petitioner the sums of approximately HK$2,227,000 (the
“Outstanding Amount”) together with interest and cost. On 9
March 2023, the Company received a petition (the “Petition”) from
the Petitioner in the matter of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) (Chapter 32, Laws of
Hong Kong) filed in the High Court on the basis of the alleged failure
by the Company to settle the Outstanding Amount together with
interest and cost.

On 31 May 2023, the Petitioner has withdrawn the Petition and the
hearing for the Petition had been cancelled.

Details on the Petition are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 5 March 2023, 10 March 2023, 13 March 2023, 3
May 2023 and 31 May 2023.

Update on Debt Restructuring

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has borrowings in the total amount
of approximately HK$11,018.95 million. Such borrowings mainly
consisted of Syndicated Loans of approximately RMB8,314.09
million (equivalent to approximately HK$9,482.97 million) granted
by several PRC Banks in December 2012. As announced by the
Company on 5 September 2019, the Company was informed that
the Banks intended to optimise their loan portfolios by restructuring
the Syndicated Loans through legal process to other interested
parties. However, the Banks must go through certain legal
proceedings with the Group including filing of civil actions, court-
directed mediations, entering into of settlement agreement(s) and
execution(s) of settlement agreement(s) in respect of the Syndicated
Loans.

During the process of debt restructuring of Zhunxing, the Banks
and another PRC bank lender (the “Lender”) had applied to freeze
Zhunxing'’s receivables of toll income, details of which are set out in
Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023 in this report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EERENWR DN

MATERIAL EVENTS (Continued)

Update on Debt Restructuring (Continued)

By the end of December 2019, settlement agreements had been
entered into between the Banks and the Group. After several
communication with the Banks, the Group was given to understand
that the restructuring of the Syndicated Loans would initiate in June
2020.

On 10 May 2022, the Intermediate People’s Court of Ulangab Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region (RE & BAE BB RM M H H A
R APFt) (the “Court”) decided that Zhunxing was an entity that
was suitable for restructuring and thus accepted the restructuring
application of Zhunxing by China Development Bank for the said
bank to restructure Zhunxing. On 25 August 2022, the Court
issued a written decision that Beijing Tian Tai Law Firm*dt &= &
BhE =AM ERFT had been appointed as the administrator (the
“Administrator”). The Court had approved Zhunxing to continue
operating and manage business affairs on its own. Zhunxing and the
Administrator had submitted a restructuring proposal to the Court
and the creditors within 6 months after the date of the court order.
The restructuring proposal was passed by the requisite majority of
creditors of Zhunxing at the meeting of restructuring proposal. The
restructuring proposal of Zhunxing had also been approved by the
Court on 26 September 2023. Since then, the restructuring proposal
became effective on 26 September 2023. The Administrator has
received the preference indication forms from all restructuring
proposal creditors and the admitted claims have been allocated in
the following manner:

a. For the portion of the borrowings secured by collateral
that is less than the assessed value of the collateral (the
“Partial Secured Borrowings”), 15% of the Partial Secured
Borrowings will be repaid in cash within 3 months from the
date of acceptance of this repayment arrangement in writing.
85% of the remaining Partial Secured Borrowings will be
repaid within 10 years from the date of court approval of
the restructuring proposal. For the portion of the borrowings
secured by collateral that exceeds the assessed value of
the collateral (the “Remaining Secured Borrowings”), the
Remaining Secured Borrowings up to RMB1,000,000 will
be fully repaid in cash within 1 year from the date of court
approval of the restructuring proposal. The portion exceeding
RMB1,000,000 will be discharged by transferring a portion
of the equity interest of Zhunxing held by the Group to the
creditors. The amount of equity transferred to them is subject
to the number of ordinary unsecured creditors choosing the
equity option as set out in note (c)(ii) below.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL EVENTS (Continued)

Update on Debt Restructuring (Continued)

b. For priority payment rights included in other payables, 15% of
the debt will be repaid in cash within 3 months from the date
of acceptance of this repayment arrangement in writing. 85%
of the remaining debt will be repaid within 10 years from the
date of court approval of the restructuring proposal.

C. For unsecured debt included in other payables and borrowings,
each ordinary creditor with a debt amount of RMB1,000,000
or less will be fully repaid in cash within 1 year from the date of
court approval of the restructuring proposal. For each ordinary
creditor with a debt amount exceeding RMB1,000,000, the
creditors can choose to discharge the debt in full either (i) by
way of a cash settlement representing 30% of the debt; or (ii)
by transferring a portion of the equity interest of Zhunxing held
by the Group to the creditors.

d. For accrued salaries and tax labilities, full repayment of
admitted claims in cash will be made to employees of Zhunxing
and the PRC tax authorities within 1 year from the date of
court approval of the restructuring proposal.

Upon the approval and effective of the restructuring proposal of
Zhunxing by the Court, certain claims of the restructuring against,
and liabilities of, Zhunxing were discharged and compromised in
full. Pursuant to the restructuring proposal as mentioned above,
certain equity interest in Zhunxing indirectly held by the Group
will be also transferred to the creditors who choose to settle the
liabilities by equity as mentioned in notes (a) and (c)(ii) above. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, there has been no impact of debt
restructuring on the Group’s financial position and performance. Up
to the date of this report, the equity structure of Zhunxing has not
changed and the Group remains holding an 86.87% equity interest
in Zhunxing. The Group is currently implementing and finalizing the
restructuring. As of the approval of consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 20283, the restructuring is still in
progress.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENREDM

MATERIAL EVENTS (Continued)

Outstanding Non-convertible Bonds

As at the date of this report, details of the non-convertible bonds
of the Company in the aggregate principal amount of HK$4,032.00
million (the “Outstanding Bonds”) are as follows:

EXEE(#)
AEBFAHBES

RAREHE  ARF A€ 2% E4032.0088
TR HES ((REBRESD FBOT

Default

interest rate

Principal as at

Holders of Outstanding Bonds amount Maturity date 31 March 2023

»®

2023F3H31H

REBESFEFEAA r&HE EHA ZENFE

(HK$) (per annum)

(BE) (B%)

China Life Insurance (Overseas) Company Limited 800,000,000 10 February 2016 5.625%
hEAS R O8N RO BER QA 201652 A 10H

China Life Insurance (Overseas) Company Limited 700,000,000 24 January 2017 5.625%
FEAS R O8N RO BR QA 20174 1H24H

Cross-Strait Capital Limited 32,000,000 10 February 2016 5.625%
B EARFR A A 201642 A 10A

Popcorn Industries Ltd. (Note) (#77%) 36,000,000 3 March 2016 5.625%
201693 H3H

Popcorn Industries Ltd. (Note) (477%) 35,000,000 3 September 2016 5.625%
201699 HA3H

Li Ka Shing (Canada) Foundation 464,000,000 3 March 2016 5.625%
FRHANERNEESS 201643 HA3H

Li Ka Shing (Canada) Foundation 465,000,000 3 September 2016 5.625%
FEHANMERNEESS 201659 HA3H

Strait Capital Service Limited 800,000,000 24 January 2017 5.625%
201741 H24H

Strait CRTG Fund, L.P. 700,000,000 24 January 2017 5.625%
201741 H24H

Total
1BET

Note: Popcorn Industries Ltd. is wholly-owned by Dr. Lo Ka Shui.

The Group is negotiating with its creditors, including but not limited
to the holders of the Outstanding Bonds, for possible standstill or
rescheduling of the repayment of debts owing by the Group. Up to
the date of this report, no agreement has been reached.
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MATERIAL EVENTS (Continued)

Proposed Disposal of 71% Equity Interests in Zhunxing
and the Undertaking of the Buy-back Obligation or
Options

Disposal Agreement A

On 28 December 2016, the Company as guarantor and its wholly-
owned subsidiary Cheer Luck Technology Limited (“Cheer Luck”)
acting as vendor, entered into a disposal agreement with Inner
Mongolia Yuanheng Investment Co. Ltd.*(AXHREREBR A
7)) (‘Purchaser A”), pursuant to which Cheer Luck conditionally
agreed to sell, and Purchaser A conditionally agreed to acquire 25%
equity interests in Zhunxing at RMB1,125.00 million (equivalent to
HK$1,260.00 million) (“Disposal Agreement A”) with an option to
buy back (the “Disposal A”).

On 18 December 2017, Cheer Luck and Purchaser A entered into
a supplemental agreement to amend the aforesaid consideration
to RMB1,145.00 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,282.40
million) pursuant to a valuation report (the “Consideration A”).
A fund company, Wulanchabu Zhongshi Yuanheng Logistics
Management Centre (Limited Partnership)* (SR A EREDR
EEEEHRL(BRAE)) (the “Fund Company’), was established
by Purchaser A at its sole discretion to facilitate its internal funding
arrangement and the settlement of Consideration A. The directors
of the Company expect that the net proceeds from Disposal A,
after deducting the expenses directly attributable thereto, will be
approximately RMB1,139.64 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,276.40 million).

On 16 April 2018, the Disposal Agreement A and all the transactions
contemplated thereunder were approved at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company. As at the date of this report, all payments
from Purchaser A are delayed and remained outstanding as the Fund
Company requires additional time to facilitate the internal funding
arrangement for settlement of Consideration A.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENREDM

MATERIAL EVENTS (Continued)

Proposed Disposal of 71% Equity Interests in Zhunxing
and the Undertaking of the Buy-back Obligation or
Options (Continued)

Disposal Agreements B, C and D

On 30 December 2016, the Company as guarantor and Cheer
Luck as vendor entered into a disposal agreement with each of the
following purchasers:

(i

(i)

(ii)

Hohhot Economic and Technological Development Zone
Investment and Development Group Co. Ltd.* (FfF0 % 4
KERNHERRERNEEBEBREME LR, for the sale
and purchase of 18% equity interests in Zhunxing at a
consideration equals to 18% of the net asset value of Zhunxing
as at 31 December 2016 (“Disposal Agreement B”);

Hohhot Huizeheng Investment Co. Ltd.* (M- #3545 H A {E %
EHREMTAR) (“Purchaser C”), for the sale and purchase
of 18% equity interests in Zhunxing at a consideration equals
to 18% of the net asset value of Zhunxing as at 31 December
2016 (“Disposal Agreement C”); and

Deyuan Xingsheng Industrial Co. Ltd.* (2R BB B X HF R
A @l), for the sale and purchase of 10% equity interests in
Zhunxing at a consideration equals to 10% of the net asset
value of Zhunxing as at 31 December 2016 (“Disposal
Agreement D”).

Up to the date of this report, an aggregate of RMB225,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$256,633,000) refundable earnest
monies were paid by Purchaser C to facilitate further negotiation
in respect of the disposal of 18% equity interests in Zhunxing. The
earnest monies will be settled as part of the consideration of the
aforesaid disposal when the transaction is completed. The earnest
monies had been applied to pay the Group’s borrowings and related
interest.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL EVENTS (Continued)

Proposed Disposal of 71% Equity Interests in Zhunxing
and the Undertaking of the Buy-back Obligation or
Options (Continued)

Disposal Agreements B, C and D (Continued)

As at the date of this report, the three purchasers have not prepared
the terms of the supplemental agreements and no revised timetable
has been agreed. Each of the above disposal agreements is not
inter-conditional and shall be completed separately. In light of the
China’s economy slowdown and the policy environment with risks
and uncertainties, the progress on the proposed disposals of the
71% equity interests in Zhunxing has been in a standstill position.
Given the Company’s imminent funding needs, the Board is of
the view that continuing to pursue the above proposed disposals
of Zhunxing may not be in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, and is considering to terminate the above
disposal agreements. The Company will actively seek other potential
purchasers to dispose of the 71% equity interests in Zhunxing and
the proceeds will be used to repay partially the principal amounts of
the Outstanding Bonds. Further announcement(s) will be made by
the Company as and when appropriate.

Details on the arrangement of proposed disposals and buy-
backs of the 71% equity interests in Zhunxing are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 9 January 2017, 30 March
2017, 30 June 2017, 29 September 2017, 18 December 2017, 16
April 2018 and 12 August 2019 and the circular of the Company
dated 26 March 2018.

PROSPECTS

The general outlook for the business environment will remain
challenging. In view of the slowdown of China’s economy and the
implementation of energy control and air pollution control policies
in the PRC, we remain cautious about the adverse impacts on the
financial results of the Group.

To encourage a steady and healthy development of the coal industry
and bring about a turnaround for the transportation industry, the
PRC implement measures to stabilize coal prices, adjust the pace
of coal imports, and coordinate measures for coal transportation. It
is expected that the positive factors will bring growth to the traffic
volume and toll income of Zhunxing Expressway, the Group will
continue to move forward steadily.
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EERENWR DN

PROSPECTS (Continued)

Given the Company’s imminent funding needs to meet its short-
term financial obligations, the Company will prioritize on exploring
all possible avenues, including but not limited to right issue, open
offer, placing of new shares and issuance of new convertible bonds,
disposing of assets of the Group and identifying other purchasers
to dispose of the interest in Zhunxing, to generate capitals to repay
the Outstanding Bonds and other outstanding borrowings. The
Board will continue to look out for opportunities to strengthen the
Group'’s financial position and strive to maximize the benefits of the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as a whole.

ACTION PLAN TO ADDRESS AUDIT
QUALIFICATION

The Auditor of the Company did not express opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 and the four preceding financial years due to the
potential interaction of the multiple uncertainties relating to going
concern and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated
financial statements.

In order to address the issues, up to the date of this report, the
Group has taken and will continue to implement the following
measures under the Group’s action plan to improve the Group’s
liquidity position, including:

(i) the Group is actively negotiating with the PRC banks and other
creditors for finalising the debt restructuring. Up to the date of
this report, the restructuring is still ongoing;

(i) the Group is actively negotiating with the Group’s other lenders
and non-convertible bond holders to seek for the renewal or
extension of repayments of all borrowings, including principals
and interests in default. Up to the date of this report, no
agreement has been reached; and

(i) the Group is actively negotiating with external parties to obtain
new sources of financing to finance the Group’s working
capital and improve the liquidity position. Up to the date of this
report, no agreement has been reached.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ACTION PLAN TO ADDRESS AUDIT
QUALIFICATION (Continued)

Despite the above works, the disclaimer of opinion for the year
ended 31 March 2023 remains unresolved as (1) the completion
of the debt restructuring was delayed; and (2) no other material
agreements entered into between the Company and its creditors,
potential purchasers or potential investors were available, on or
before the date of this report, as sufficient appropriate audit evidence
for the Auditor to assess the appropriateness of the Board’s
application of going concern basis in preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023. As the above Measures involve on-going negotiations and
communications with various external parties, potential purchasers
and creditors, it is difficult to determine a definite timetable on the
completion of the Measures under the action plan. Notwithstanding,
the Board will strive to complete the above Measures before the
financial year ended 31 March 2024.

NEXT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Based on the Company’s discussion with the Auditor, as the Audit
Qualification relates to the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, in preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board will be responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
the appropriateness of preparing the Group’s consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis with reference to the conditions
and circumstances as at 31 March 2024. The Auditor will obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to assess the appropriateness
of the Board’s application of going concern basis in preparing the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, and based on the audit
evidence obtained, to determine whether multiple uncertainties exist
in relation to the Group’s going concern issue.

The Board’s assessment of the Group’s ability to carry on as a going
concern as at 31 March 2024 will take into consideration the relevant
conditions and circumstances, and also a then cash flow forecast
of the Group for a period covering not less than twelve months from
the date of approval of the consolidated financial statement for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

After discussion with the Auditor, the Board expects that the
consolidated financial statement of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 will be free of the Audit Qualification if all the Measures
are successfully implemented as planned, sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence is obtained by the Auditor, and the Board is satisfied
that the Group can continue business as a going concern, barring
any unforeseen circumstances.
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EERENWR DN

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties that are considered to be
of significance to affect the Group’s businesses, operational
performance and financial conditions include but not limited to the
following:

Financial Risks

The Group’s exposure to financial risks arising from the Group’s
business and financial instruments include the interest rate risk,
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk,
details of which are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report.

In view of the Group’s short and long term liquidity requirements
as detailed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has been implementing various measures as set out in Note
3(c) to the consolidated financial statements to improve its liquidity
position. The ability of the Group to meet its liquidity requirements
and continue as a going concern is highly dependent on the future
outcomes of the measures.

Business Risks

The expressway operations business, the CNG gas stations
operations, the growing and sales of forage and agricultural
products operations and timber operations are closely related to the
changes in business, competitive, regulatory, political or economic
environment in which the Group operates, which may have significant
impact to the Group’s financial performance and conditions.

(i) Economic environment

The traffic volume and toll revenue of the Group’s expressway
operation are closely correlated to the macroeconomy,
where macroeconomic fluctuations are likely to result in
changes of the transport capacity influenced by the economic
activities. Circumstances such as escalation of trade tensions,
resurgence of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19")
infections are factors that bring potential challenge to
the global economy. Together, these factors will create
uncertainty to the operating performance of the expressway
operation business. The Group will continue to analyze the
macroeconomic environment and implement appropriate
strategies to reduce the impact of economic fluctuations on the
financial performance of the Group’s expressway operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Business Risks (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Transportation-related policy

The operating performance of the Group’s expressway
operation is sensitive to the PRC government’s policies in
respect of the transportation industry, such as tolling policy,
toll collection method, traffic regulation and transportation
networks. Such changes may have an adverse impact on the
traffic volume and toll revenue of the expressway operations
from time to time. The Group will monitor the relevant
government policies and ensure timely business decisions will
be made in response to the policy changes to minimize its
impact to the Group’s expressway operation.

Natural disasters or outbreak of contagious diseases

For the Group’s expressway operations, in case of floods,
earthquakes, storms and other unforeseen natural disasters
where the toll road is likely to be severely damaged, the
expressway business may not be in operation normally.
In case of fog, severe snow and ice, the toll road may be
closed during the affected time. These situations will have an
adverse impact on the traffic volume and toll revenue of the
expressway operations. The Group’s business could also be
adversely affected by the outbreaks of contagious diseases
such as the COVID-19 or other diseases that may affect the
livelihood of people. Travel restrictions and quarantine control
may negatively affect the economic demand of commodities
and productivity of the workforce, which may adversely affect
the financial performance and financial position of the Group.
To minimize the impact of possible destructions arising
from natural disasters, the Group will continue to implement
preventive measures to emphasize on the maintenance of good
road condition. Workplace controls and cost control measures
are continued to be implemented by the Group to minimize
any adverse impact arising from any outbreak or resurgence of
diseases.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EERENWR DN

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Legal and Compliance Risk

The Group is exposed to the risk of loss resulting from non-
compliance with applicable laws, regulations or contractual
obligations. External legal advices are sought on potential business
transactions or projects where appropriate to limit such risks.

The above list is non-exhaustive as there may be other risks and
uncertainties that arise from changes in the prevailing market
conditions, laws and regulations and other conditions over time.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

While the Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Group’s main operation,
namely the expressway operations business, is conducted by the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC. Accordingly, the Group’s main
operation shall comply with the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2023 and up
to the date of this annual report, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with any applicable laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to environmental protection by conducting
its operations and activities in an environmentally responsible and
sustainable manner. The Group’s environmental policy encourages
its employees to maintain green offices by means of conversation
on energy and other natural resources, reduction in materials
consumption, waste reduction, recycling and green procurement
under reasonable circumstances. During the year ended 31
March 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Group’s
environmental performance has been monitored on a regular basis.
The Group’s environmental policies and performance for the year
ended 31 March 2023 are set out on pages 62 to 84 in this annual
report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers, suppliers,
creditors and Shareholders are keys to the sustainable development
and success to the Group. The Group maintains regular
communications with its Shareholders and other stakeholders
through various channels including but not limited to general
meetings and the publication of corporate communications in the
form of announcements, reports or circulars.

The Group places significant emphasis on building strong connection
with its employees. To strengthen employee engagement, the Group
provides a fair workplace together with competitive remuneration
and a range of opportunities for career advancement to ensure its
employees are rewarded on performance-related basis.

With a view to strengthen business growth and profitability in the
long run, the Group is dedicated to build long lasting relationship
with its customers by addressing their needs and concern in a timely
manner through a well-established mechanism on customer support
and complaints.

The Group also establishes long-term relationship with its
professional service providers and appreciates the expertise and
strengths offered in the past which enable the Group to consistently
maintain quality standards.

The Group recognizes the importance in building up and maintaining
good relationship with its creditors. The Group continues to place
its priority on restructuring the Group’s outstanding debts and
improving the financial position of the Group.
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Directors’ Report

EEERE

The Directors present herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is an exempted Company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability. The address of its registered office is
the office of JTC (Cayman) Limited located at 94 Solaris Avenue
2nd Floor, Camana Bay P.O. Box 30745 Grand Cayman KY1-1203
Cayman Islands. Its principal place of business is located at 22/
F, On Hong Commercial Building, 145 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

During the year under review, the Company is principally engaged in
investment holding.

The activities of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023
are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report. During the year under review, the Group was principally
engaged in expressway operations, CNG gas stations operations,
growing and sales of forage and agricultural products and timber
operations.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622,
Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, are set out on pages 5 to
29 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of the Directors’
report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers amounted
to less than 30% of the total purchase of the Group.

The aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers amounted to less than 30% of the total revenue of
the Group during the year under review.

Accordingly, a corresponding analysis of major customers and
suppliers is not presented.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(Continued)

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or
any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) had any interest in those major customers and suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss on pages 89 to 90 of this annual report and in the
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

The Directors do not recommend any payment of dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$NIil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group’s dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) does not have
any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The Board has the
discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders
in accordance with the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
the Association, the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations. In considering whether
to propose a divided and in determining the dividend amount, the
Board will take into account factors such as the Group’s general
financial condition, profitability, business performance, debt level and
liquidity position for the financial year, the Group’s expected working
capital requirements and future expansion plans, any restrictions on
dividend distribution that may be imposed by the Group’s creditors,
the general economic conditions and any other factors which the
Board considers appropriate. The Board will review the Dividend
Policy from time to time and there can be no assurance that a
dividend will be distributed in any particular form or amount for any
given period.

SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Movements in the share premium and reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out on page 93 of this annual
report and Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report respectively.

Under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, the funds in share
premium account are distributable to Shareholders, subject to
the condition that immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
As at 31 March 2023, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders (2022:HK$Nil).
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Directors’ Report

EEERE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 March
20283 are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements
in this report.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has pledged the equity interests
in () Inner Mongolia Berun New Energy Company Limited* (A5 &
R REIRABBR A7) ; (i) Inner Mongolia Zhunxing Expressway
Service Areas Management Company Limited* (X5 & 4 8 5 28 iR
HREBAMREMLAA); and (i) Zhunxing to secure part of the
Group’s borrowings.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set
out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report. There were no
movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

NON-CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 March 2023, the outstanding principal amounts of the
non-convertible bonds of the Company amounted to HK$4,032.00
million. Details of the non-convertible bonds of the Company are set
out in the “Material Events” section on page 20 of this annual report
and Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.
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PROMISSORY NOTE

As at 31 March 2023, the outstanding principal amounts of the
Promissory note of the Company amounted to HK$119.81 million.
Details of the promissory note of the Company are set out in Note
26 of the consolidated financial statements in this report.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements and reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 204 of this annual report.
The summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements have been disclosed in accordance with the
Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24 “Related Party Disclosures”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and did not constitute connected transactions nor
continuing connected transactions under the definition of Chapter
14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s
listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 March 2023.
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EEERE

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lu Zhiming

Mr. Gao Zhiping

Mr. Jiang Tao

Mr. Duan Jingquan

Mr. Wang Gang

Mr. Fung Tsun Pong (resigned on 2 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Jing Baoli

Mr. Bao Liang Ming

Mr. Xue Baozhong

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 15 October 2024)

Ms. Xu Hui (appointed on 5 December 2022 &
resigned on 15 October 2024)

Ms. Chan Chu Hoi (resigned on 1 December 2022)

In accordance with Article 117 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and,
being eligible, may offer themselves for re-election. In addition,
Article 100 of the Articles of Association provides that any Director
appointed by the board of Directors shall hold office only until the
following general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible for
re-election at that meeting. Accordingly, Messrs Lu Zhiming, Wang
Gang, Xue Baozhong and Ms. Huang Chunlian shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, shall offer
themselves for re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Director (“INED”) as regards to their
independence to the Company and considered that each of them is
independent to the Company.

EE

RAMBEREARERFHRAY  ARARESNOT:

BITES:

PE AL A&

EEEE

BEREE

T Ml

&S S 4 (R2023F3 A2 BE E)

BYFHTES

FEMEE

BRBEE

BEEREASLA

BEEBE LT (P2024F10815B EZT)

B L (R2022F12 ABERZ TR
720244108158 B {E)

BRERE 20t (FA2022F12 A1 H BHE)

REARRZERBRUENTR EEAHER
I EREFEEREEED - S REBEARA
ZERRMAIEI000%  FANEEESREZESEH
BEBREARATRERAGARL IRKEER
RzRE LEEEE - Bl EERAEE - THIE
E EBEAEEREEERLIHAREERRE
FAGLEE HERETAERLMEERET -

B R

ARREEESBUFATES((BLFUTE
BEDREBUIMRAARREL 2 FERAL X
BREESBBINARF

34 China Resources and Transportation Group Limited Annual Report 2023



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors up to the date of this annual
report are set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lu Zhiming, aged 49, has been appointed as an executive
Director and co-Chairman of the Company with effect from 6
December 2021. Mr. Lu is a graduate from Ningbo Polytechnic
majoring in electricity and electronics. Mr. Lu has diversified
management experience in the fields of petrochemical and electronic
business in China. For the period from July 2002 to July 2004, he
was an executive director of a Hong Kong listed company Yanchang
Petroleum International Limited (previously also known as Minglun
Group (Hong Kong) Limited) (stock code: 346). Mr. Lu was the vice
general manager of LED International (Hong Kong) Company Limited
from November 2006 to December 2009 and Shen Zhen Shi Ai Ying
Zhuo Er Technology Company Limited from January 2010 to April
2011. From May 2011 to May 2017, Mr. Lu was the president of
Guang Dong Jian Long Optoelectronic Company Limited. During
January 2018 to December 2021, he was the chief executive officer
of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on
The Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
8147) (“MPGHL").

Mr. Gao Zhiping, aged 62, has been appointed as an executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company since 17
June 2013 and 13 December 2019, and also appointed as a co-
chairman of the Company, an Authorised Representative, the
chairman of nomination committee and a member of remuneration
committee with effect from 2 March 2023. Mr. Gao graduated from
China Europe International Business School (71 & B8 BR T 75 £ 7 )
with a Master of Business Administration in November 2004 and was
accredited as a senior economist by the Technology Committee of
Henan Province (G F & L% ) in December 1998 and by the State
Grid Corporation of China(BIZRE# A 7])in December 2005. He
has received the awards of Distinctive Young Enterprise Management
Personnel GTE A EF S F L ELEEESE)from Henan Provincial
Young Entrepreneurs Association G & FE D EXRHE)in April
1999, Distinctive Pilot Project Construction Personnel of Henan
Province (JF B & B 2518 B &% £ # T{E#) and Model Worker of
Henan Province (] B & 4 B) £ #0) from the People’s Government of
Henan Province (A @& A REF) in February 2008 and April 2009,
respectively.

From October 1980 to December 1994, he served various
departments in government, and took up various positions in local
administrative office of Nanyang Prefecture in Henan Province (]
& B E T /A%E ) and Nanyang city people’s government (F3
[5m AR as the government office clerk, secretary and chief
officer.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

From December 1994 to 2007, he was positioned as the deputy
general manager, the secretary general of disciplinary committee,
president of labour union of Nanyang Yahekou Electricity Company
Limited (M 5850 D & EH R EE A7) and the vice general
manager of Nanyang Tianyi Power Generation Co., Ltd. (F &KXz
FEAHMREMTAT), both being subsidiaries of Henan Construction
Investment Group (R & 2 1&EEE A F]). He was the deputy
general manager from September 2008 to April 2010 and the
secretary of party committee from October 2008 to March 2010 of
Nanyang Yahekou Electricity Company Limited (7 [5 85 /1 0 2% 5 A (R
EERA).

From October 2010 to February 2014, he has been appointed as the
general manager of Inner Mongolia Zhunxing Heavy Haul Expressway
Company Limited ( AEH EAEBEHSRAKBEREMFERF)
(“Zhunxing”), an indirect subsidiary of the Company. Since February
2014, he has served as the chairman of the board of directors of
Zhunxing, and has made great contribution to the management of
Zhunxing and construction of the expressway of Zhunxing.

Mr. Jiang Tao, aged 44, has been appointed as an executive
Director since 12 August 2016. Mr. Jiang graduated from the
University of International Business and Economics (¥4 &% & 5
KEZ)in the People’s Republic of China with a bachelor degree in
economics. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Jiang has over ten
years’ experience in the banking industry and was the president of a
fund management company in the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Duan Jingquan, aged 68, has been appointed as an executive
Director since 7 November 2011. He was the managing director
of the Accounting Society of China, a member of the Specialist
Advisory Committee of the China Association of Actuaries, an
adjunct professor of The Peking University HSBC Business School
and a member of the Steering and Consultation Committee for
Innovative Development of Shenzhen Insurance Industry. Mr. Duan
graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics
(formerly known as Liaoning Institute of Finance and Economics) in
1982. He served the Ministry of Finance for around 20 years and
assumed different positions, including as the chief officer of the
Commerce Bureau of the Finance Department, the deputy head
and the head of the Central Planning Office from 1982 to 1994, the
deputy head of the Supervision Department from 1994 to 1998, the
head of the Finance Supervision Department and the Supervision
and Inspection Department from 1998 to 2002. Between 2002 and
2005, he was positioned as the deputy general manager of China
Export and Credit Insurance Corporation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

From 2005 to 2009, he was appointed as the secretary of the
party committees, general manager and director of Mingsheng
Life Insurance Company Limited. In August 2009, Mr. Duan joined
Sino Life Insurance Company Limited (“Sino Life”) and served
as its general manager and director and he was then appointed
as the vice chairman of Sino Life in October 2010. From October
2011 to April 2013, he took up the role as the Chairman of the
Supervisory Committee of Sino Life. Mr. Duan was the major author
of “Introduction to Financial and Political Supervision”{ B & & £
E® ), his first treatise on finance and politic. He has been selected
by China Insurance Journal as one of the“Top Ten Persons of 2009
in the Insurance Industry”. Mr. Duan has over 20 years’ experience
in management of state agencies and enterprises. While he was
with the Ministry of Finance, he developed and implemented various
state finance management mechanisms which still exert significant
influences nowadays. During his years with commercial enterprises,
he pushed forward various reform programs, exercised assiduity at
company management and operation, thus remarkably enhanced the
performance of the enterprises.

Mr. Wang Gang, aged 53, has been appointed as an executive
Director since 12 January 2022, Mr. Wang graduated from Dongbei
University of Finance in 2014 with an executive master’s degree
in business administration. Mr. Wang has more than 20 years
investment, real estate and management experience. Mr. Wang was
the general manager of Sany (Zhuhai) Investment Co., Ltd. from
2014 to 2019. Mr. Wang is a member of the 50 expert group of
Shenzhen Real Estate.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Huang Chunlian, aged 30, has been appointed as an INED
with effect from 15 October 2024, Ms. Huang has obtained a
Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from South China Normal University
(¥ F A& A2 )in China in 2020, and obtained an Intermediate
Accounting Professional qualification in 2021. Ms. Huang has
accumulated over 7 years of experience in accounting and financial
management, and possesses expertise in customs, logistics and
related industries. Since January 2020, Ms. Huang has served as the
financial director of Shenzhen Guangyi Xiangtong Trading Company
Limited.* ORI T BB E S BRAF]). Ms Huang has served as
an independent non-executive director of Xinming China Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 2699) since August 2024, and an independent
non-executive director of Kidztech Holdings Limited (Stock code:
6918) since July 2024, both companies are listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange. From April 2024 to June 2024, Ms. Huang
was also an independent non-executive director of Momentum
Financial Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1152), a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Huang obtained
legal advice on 15 October 2024 according to the requirements of
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, and Ms. Huang has confirmed she
understood her obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Jing Baoli, aged 59, has been appointed as an INED since
28 February 2006. Mr. Jing has accumulated over 30 years of
experience in the legal field. Mr. Jing was graduated from Beijing
University Law School with a Bachelor’s degree in Laws in July 1987
and acquired a Master's degree in Laws from Lanzhou University
in December 1997. After graduation from Beijing University, he was
assigned to the High Court of Gansu Province since July 1987 and
worked in various positions till July 1997. In July 1997, Mr. Jing
joined Gansu Tianhe Law Firm as a partner and in July 1999, he
joined Beijing Shuang Cheng Law Firm as an attorney-at-laws. In
August 2007, Mr. Jing worked as an attorney in China Commercial
Law Company, Guangdong.

Mr. Bao Liang Ming, aged 69, has been appointed as an INED
since 1 February 2007. Mr. Bao has vast executive and management
experience. He has held various directorships in state owned
enterprises in Tianjin and Beijing of the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Xue Baozhong, aged 70, has been appointed as an INED since
12 August 2016. Mr. Xue graduated from Lan Zhou Commerce
School (/N 2B7) in the People’s Republic of China, majoring
in corporate management. Mr. Xue was the chairman and general
manager of Gansu Province Zhongbao Economic and Trade Co.,
Ltd. (HEEE P E&LZE R A7) and Shanghai Wanye Economic and
Trade Co., Ltd. (/8B B L EHBR L F])for the periods from 1996
to 1998 and from 1999 to 2012, respectively. During the period from
2013 to June 2016, he was the vice president of Copower Enterprise
Group Limited (R BEXEEFRAF]).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the existing Directors has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT, THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND THE
GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors’ emolument and of the five highest paid
employees in the Group are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report. The Group ensures that pay
scales of its employees are rewarded on performance-related basis
within the general framework of the Group’s remuneration strategy.
The Directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company with
reference to their responsibilities to undertake the Company’s
performance and profitability, remuneration benchmark, prevailing
market conditions and recommendation of the remuneration
committee of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES, AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2023, according to
the register of interest kept by the Company under Section 336
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and so far
as was known to the Directors, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company held any interest or short positions on
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning or Part XV of the
SFO) which (i) where required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors
and chief executive were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO); or (i) which were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES, AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Long positions in issued Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company

EE2RM -HEROREERZ
BERXRE (&)

REQRRESRTROREBRO Z2HFA

As at 31 March 2023
7A2023F3H31H
Number of Approximate

Shares and/ % of total

or underlying issued Shares

Name of Directors Capacity Shares (Note)

HE#1T

IR 13 4 %

BROKR/R BHED (%)

EEpE 514 HERGEHE (FH3E)

Gao Zhiping Beneficial owner 23,634,865 0.22
=T EmEAA

Jiang Tao Beneficial owner 24,920,550 0.23
e EmEAA

Wang Gang Beneficial owner 198,535,000 1.87
T EnEAA

Note: et -

Based on 10,644,093,185 Shares of HK$0.20 each in issue as at 31 March
2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement and contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries or its
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year under review or at any time during the year.

&R 71202343 31 H & ik 7 #0.207T 2 10,644,093,185
PRE BT E -

EERRS  RERGHNZESR

EERHNFRAENEABM L BMERAT
01 PEPECET VOl e R F
BrEARS RHERANTEESIHMERES
KA o

40 China Resources and Transportation Group Limited Annual Report 2023



DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares, and Debentures”
above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Directors or their respective spouse or children under
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them, or was
the Company, its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Based on 10,644,093,185 Shares of HK$0.20 each in issue as
at 31 March 20283, according to the register of interest kept by
the Company, under section 336 of the SFO and so far as was
known to the Directors, no other person or entities had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of part XV of the SFO, or who were,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the issued voting
shares to vote in all circumstances at general meeting of any other
members of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A new share option scheme of the Company was adopted on
28 August 2014 (the “Scheme”). Directors of the Company are
authorized, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group,
including directors of any company in the Group, to take up options
to subscribe for a maximum number of 135,249,419 Shares of
HK$0.20 each of the Company, which represents 10% of the issued
shares of the Company as at the date of adoption after taking
into account the effect of share consolidation implemented on 5
November 2015 and the completion of rights issue on 9 December
2015. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the Company
with a flexible means of giving incentives and rewards to eligible
participants to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value
of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole. The Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years ended on 27 August 2024, unless otherwise
terminated or amended.

The subscription price in respect of each share issued pursuant
to the exercise of options granted is at least the highest of (a) the
nominal value of a share, (b) the closing price of the shares on Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, and (c) the average closing price
of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

After accounting for the implementation of share consolidation on 5
November 2015 and the completion of rights issue on 9 December
2015, the maximum number of securities of the Company available
for issue under the Scheme as at 31 March 2023 was 27,036,469
Shares which represented 0.25% of the ordinary shares of the
Company in issue at 31 March 2023. The total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the Company’s total ordinary shares in issue. At the end of the
year ended 31 March 2023 or at any time during the year ended
31 March 2023, no option was issued and outstanding under the
Scheme.

Particulars of the above share options offered are set out in Note 31
to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

EMPLOYEES AND RETIREMENT BENEFIT
SCHEMES

The Group had approximately 387 employees in Hong Kong and
the PRC as at 31 March 20283. The Group implements remuneration
policy, bonus and share options scheme to ensure that pay scales of
its employees are rewarded on performance-related basis within the
general framework of the Group’s remuneration policy.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC participate
in defined contribution schemes operated by the local government
authorities in the PRC. The Company’s subsidiaries are required to
make contributions to the schemes at a certain percentage of the
basic salaries of their PRC employees and have no further obligation
for post-retirement benefits.

The employees of the Company in Hong Kong are enrolled in
a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme in accordance with the
requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(Chapter 485) and the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes (General)
Regulation (Chapter 485A). Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employee’s basic salaries.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT OF THE LISTED SECURITIES

Based on the publicly available information to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors, up to the
date of this annual report, is aware of any information which would
indicate the Company has not maintained sufficient public float of its
Shares in the open market.

AUDITOR

Following the resignation of Jon Gepsom CPA Limited (formerly
known as McM (HK) CPA Limited) as auditor of the Company on 19
April 2024, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McMillan
Woods”) was appointed as the new auditor of the Company with
effect from 19 April 2024 to fill the casual vacancy, and to hold
office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”).

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in the auditor
of the Company during the past two years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 were audited by McMillan Woods while the
consolidated financial statements for the two preceding years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 were audited by Jon Gepsom CPA Limited
(formerly known as McM (HK) CPA Limited).

McMillan Woods will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the reappointment of McMillan Woods
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Gao Zhiping
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 11 December 2024
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRS

The Board hereby presents to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) the Corporate Governance Report of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to uphold good corporate governance
practices with emphasis on enhancing accountability and
transparency of the management of the Company to safeguard the
long-term interest of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company’s
corporate governance practices are based on the principles of good
corporate governance set out in the Corporate Governance Codes
and Corporate Governance Report in Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules (the “CG Code”).

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31 March
2023, the Company has complied with all the code provisions
prescribed in the CG Code except for the deviations from (i) code
provision C5.1 of the CG Code as detailed in the paragraphs headed
“Attendance Record of Directors”, (i) code provision C1.8 of the CG
Code as detailed in the paragraph headed “Directors and Officers
Liability Insurance” of this report, and (i) code provision C2.1 of
the CG Code as detailed in the paragraphs headed “The Roles of
Chairman and the Board” of this report.

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY

The Group’s mission is to render premium customer service by
adoption of flexible business model, strategy and prudential risk and
capital management framework.

By recognising the importance of stakeholders at the Board level
and throughout the Group, the Company strives to create values
to the stakeholders through sustainable growth and continuous
development as follows:

° Reliable, consistent and transparent communication with
investors and stakeholders.

° Building a health company culture.

° Flexible, diverse, inclusive and open culture to attract and
retain talent.
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To achieve the Company’s goals, the Board and the management
have played and will continue to play an active role in the Group’s
development of business model to strength the culture of the
Group in serving customers well with high quality service; the
communication with investors and stakeholders; the Group’s
business strategic drive for business expansion; the determination
of the Group’s risk appetite and tolerance levels; and the Group’s
setting of strategic goals, priorities and initiatives undertaken to
motivate staff to achieve business and financial targets.

The Group will continuously review and adjust, if necessary,
its business strategies and keep track of the changing market
conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken
to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to foster the
sustainability of the Group.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for setting strategic objectives with appropriate focus
on value creation and risk management, leading, directing, and
supervising the Company’s affairs to enable long term success of
the Company and enhancing return for Shareholders by seizing
opportunities and overcoming market challenge. Directors, as
members of the Board, collectively share responsibility for the proper
direction and management of the Group in the best interest of the
Shareholders.

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprised five executive Directors
and four INEDs. INEDs represent more than 1/3 of the Board. The
names and brief biographies of the Directors up to the date of this
annual report are set out on pages 34 to 38 of this report. A list
setting out the names of the Directors and their roles and functions
is updated on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
from time to time.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The Board’s composition under major diversified perspectives as at
31 March 2023 is summarized as follows:
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) Nor-execulive
% Director
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Gender Designation Ethnicity
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Each new Director appointed by the Board during the year shall
hold office until the next following general meeting and thereafter
the same Director, if re-elected, shall be subject to retirement
by rotation. There exists no relationship among Board members,
including financial, operational, family or other relevant material
relations.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Roles of the Chairman and the Board

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company have been delegated to the chief executive officer (‘CEO”)
Mr. Gao Zhiping (“Mr. Gao”) since 13 December 2019. Mr. Gao has
been appointed as the Co-Chairman of the Board since 2 March
2023. Mr. Gao and Mr. Lu Zhiming (“Mr. Lu”), the Co-Chairman of
the Board (“Co-Chairmen”) are responsible for providing leadership
and governance of the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the
best interests of the Group and discusses all key and appropriate
issues in a timely manner. The Board noted that the Company is
expected under the CG Code to keep the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer separated and performed by different
individual to ensure a balance of power and authority. However,
the Company has chosen to deviate from the CG code in view of
the size of the business operation of the Group and the cost and
difficulty of employing a person with suitable caliber for the post of
CEO. The Board understands the importance of complying with the
code provision C2.1 of the CG Code and will continue to consider
the feasibility of compliance. If compliance is determined, appropriate
person will be nominated to take up the different roles of chairman
and chief executive officer.

The Board is responsible for formulating the long term strategy and
development plans, deciding major financial and capital projects,
and reviewing internal control and risks of the Group. Matters
reserved for the Board are those affecting the Group’s overall
strategic direction, management, finance, corporate governance, and
shareholders rights. These include, but not limited to, deliberation
of investment plans, staff management, annual budgets, financing
arrangements, internal controls, risk management, material
contracts, dividend policy, financial statements, environmental policy,
corporate governance practices and other major corporate activities.
Clear directions have been given to the management on the matters
that must be approved by the Board and the Board reviews the
arrangement periodically.

The Board regularly reviews its composition and structure to ensure
its expertise and independence align with the requirements of the
Group’s business. With the support of the Company’s secretarial
staffs, the Board ensures that all Board members receive sufficient,
complete and reliable information and are properly briefed on issues
to be discussed at Board meetings by dispatching materials to the
Directors in advance, such that the Directors could work effectively
and discharge their responsibility.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
The Roles of the Chairman and the Board (Continued)

The Board performed the following functions during regular Board
meetings:

- reviewed the Group’s overall development direction;

- reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

- reviewed and monitored the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with the CG Code, legal and regulatory
requirements;

- reviewed and monitored the Group’s policies on risk
management and internal control;

- reviewed the Group’s environmental protection measures and
approved the Group’s environmental, social and governance
report;

- reviewed the need for the Group to set up an internal audit
function; and

reviewed the code of conduct for employees and Directors.

All Directors are provided upon reasonable request made to the
Board with means, at the Company’s expense, to take independent
professional advice in furtherance of their duties if necessary.

The Company also engages external service provider as its company
secretary to assist the Board and the primary contact person of the
Company is its Director, Mr. Gao.

The Roles of the Chief Executive Officer and its
Management Team

The CEO, Mr. Gao is primarily responsible for overseeing the day-
to-day management, administration and operations of the Group
and the implementation of policies decided by the Board during the
year under review. The functions and tasks delegated to the CEO
are supervised and periodically reviewed by the Board to ensure
efficiency of management.

The management, under the leadership of the CEQ, is responsible
for implementing the strategies and policies established by the
Board; and reporting on the Group’s operations to the Board with
timely information to ensure effective discharge of the Board’s
responsibilities.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors

The INEDs are professions or executive of high caliber with
diversified industry expertise and bring a wide range of skills and
experience to the Group. They bring to the Company independent
judgment on issues of strategy, performance, key appointments,
environmental protection, risk management and internal control
through their contribution at Board meetings, thus safeguarding the
interests of Shareholders and the Company as a whole.

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of their independence and the Board considers that the
four INEDs are independent in character and judgment and they also
meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. All the INEDs are appointed for a term of two years and all
Directors are required to submit themselves for re-election at least
once every three years under the Company’s Articles of Association.

In addition, Mr. Gao is a member of the Remuneration Committee
and the chairman of Nomination Committee respectively. As such,
Mr. Gao is well positioned to meet with the INEDs regularly without
the executive Directors present to encourage active discussion and
effective contribution of the INEDs.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Attendance Record of Directors

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings and
general meeting of the Company held during the financial year ended
31 March 20283 is set forth below:

EEg (A
EE

REZE2023F3AIALMBFE  SEERES
SEZNARNRABRRAE ZHELCEIHINNOT :

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE &REA
Annual
General
Board Meeting
Meeting (Note)
BRRBEFAE
Name of Directors BEEHR =hf (H:)
Executive Directors $}Lﬁ§$
Fung Tsun Pong (resigned on 2 March 2023) &1 (FR2023F3 A2H B {E) 9/9 1/1
Lu Zhiming :l:/L,\ it 9/9 1/1
Gao Zhiping S 9/9 1/1
Jiang Tao =& 9/9 1/1
Duan Jingquan R SR 9/9 1/1
Wang Gang T 9/9 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BIUEHTES
Jing Baoli HER 9/9 1/1
Bao Liang Ming R A 9/9 1/1
Xue Baozhong e 9/9 1/1
Chan Chu Hoi (resigned on 1 December 2022)  FRIKE (7A2022F12 A1 HBHT) 4/9 1/1
Xu Hui (appointed on 5 December 2022 and FFE (R2022F 12 A5 HEZR
resigned on 15 October 2024) WH2024F 105158 BHE) 3/9 0/1
Huang Chunlian 5 (R2024F10H15H
(appointed on 15 October 2024) EZEF) 0/9 0/1

Note:

The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 20 September
2022.

The procedures for convening all Board meetings were in
compliance with the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association. Amongst the Board meetings held during the financial
year, two were regular Board meetings with written notice of the
meeting dispatched to all Directors at least fourteen days before the
meeting and an agenda with all supporting documents at least three
days in advance of the meeting. The regular Board meetings have
achieved active participation of the Directors. The Directors note
that the code provision C5.1 of the CG Code requires the Board to
hold at least four regular meetings a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. However, in view of the fact that two regular meetings were
convened during the year and ad hoc matters were effectively dealt
with by way of written resolutions, the Directors considered holding
four regular meetings at quarterly intervals to be unnecessary.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Attendance Record of Directors (Continued)

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company’s secretarial team and all applicable rules and regulations
in respect of the Board meetings are followed. Drafts with sufficient
details and final versions of the minutes of Board and the various
committees were circulated to the Directors for their comment
and record respectively. Originals of such minutes, being kept by
the Company Secretary, are open for inspection at office hours on
reasonable notice by any Director.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Upon appointment, every newly appointed Director has been given
a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction including the duties
and responsibilities of being a Director under the Listing Rules, the
relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of
disclosure of interest and the business and governance policies of
the Group.

The Company has provided training materials to all Directors
covering updates on the Listing Rules, the relevant laws and
regulations. The Company has received confirmation from all
Directors upon the completion of their training.

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Directors note that the code provision C1.8 of the CG Code
stipulates that an issuer should arrange appropriate insurance
cover in respect of legal action against its directors. However,
the Company was unable to obtain a favorable quotation on the
directors and officers (“D&0O”) liability insurance policy from insurers
in light of the financial condition of the Company. The Board will
consider the terms and conditions of any new D&O liability insurance
cover that are offered by the insurers from time to time.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the following committees: the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, with the participation of all the INEDs. The written terms
of reference of the Board committees, which have been reviewed
from time to time by the Board to keep them in line with the most
up-to-date requirements, are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee was revised on 28
November 2011, 30 June 2016 and 28 June 2019 to bring them in
line with the CG Code. The Audit Committee is accountable to the
Board and consists of all the INEDs namely Mr. Jing Baoli, Mr. Bao
Liang Ming, Mr. Xue Baozhong, Ms. Huang Chunlian (the Chairlady)
(appointed on 15 October 2024), Ms. Xu Hui (the Chairlady)
(appointed on 5 December 2022 and resigned on 15 October 2024)
and Ms. Chan Chu Hoi (the Chairlady) (resigned on 1 December
2022).

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are set out
below:

- oversee the Company’s relationship with the external auditors
including (but not limited to) making recommendations to the
Board on their appointment, re-appointment and removal, the
approval of their remuneration and their terms of engagement,
and assessing their independence and objectivity;

- review the Group’s financial reports and accounts, and provide
assurance to the Board that the reviewed documents comply
with the respective accounting policies, the standards and
practices, the Listing Rules and legal requirements; and

- maintain oversight of the Group’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the financial year, the
attendances of which were as follows: Ms. Huang Chunlian (the
Chairlady) (0/3) (appointed on 15 October 2024), Ms. Xu Hui (the
Chairlady) (1/3) (appointed on 5 December 2022 and resigned on
15 October 2024), Mr. Jing Baoli (3/3), Mr. Bao Liang Ming (3/3),
Mr. Xue Baozhong (3/3) and Ms. Chan Chu Hoi (the Chairlady) (2/3)
(resigned on 1 December 2022).

The scope of the work performed by the Audit Committee for the
financial year ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

- recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors;

- reviewed and approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors on audit and non-audit
services, reviewed their independence and the effectiveness
of the audit process and recommended appropriate actions
required;

- reviewed with the external auditors the financial and accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Group, the accuracy and
fairness of the annual and interim financial statements before
submission to the Board;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)
- reviewed the external audit findings and audit plan; and

- reviewed the effectiveness of the financial control, internal
control and risk management functions of the Group.

The Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2023 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Special attention of the Audit Committee was drawn to Note 3(c) to
the consolidated financial statements that the Group suffered a loss
of approximately HK$1,510.78 million during the year, and as at 31
March 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$21,543.10 million and net liabilities of approximately
HK$15,270.54 million. As at 31 March 2023, the Group was due
to repay all outstanding non-convertible bond and outstanding
borrowings together with the accrued default interests which are
immediately repayable totaling approximately HK$20,177.88 million.
These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and therefore, the Group may not be able to
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business. The management’s discussions in relation to the Group’s
going concern and the Audit Qualification are set out on pages 15 to
16 and 24 to 25 of this annual report.

Audit Committee’s view on the Audit Qualification

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the views and
concerns of the Auditor with respect to the Audit Qualification on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023. The Audit Committee noted that the Board
has undertaken or in the progress of implementing the Measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity position. As at the date of this annual
report, the Board is not aware of any indication that any of the
Measures cannot be completed. With reference to the Cash Flow
Forecast which is prepared upon the assumption that the Measures
will be successfully implemented, the Board is of the view that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the next twelve months
from the Approval Date. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the
management’s position and is of the view that the Board should
continue its efforts in implementing necessary measures for
enhancing the Group’s liquidity position and removing the Audit
Qualification in the next financial year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee was revised
on 28 November 2011 and 2 December 2022 to bring them in line
with the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises all the
INEDs, Mr. Gao (appointed on 2 March 2023) and Mr. Fung Tsun
Pong (resigned on 2 March 2023), i.e. a majority of the members are
INEDs.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management, assess
performance of executive directors and approve the terms of their
service contracts, review and determine management’s remuneration
proposals, and to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is
involved in determining his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings during this financial
year, the attendance of which is as follows: Mr. Jing Baoli (the
Chairman) (2/2), Mr. Bao Liang Ming (2/2), Mr. Xue Baozhong (2/2),
Ms. Huang Chunlian (0/2) (appointed on 15 October 2024), Ms.
Xu Hui (0/2) (appointed on 5 December 2022 and resigned on 15
October 2024), Mr. Gao Zhiping (0/2) (appointed on 2 March 2023),
Mr. Fung Tsun Pong (2/2) (resigned on 2 March 2023) and Ms. Chan
Chu Hoi (1/2) (resigned on 1 December 2022).

During the year, the Remuneration Committee was responsible
for, among others, making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management,
assessing their performance and reviewing individual remuneration
package including bonuses, incentive payments and share options
within the terms of reference.

In order to be able to attract and retain staff of suitable calibre,
the Company provides a competitive remuneration package. This
comprises salary, provident fund, share options, leave passage
and discretionary bonus. The remuneration policy has contributed
considerably to the maintenance of a stable, motivated and high-
calibre management team in the Company.

No Director has taken part in any discussion about his own
remuneration. The remuneration of INEDs is determined by the
Board in consideration of their responsibility involved.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was revised
on 29 November 2013 to bring them in line with the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee is chaired by the Co-Chairman of the Board,
Mr. Gao Zhiping (appointed on 2 March 2023) and Mr. Fung Tsun
Pong (resigned on 2 March 2023), with all the INEDs as members,
i.e. a majority of the members are INEDs.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to determine
the policy for the nomination of new Directors, conduct interviews
with qualified candidates, make recommendations to the Board
on appointment of new Directors and advise the Board on the
independency of INEDs.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during this financial
year, the attendance of which is as follows: Mr. Gao (the Chairman)
(0/2) (appointed on 2 March 2023), Mr. Jing Baoli (2/2), Mr. Bao
Liang Ming (2/2), Mr. Xue Baozhong (2/2), Ms. Huang Chunlian (0/2)
(appointed on 15 October 2024), Ms. Xu Hui (0/2) (appointed on 5
December 2022 and resigned on 15 October 2024), Mr. Fung Tsun
Pong (2/2) (resigned on 2 March 2023) and Ms. Chan Chu Hoi (1/2)
(resigned on 1 December 2022).

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee for
the financial year ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

- reviewed the size, composition and diversity policy of the
Board;

- advised on the re-appointment of Directors;

- assessed the independence of INEDs, and

- ensured that all nominations were fair and transparent.
Nomination Policy

The nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”)
sets out the key selection criteria and procedure for the appointment
of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any
existing member of the Board.

Key selection criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors when
assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

(i) character and integrity;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)
Key selection criteria (Continued)

(i) diversity perspectives, including but not limited to educational
background, industry expertise, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and relevant experience or accomplishment
appropriate to the nature of the Company’s business;

(i) commitment in respect of available time, interest and attention
to the Company’s business;

(iv)  compliance with the criteria of independence under Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, where the candidate is proposed to be
appointed as an INED, and

(v)  any relevant factors deemed appropriate by the Nomination
Committee from time to time.

Nomination procedures

The procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director is
summarized as below:

- The Nomination Committee shall invite nominations of suitable
candidate(s) by any member of the Nomination Committee or
the Board, for consideration by the Nomination Committee.

- For the appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board,
the Nomination Committee shall evaluate the proposed
candidate(s) based on the selection criteria of this policy and
undertake adequate due diligence in respect of such proposed
candidate(s), and make recommendation for the Board’s
consideration and approval.

- For the re-appointment of retiring Directors, the Nomination
Committee shall review the Director’s overall contribution
and performance and consider the selection criteria of this
policy, and make recommendation to the Board and/or the
Shareholders for their consideration in connection with the re-
election of retiring Directors at general meetings.

- The Board will convene a meeting to consider the appointment
or re-appointment of the proposed candidates as a director.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Nomination Policy and
assess its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a Board
that possesses a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the business nature of the Company.
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy since November
2013. Selection of candidates of board members will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
educational background, professional experience, industry expertise,
knowledge and skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
as well as complementing and expanding the skills, knowledge
and experience of the Board as a whole. The Board will review and
monitor from time to time the implementation of this policy to ensure
its effectiveness and will set measurable objectives for achieving
board diversity when appropriate.

The Nomination Committee is of the view that the educational
background, expertise and experience of the current Board members
are well diversified to serve the requirements of the Company’s
business and safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for overseeing the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on an
ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. The management
has been delegated the responsibility of identifying and evaluating
the risks faced by the Group and of designing, operating and
monitoring an effective internal control system on material issues
covering financial, operational, and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Group’s system of risk management and internal control
includes a defined management structure with limits of authority, and
is designed to safeguard the Group’s assets against unauthorised
use or misappropriation, to ensure the maintenance of proper
accounts, and to ensure compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The systems are designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, and
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group’s business objectives.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

The Company has a risk management process in place to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks and to resolve material
internal control defects, if any. Risks are compiled and rated, and
mitigation plans are proposed and documented in a risk template
by the responsible managers of the Company and its subsidiaries.
The risk assessment is reviewed and evaluated by the management
of the Company. The identified risks are managed by the Company
through (i) implementing controls that eliminate the risk entirely, (ii)
implementing mitigation plans to reduce the severity of the risk to
an acceptable level, or (iii) taking no action if the risk is acceptable
for the Company (as the case may be). The risk assessments are
presented to the Audit Committee and the Board for their review
semi-annually.

During this financial year, the Board have conducted two reviews
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, and considered such systems are effective
and adequate to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

The Company does not have an internal audit function for the year
ended 31 March 2023. The Board has discussed and reviewed the
need for an internal audit function and is of the view that in light of
the Group’s current internal resources and the costs of setting up an
in-house internal audit team or engaging an external service provider,
the Board considers that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function or engaging an external service provider as the
existing supervision of the management could provide adequate risk
management and internal control for the Group. However, the Board
will regularly review the need to set up an internal audit function or
engage an external service provider to review the Group’s internal
control and risk management system.

The Company has a policy on the principles and procedures for
handling and disseminating the Company’s inside information in
compliance with the inside information provisions under Part XIVA of
the SFO (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) and the Listing Rules.
The Company’s company secretarial department works closely with
the management, Directors and/or external professional advisors
in identifying potential inside information and assess the materiality
thereof, and where appropriate, to escalate such information to the
Board for further actions complying with the applicable laws and
regulations.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

The Company has applied reasonable measures from time to time
to ensure all inside information is kept strictly confidential before it is
fully disseminated to the general public:

- strictly prohibit unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information;

- restrict access to inside information to designated employees
within the Group;

- designate specific employees as the major representatives to
respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs; and

- ensure appropriate confidential agreements in place before
entering into any significant discussion with third parties.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the
securities transactions by directors (the “Securities Code”) on terms
not less than the required standard set out in the Model Code in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Securities Code has
been sent to each Director first on his appointment and thereafter
reminders were sent to the Directors twice annually, with a notice
that the Directors cannot deal in the securities and derivatives of the
Company until the results announcement has been published. The
Company has made specific enquiries on Directors’ dealings in the
securities of the Company and all Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Securities
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.

Under the Securities Code, Directors are required to notify the
Chairman and receive a dated written acknowledgement before
dealing in any securities of the Company and, in the case of the
Chairman himself, he must notify the Board at a Board meeting or
alternatively, another executive Director and receive a dated written
acknowledgement before any dealing. Directors’ interests as at
31 March 2023 in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) are set out
on pages 39 to 40 of this annual report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external auditor is primarily responsible for auditing and reporting
on the annual financial statements. Nevertheless, the Directors
acknowledged that they have the primary duties on preparing the
accounts of the Company. Approximately HK$1.10 million and
HKS$NIl in relation to the audit service and non-audit related services
respectively provided by the Company’s external auditor, were
charged to the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2023.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company continues to enhance relationships and
communication with its investors and Shareholders. Corporate
communications providing extensive information about the
Company’s performance and activities are published on the
website of the Company in a timely manner. Information on financial
statements, transactions or activities of the Company which are
required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules are also published
on the website of the Stock Exchange and if necessary, delivered to
Shareholders.

Amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association

No change on the constitution documents has been made by the
Company during the financial year.

In order to comply with the latest requirements under the Listing
Rules, the Board proposed to put forward relevant resolution(s) for
approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting for approving the proposed amendments to the existing
memorandum and articles of association of the Company and for
adoption of the new memorandum and articles of association of
the Company. Details of the proposed amendments to the existing
memorandum and articles of association of the Company and the
adoption of the new memorandum and articles of association of
the Company will be disclosed in the circular of the Company to be
despatched to the Shareholders in due course.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

In order to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders, all
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the general meetings of the
Company to discuss matters relating to the Company. Shareholders
may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to its principal place of business in Hong Kong by
post or email. The details of contact are as follows:

Company Secretarial Department of China Resources and
Transportation Group Limited

Address:  22/F, On Hong Commercial Building,
145 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
Email: info@crtg.com.hk

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Shareholders may request an extraordinary general meeting to
be convened in accordance with Article 73 of the Memorandum
and Articles of Association of the Company, which provides that
members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-twentieth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be convened by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionists themselves may convene the general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Directors
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company. The procedure for
shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting is also
posted on the official website of the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals
at shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law. However, Shareholders who wish to propose a
resolution may request to convene an extraordinary general meeting
following the procedures set out above.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE #HEBREARKSE

ABOUT THE REPORT

Introduction

China Resources and Transportation Group Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) presents this
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”), which
lives up to its corporate social responsibility (“CSR”), puts efforts in
sustainable development, monitors the economic, environmental and
social impacts of its business operations, and establishes positive
relationships with all stakeholders to jointly build a sustainable future.

The ESG Governance Structure and Strategy

The Group has established the ESG taskforce (the “Taskforce”).
The Taskforce comprises core members from the Group’s different
departments and is responsible for collecting relevant information
on its ESG aspects for preparing the ESG Report. The Taskforce
reports to the board of directors (the “Board”), assists in identifying
and evaluating the Group’s ESG risks and the effectiveness of the
internal control mechanisms. The Taskforce also examines and
evaluates its performances in different aspects such as environment,
health and safety, labour standards and product responsibilities
in the ESG aspects. The Board sets up a general direction for the
Group’s ESG strategies, ensuring the effectiveness on the control of
ESG risks and internal control mechanisms.

Reporting Framework

The Report has been prepared in compliance with all applicable
provisions set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) contained in
Appendix C2 to the Main Board Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

For the Group’s corporate governance practices and more
information, please refer to the Group’s 2023 Annual Report. If there
is any conflict or inconsistency, the English version shall prevail. If
there is any inconsistency or discrepancy between this Report and
the Annual Report of the Group, the Annual Report shall prevail.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (Continued)
Reporting Period

The Report elaborates on the Group’s ESG events, challenges and
measures during the year from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (the
“Reporting Period”).

Reporting Scope

The scope of the report covers the Group’s operating units and main
operating activities in Shenzhen, Hong Kong and Inner Mongolia.
As a major service provider in expressway operations, the Group
has a continuous mission to protect the environment and social
interests. The Group has developed action plans in the fields of
environmental management, labour practices, product and service
quality, corporate integrity and community engagement to carry out
the objectives of CSR.

The Report follows the ESG Reporting Guide with a complete index
in compliance is available at the end of this Report for reference.
Except for provisions that the Group considers are inapplicable to its
operations, for which explanations have been given on the rightmost
column in the said index, this Report has complied with all the
“comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.
This year’s Report is further enhanced, with a wider range of KPIs.
In line with these standards, key stakeholders, including operation
departments, management and independent third parties, were
engaged in the material assessment and identification of the relevant
and important environmental, social and governance policies, for
incorporation in the Report.
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RE #HEBREARKSE

ABOUT THE REPORT (Continued)

Stakeholder Engagement

In order to identify the Group’s material ESG issues for the Group’s
ESG reports, the management and employees, who have in-depth
knowledge on the Group’s operations and maintain close relationship
with customers and suppliers, were involved in discussion sessions
to collect views and review areas of attention which will help
the Group to be prepared for future challenges. Stakeholders’
communications and concerns can be summarized as follows:

AR A H & ()
B &S

RRAEERE HEREARABESHINAEEN
EARE HEREARAEE AKERATHA
SELEYREFPAARAESEZHENER
EREEBETHR AUREERALERTEMIT
BB - S A B AN SR B S R R BB o A
shEBRBIARBEIAIHALT :

Major Stakeholders Communication Channel Major Concern
FTERFOE BHBRE FTEBTEHE
Employees Regular performance appraisals Employment and labour practices
== FEHTERRNE RERSIER

Intranet Development and training

NEINEBE B A BxEREza

Internal trainings Health and safety

ML FI BRE REI

Investors/Shareholders Annual general meeting Corporate governance
wEE/BE FERRAE REER

Annual reports and interim reports,
announcements and circulars

Risk management

FEREPHRE - DERBEK [ Bz & 72
Investor meetings Compliance with regulatory requirements
HEEEGHE BFER
Customers Customer feedback (hotlines, website Quality assurance and expressway
etc.) maintenance
e ZRERBERE(EG %) AR 745 B B = RN B A
Routine inspection Latest traffic news and problem solving
BHRUE A
Business partners/Suppliers Supplier management meetings and Compliance with regulatory requirements
RERN HER events

BERH HEBREESAREY

ESTER

Supplier on-site audit management policy Supply chain management

BEBH HERRSERERYE HEEE IR

The government and regulators Annual reports and interim reports,

BT 5 B ik i announcements and circulars
FREPERE - DERBXK
Hosting or attending meetings
B2 Nez

Associations, non-government ESG reports
institutions and media RIE g kERAWMS
MR FEIRUT S R EE Group activities
I 58 )% &
Voluntary activities

SRITH
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Compliance with regulatory requirements

BFER
Rick management
[ ez B 12

Environmental protection
RIGRE

Effective use of resources
=AEIR

Community investment
MHEARKE
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ABOUT THE REPORT (Continued)

Materiality Assessment

The opinions collected during the stakeholder engagement process
were assessed and summarized to formulate the content and
scope of the material ESG aspects as set out in the Report. The
Group's approach to the assessment is including: (1) material
ESG area identification by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG
area prioritization with stakeholder engagement; (3) validation
and determining material ESG issues through the communication
between stakeholders and management; and (4) evaluation
and endorsement by the management. Based on the results of

RE #HEBRERAKRS

AR A H & ()
BEEHTH

BABMEEERNE2EBRPHRENERER -
HERARENEARE HEREARAEEANAR
MEE - AEENFBHDEERE : (NBBITEE
EBHNERNRE HERERRE  QEBFN
ES2EMBIBERERE HERERABENER
RF  QREBHNELEETBEZRANBBEER
BRELRBEETEARE HERERFH: MK
EEENREIME FEERKEARLAEE
M EEERBINZEBNT

communication among stakeholders and the management as below:

Most critical material topics

RERRE

Important material topics

EERRHE

Employment and labour investment

EIRAs TR

Employees are recognized as valuable assets of the Group
and are foundation to the success. The Group fully protects
and respects employees’ rights and commits to create a
favorable workplace for employees.
RERREREEENEREE  EAEEKYHNESL - K
SEHEENREMN G TEIENRELEE YR REEE
EANE TERE

Health and Safety

femmL

Occupational safety is a key concern to the Group’s business
operations and it is dedicated to minimizing potential
occupational health and safety risks in its operations.
BEZ2REBECENHRERFAEZ WL AEEBRE
HEEPHMELBERRELS -

Emissions

RIBHEN

The Group complies with the environmental laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC to monitor the level
of air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into waters and lands and wastes arising from the business
operations.

REBEFTEBNFENRBEELER  UEREIRIENR
MOBREREHN  MAKRTHESRREXEBEENEREY
HEE -

Development and Training

R LE

Career development and training programs are provided
to employees to maintain the standards of employees and
sustainable development of the Group.

AEEREERHBEZRIBIRE  BLEFEED
IKERAEBAAIFEER

Supply Chain Management

HEREIE

The Group establishes long-term and stable business
relations with its suppliers and maintains collaboration with
them to manage the ESG risks of the supply chain.
EfmAEBENEFPRE{EESERRKER RGN
HEBRAREWHEE -

Use of Resources

BIREH

The main types of energy essential to the business
operations include electricity, coal, natural gas and fuel.
The Group strengthens its energy management.

EBLEMFENIZRREN  BEEN KR - RAR
AR - REB RN EREIZ T EA TAE -
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RE HERERHES
ABOUT THE REPORT (Continued)

Materiality Assessment (Continued)

Most critical material topics

REAEHRE

AR A H & ()
BT ()

Important material topics
EERE

Environment and Natural Resources

RERRARER

Paper usage during operations is identified as one activity
that has significant environmental impact. The Group actively
carried out the sustainable development of the environment.
EENENRRENARERNBER - BYRREEARTE
WEBREREY AEBEBEBEDRRHAIFERRESD -

Climate Change

TARE

Recognizing the direct and indirect effects of climate change
on the Group’s business operations, the Group has planned
and developed resilience strategies to improve the Group'‘s
climate-risk management capabilities.

AEERFINREZCHEBLENERRBAETZE  IF
BB S EERIERBA RS ANEENR AR EIEET -

Anti-corruption

k&5

The Group is committed to ensure that the business
processes are in compliance with major local and the nation‘s
laws and regulations relating to the prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
REBHOEREHBREETH LHE =R
BEBONEER I RBEIZOERRER °

BRFRL R

Feedback for the Report

The Group values stakeholders’ feedback on the Report. Your
comments will help the Group achieve the vision of a sustainable
future. The Group invites you to share your comments through the

following channels:

Principal Place of Business

22/F, On Hong Commercial Building,
145 Hennessy Road,

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Website

http://www.crtg.com.hk

Email

info@crtg.com.hk

66

Product Responsibility

EDD E‘VE

The ability to consistently deliver high-quality expressway
management services to the Group‘s customers is crucial
for the business growth.
AEBREFEFEL T REBENEBHAER  LHRKSF
HERAE BUEEHREEMNIRE HERERRR -

Labour Standards

& T 8|

The Group is fully aware and prohibits that exploitation of
child and human rights of labour.

AEBEFED TR IEFHIREMSE T A -

Community

HREE

Committed to be a supportive member of the community,
the Group encourages the employees to make positive
contribution to the sustainable development in the local
communities.

BMORKASHEHEN—8 RAEEZERE AZHWIHME
WA EERELEGREMR -

R EEE

AEEERFHEBARARENER - BTHE

REPAKEERAFEZFRNRLER - A%
BigE MTEBATHIARSZ MTHER:
EREHRMH

BB

BT ERTE1455

RRE R AE2218

ALk

http://www.crtg.com.hk
REEMB

info@crtg.com.hk

China Resources and Transportation Group Limited Annual Report 2023



AA

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENT

Emission Control

Climate change is one of the most pressing global challenges.
Under the global trend of advocating green and low-carbon
development to mitigate climate change, the Group believes
that environmental protection is of great importance to the
sustainable business development of the Group. During the
Reporting Period, the Group’s major types of emission were
mainly petrol, diesel, electricity, coal, natural gas, general
waste and business air travel, which inevitably release
nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,), particulate
matter (PM) and carbon dioxide (CO,) into the air. As such,
the Group considers environmental factors from various
aspects in making operational decisions. From planning and
procurement to operation, the Group combines the efforts of
various departments, organizations and business partners to
implement a series of measures for reducing environmental
impacts, including curbing exhaust gas and greenhouse gas
(*GHG”) emissions and discharges of pollutants into waters
and land, and reducing the generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste, transforming the environmental protection
policy into actions.

Exhaust gas and GHG emissions

The exhaust gas generated by the Group mainly comes
from vehicles of the road administration department and
the maintenance department at the operating unit in Inner
Mongolia. The fuel consumes cause air pollutants to be
emitted. The treatment methods and emission reduction
measures are as follows:

- Optimize operating procedures for increasing the loading
rate of vehicles and lowering the idle rate;

- Turn off the engine when the vehicle is not in use;

- Select compliant vehicles in accordance with national
emission policy regulations;

- Conduct regular maintenance and repair of vehicles to
effectively reduce fuel consumption, which further reduce

carbon emissions and exhaust gas emissions;

- Select unleaded gasoline with low sulphur content as
fuel; and

- Prevent engine idling of vehicles.

}%

A.A

TEERRBEEARAE —T_=—FERE

BRCHERERBE

BRIR
BRESEE

RIRECTHER —AKETOZIRLE -
2GR R E RERE R AT ERK
BEMRBET ARERSRERELH K
SEXEBNARKERRIFFERE - RBEY
Fl NREBETEHRERN R UH - Rl B
HBRmk - RAR - —REDNEBEEIK
EARAE R ERALCY WALy BF
RF R R EZRT - Bt A%
BaEZERKBARZPREZTHEBRER
= AFEARRBEREE SRS B
I REBBHEOSE S KB —RIEDERE
FENER BRENERIAERE OR
ERE) P AR R BES - A ROR
LEERBEBRYNEL  BERHRER
BHEETTE -

BERNBEREHER
AEEELNBRIBZREARAKLEEN

BIEAMEERMOER - RARHEHER
TERMPER - BRIBTTARORBERE BT

—  BEERF AR NEHREHE LA
LPHEE

- RUFEREWEMMASIE:

- REBRFXERBELAOIEAGRER:

- ETEENTHREREE UAX
WA BRELERE - — TR D BB R R
BERBEDN

- BEEMISENENTHES/NE
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RE #HEBREARKSE

A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
A.1 Emission Control (Continued)
Exhaust gas and GHG emissions (Continued)

Table A1.1 — Annual exhaust gas emissions

A. BIE (&)
Al BRI HIEE (H)
BRABEREEK(E)

KA —BERFHREBIE

Unit (in kg)
Type of emissions ZEHERY BN (AF)
NO, AEY 279.95
SO, mEty 2.47
PM BN T 24.24

68

The Group adopts the following emission control and
management methods for the operational offices:

- Strengthen waste reduction and clean recycling;
- Discourage the use of disposable plastic products;
- Improve indoor air quality;

- Turn off equipment, machinery, and electronic devices
after office hours; and

- Organize trainings to enhance employees’ environmental
awareness.

In daily operations, the employees and visitors are encouraged
to share reusable utensils at the office pantries to minimize
the use of disposable plastic cutleries and products. Smoke-
free workplaces with indoor plants and regularly maintained
air purifiers are set up to improve indoor air quality. The Group
adopts teleconferences or video conferences to avoid holding
meetings requiring long-distance business trips or road travels
to cut down carbon emissions generated from transportation.

In order to achieve energy efficiency and reduce unnecessary
material usage, the Group has established relevant policies
and procedures to manage the efficient use of resources.
By adopting various energy-saving and emission reduction
measures, the Group is actively working to minimize the impact
on the environment and continue to address environmental
issues related to global warming, pollution and environmental
diversification. For details, please refer to the section headed
“Efficient Use of Resources” of Aspect A2.
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R #HERER/RKSE

ENVIRONMENT (Continued) A. RE (&)
Emission Control (Continued) Al BERYEHERE (F)
Exhaust gas and GHG emissions (Continued) BRIBRERE K (&)
Table A1.2 — Annual GHG emissions KA REREHNES
Total emissions
(in tonnes)
Indicator' B BErk & (mf)
Direct GHG emissions (Scope ) HELEREHEHR(HBE)
— petrol, diesel, coal and natural gas consumption =l El - BIRFMRXARERE 410.66
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 1I) FEAEREH K (HE2)
— electricity consumption —BNEH 1,567.69
Other indirect GHG emissions (Scope Ill) HEmMEEREREHHR(FHES)
— business air travel, ash, paper and other general waste —REEEHK K& « #K5K N
Hth— R EEY 12.69
Total GHG emissions BERBHEKREAE 1,991.04
Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue? BRERSHEBEBYERSEN 2.71
Notes: Haz -
1. Greenhouse gas emission data are presented in terms of 1. BERBEREENZR _SLLREEZEY
carbon dioxide equivalence with reference to the requirements W2 (BEETRR) tRERHAR Fﬁ&
of, including but not limited to, the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: E?Tiﬁitﬁﬁlﬁii?@?‘J?ém(/

A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard published by
the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council
the Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs published by the Stock Exchange and the

for Sustainable Development,

BEREZTE  CEGHERSZE) B
AT GRE 8B UE niiﬁ?a %\>>
RAEEHHRARTEN(0I7TE A5 4E
BERBEVORERT -

2017 Sustainability Report published by CLP Power Hong Kong

Limited.

2. During the Reporting Period, the total revenue of the Group was 2.

approximately HK$735.13 million. Other intensity data
Report are also measured using this data.

During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emission of the Group
were approximately 1,991.04 tonnes (2022: 1,417.49 tonnes),
which was increased by approximately 40.46% as compared
to the previous year. The overall GHG emissions have generally
increased due to the Group’s business activities recovery
from the COVID-19 pandemic and its increased revenue of

RBEPHE REEBHNRBKRADEBE
735 13EBIL - RE HEREARETH
HtZEEBENAECER T I EUE -

in the

fESREEIR AL EE
1,991.0408 (20224 : 1,417.49W8) - & £ F
AN %940.46% © B3 R AN & B fECOVID-19%
EREHTHNEARHEBAMEER - ﬁk‘&@
EREHFRE LB - Kt R
BEEER AR ERIE D 78.45% °

ERBFRBENOR

No
Jm =
=
K

the Group. Meanwhile, the intensity of GHG emissions have

decreased 8.45%.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued) A. RE (&)
Emission Control (Continued) Al BERYEHERE (F)
Waste Management BEYER
The Group’s solid wastes consist of ash, paper and other AREBEMEEEYEFERE  HRMEMm—
general waste. To handle the wastes arising from Hong Kong BEY - EREEDE  RYOPRAEFA
and Shenzhen offices and the Inner Mongolia operating unit, SHEBEENMEANBENME A5 E
the appointed staffs first classify the wastes by type and BAEBEBEEYSE  WEREMEE
recycle any glasses and cans. The Group also separates, group RintE - AEBENEREEREEEEY
and affix labels hazardous waste from non-hazardous ones in ZERTRAMNNRE BMEEEEEVR
different garbage bags for identification. Lastly, the Group will BEBEEVERS CEHRMN -&E& F£E
arrange the collection of hazardous waste and non-hazardous BEFEEBREYRESEYEIN o E@ A
waste. Any re-usable non-hazardous wastes are donated to BEBANEEEEYKBRE TESHE -
charitable organizations. During the Reporting Period, the RBEEE AEEEEAEEEBEDA
Group generated 223.52 tonnes (2022: 6.64 tonnes) non- 223.52[F (20224F : 6.64MF) - e AR E ¥
hazardous waste, more waste was generated compared to the BEBWER AEEELANBEYLEFSE
previous year as the Group’s business activity picked up. The Z  AEERBEER N RENEIRBERB AR
Group will continue to strive for waste reduction and recycling. 1= o
Table A1.3 — Total waste generated KA 3-BEMBELS

Unit (in tonnes)
Each waste discharge BYRES B {y (mg)
Non-hazardous waste mEREYERE
— ash, paper and other general waste —E - MR E AL — R EEY 223.52
Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue FEREEEBBWRES 0.30
Note: Haz -

During the daily operations, the business segments generated an
amount of hazardous waste that it is not large. Therefore, the data on
hazardous waste was not included in the calculation.

Sewage Discharge

Regarding the sewage discharged from the daily operation in
Inner Mongolia, the Group has been more active in monitoring
the sewage discharged than last year, strictly following the
regulatory guidelines issued by the environmental protection
authorities in the PRC, and ensuring that the sewage
discharged from the toll road facilities attained the required
standard. The Group strives to proper gathering sewage for
safe disposal into the city’s water treatment system.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued) A. RE (&)
Emission Control (Continued) Al BERYEHERE (F)
Sewage Discharge (Continued) EARBER (&)
A1.4 — Total sewage discharge FA4— 55K BERE

Unit (in m?)
Sewage discharge 35 K BEK B (LA 3K)
Sewage discharge VSIKBENE 7,885.30
Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue FEREEERBBWRES 10.73
During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with relevant REMEHE - AEEETTERIAERE
laws and regulations relating to exhaust gas and GHG P KEZHE - BEBEMNEZEEDELE
emissions, discharge into water and land, and generation of SHEZEZENA BMEERREMAREERE
hazardous and non-hazardous waste. There were no recorded FEIRAIEZEZF RBRHEE | —& 5
for non-compliance with environmental legislations including REHRMN LS THEARRRREZNE
but not limited to the List of Significant Laws and Regulations BRI HMERFSERSRFL -
section, nor was it subject to significant fines, non-monetary
penalties and litigation relating to environmental protection.
Efficient Use of Resources A2 BERMFERAER

The Group has proactive policies in place for the use of
resources to monitor the conservation of energy, water and raw
materials, in order to improve the efficiency of resource, reduce
waste and promote recycling. In terms of energy conservation,
the Group has minimized its office spaces in Hong Kong and
Shenzhen and used high energy-efficiency products to reduce
energy consumption in order to meet its energy-saving targets.
In terms of water consumption, the Group has encouraged the
employees and visitors to develop good habits of water saving
and avoid waste of water in daily operations by displaying
water reserve messages close to water sources.

In addition, the Group’s green office policy advocates paper
conservation. To this end, the Group has adopted computer
filing and double-sided printing, and reused one-sided
printed waste paper; reused ink cartridges by replenishing
powdered ink thereto; and provided office supplies for various
departments on an old-for-new basis to promote recycling of
used supplies.

TEERRBEEARAE —T_=—FERE

AEECDHERBOERNBBE - EEHLH
BER - AKREME TEEHESR  AER
BIERME  HMARERRERRER -
EHEIR T - ARBERER DB ERRY
MBAEZER  LEMERRARSNER
B BEIRBRE LR A RE R R R
RKFE  AEBEEREEEREDBEBRK
RGO E A MKES  SEEEB R
EBREHORKHRETEBE - HOREKR -

o

S AEBONZERAETRRRESHHA
MoREMFREIREERE REEEE
RERAERDWFE  FNENEEERZ
IKE - R & EBPIM A A an BR A [ IA B 57
MEE  BEDEWRFA -
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ERARE

A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued) A. RE (&)
A.2 Efficient Use of Resources (Continued) A2 BRMFERER(E)
Energy Consumption REIRH
The Group regularly issued notices and reminders on energy- AEBTFHREESRLEHVERBE MER
saving to staff to raise their energy-saving awareness on %ﬁ‘éﬁ%ﬁi%ﬂﬁﬁa B LK% ERHESBE
their behaviours. The Group continues to encourage various BPIEZES - REA - B EW% T E 4%
departments to implement the advised energy-saving ME ﬁfﬁiﬁﬁﬁiaﬁfé F:0k=0] =
measures for the use of air-conditioning, lighting, computers, N
photocopiers, printers and electricity as below:
- Maintain the indoor air conditioning temperature between - REZEAZHAELCRK24E206E
24-26°C;
- Use energy-saving LED light bulbs; —  [FHEREREE
- Adopt work from home - REBEXRIE:
- Turn off the computers after work or when leaving the — THSEHI{ESMEBEREER X
workplace or set the computers in energy-saving mode; xR
- Choose electrical appliances with high energy-efficiency — ERAYTESNEERENES
label;
- Carry out regular maintenance on equipment for optimal - THREXRBE UNERZELERAE
energy efficiency performance; and =B Rk
- Promote employee awareness, distribute tips for energy- - BRRTABPLBEEHENMLT RS
saving internally through displays. BT EH -
Table A2.1 - Total energy consumption RA21—HAFERE
Unit Consumption
Types of energy BERER B HEER
Electricity ES kWh T FL B 2,014,445.90
Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue ZEXRSHEBEWRIE kWh T R & 2,740.26
Diesel 5 LF 125,571.82
Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue ZEXRSHEBEWRIE L F# 170.82
Unleaded petrol E TR L 7F 30,307.07
Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue ZEXRSHEEBEWIE L F# 41.23
Coal o874 tonnes M& 1,565.59
Intensity - unit per million HKD revenue ZEXRSHEEBEWIE tonnes M 2.13
Natural gas RKAR m® 37 73 K 19,983.50
Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue ZEXRSHEBEIWRIE m® 3 3K 27.18
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BRCHERERBE

ENVIRONMENT (Continued) A. RE (&)

Efficient Use of Resources (Continued) A2 BRMFERER(E)

Water Consumption HERK

During the Reporting Period, as water consumed in the REE REGEESNAKEERS

Inner Mongolia operating unit was primarily sourced from HiEME ARt REEEERKEER

pumping wells available in the areas of operation, there was BKRTELAEBS AN - FKXKEXE

no major problem about sourcing water. Water consumption REREEEIERMNBEERK  NEETE
mainly arises from the daily use of water by the employees HEAREREREEREMNOMAK - A -
at the offices during working hours. Nonetheless, the Group REBEBNERNERRAERETFERAKE
continues to prioritize effective management of water resources BRABEZR  WERIMEBEE - LERK
for office and domestic use, and adopt various measures BHBERNBAMBERBA ZERBEE

to ensure water is effectively utilized and recycled. Such

measures include:

- Monitor the conditions of water-consuming equipment - BEZAIRKZENZEZ e s
on an ongoing basis, such as carrying out regular BEKEBGRK EBREEE w0
inspections to check whether there are leaking or broken IR R R RS A
water pipelines and rectify any problem identified in a
timely manner;

- Display water conservation labels in washrooms, staff - EXFH BEIRENEIBEER
canteens and dormitories; A AKIRE

- Replace bottled water with reusable water containers — B dRUARTERAMBKSEMEK
during meetings to reduce water waste; and MEEK - URDRBRIK: &

- Flush toilets with collected waste water. —  EEBRAEEKERBFTAK -

Table A2.2 — Water consumption RA22—FEKE

Unit (in m%)

Water consumption FEXKE B (I F3K)

Water consumption FEKE 14,208.00

Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue FEREEERBBWES 19.33
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Efficient Use of Resources (Continued)
Paper Consumption

The Group is committed to a paperless operation, constantly
encouraging all employees to reduce paper usage through
duplex printing, paper recycle and frequent use of electronic
information systems for material sharing or internal
administrative documents. Reusable paper products, such
as envelopes, are properly recycled wherever possible and
appropriate; the use of disposable paper products such as
paper cups and paper towels, are discouraged wherever
possible and appropriate during operations. Further, the Group
implemented electronic payment methods via the electronic toll
collection (ETC) system for toll road business for the purpose
of paperless operation.

Packaging Material

The total consumption of packaging materials used for finished
products of the Group is not included in this report as it is not
considered material in the Group’s use of resources as the
Group’s principal business is expressway operation in Inner
Mongolia, which is primarily service oriented.

Environment and Natural Resources

In order to mitigate the impact of the daily operations on the
environment and natural resources, the Group identifies the
sources of emissions and waste generation in the operation
process and the environmental impact of its use of resources,
and introduces specific measures to reduce the environmental
impact. Meanwhile, the Group’s energy policy reveals that
the Group implements energy conservation and supports
the purchase of energy-saving equipment, which would
further reduce greenhouse gas emissions caused by energy
consumption.

Paper usage during business operations is identified as an
activity with significant environmental impact. The Group has
taken measures to reduce paper consumption and protect
forests. For details, please refer to the section headed “Efficient
Use of Resources” of Aspect A2.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Responding to Climate Change

Recognizing climate change poses significant threats
across the globe, the Group has optimized its management
approaches to build up the climate resilience and enhance the
adaptive capacity. The Taskforce is responsible for conducting
the climate risk assessment to identify and assess the potential
risks and opportunities in the business operations. It works
closely with the Group’s different operation departments, with
an aim to facilitate the formulation of the climate risk mitigation
measures and report to the management. Responses are also
provided in relation to the physical and transition climate risks
and opportunities assessed by the Group, as follows:

Physical Climate Risks and Opportunities

The Group operation is affected by extreme weather events
such as typhoons, heatwaves, storms, and flooding. These
events not only cause physical damage but also disrupt
the operation of the Group and impact the Group’s ability
to maintain road network functionality. To address these
physical risks, the Group has implemented flexible working
arrangements and precautionary measures during extreme
weather conditions. The measurement involves assessing
climate change-related exposures, such as flooding and
storms. Due to the identification of maintenance and repair
technologies, the Group strengthens the ability of climate
adaptation and awareness of natural disasters in order to
enhancing effective climate change risk management.

Transition Climate Risks and Opportunities

Pressure on businesses to transition to low-carbon economic
systems is increasing. In recent years, the PRC government
has implemented a series of environmental protection laws
and regulations to encourage enterprises to meet emission
standards. By investing in energy-saving equipment and
implementing efficient operational management to monitor
and improve energy consumption, the Group can reduce its
carbon emissions in compliance with regulatory authorities.
Additionally, the Taskforce regularly monitors existing and
emerging trends, policies and regulations relevant to climate
change and be prepared to alert the Board where necessary
to avoid cost increments, penalties for non-compliance and/or
reputational risks due to delayed response.
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SOCIAL

Employment

Employees are valuable assets of the Group and are essential
to the Group’s success. The Group has established human
resource including but not limited to policies in accordance
with the List of Significant Laws and Regulations section of the
operating units in respect of employees’ compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays,
equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination, benefits and
welfare, so as to fully protect and respect employees’ rights
and create a favorable workplace for employees.

The Group values the principles of fairness, impartiality and
openness to recruit and promote the right employees and
never discriminate against job applicants on the grounds of
race, colour, social status, place of birth, nationality, religion,
disability, gender, sexual orientation, labour union membership,
political position or age.

The Group’s corporate culture embraces the importance
of attracting talents regardless of backgrounds. The Group
treats all employees equally in employment, remuneration,
training opportunities and work arrangements, and ensure the
workplace is free of any discrimination. The Group provides
employees with competitive salary, benefits and welfare. The
salary package of the Group‘'s employees mainly includes
salary, discretionary bonus and share option scheme, in which
the combination is based on their respective qualifications,
experience, job position and performance. In Inner Mongolia
and Shenzhen operating units, the Group makes contributions
to social welfare plans for the employees including pension
insurance, medical insurance, work injury insurance, maternity
insurance and unemployment insurance based on their actual
salaries. In the Hong Kong office, the employees can enjoy
the benefits of the Company’s medical plan. The Group's
employees are entitled to take the holidays stipulated in their
employment contracts, and each of the employees may resign
by giving a reasonable period’s notice.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had 387 full-time
employees and came from mainland China and Hong Kong 13
employees resigned from subsidiaries due to personal reasons
with the turnover rate around 3.31%.
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Employment (Continued)

Table B.1.1 — Total number of employees and turnover rates in
the Group
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B.1 EE (&)

£BAA-AEEEEBRHMAELE

Location of business

EEME
Inner Turnover

Hong Kong Mongolia  Shenzhen Xinze Total rate
Employment EEER b WEL 3]l E-9:2 et il S
By employment type EEER
Full time £ 9 354 23 1 387 3.31%
Part time R - _ _ _ _
By gender 45l
Male St 5 190 14 1 210 3.28%
Female g 4 164 9 - 177 2.79%
By age group FH AR
18 - 30 18-307% - 148 2 - 150 1.98%
31-45 31-455%, 5 169 12 1 187 4.75%
46 - 60 46-607%, 2 34 8 - 44 2.25%
=60/>61 =60/>615%, 2 3 1 - 6 26.67%

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not identified any
material non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations
in Hong Kong and the PRC relating to employment that would
have a significant impact on the Group.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to provide a safe and healthy
working environment and develop its management policies in
accordance with the related laws and regulations on labour,
safety and working incident. It is in the best interest of all
parties within the Group to consider health and safety in
every activity. To protect the safety of employees, the Inner
Mongolia operating unit distributes protective equipment and
arrange training on health and safety to raise the employees’
awareness on the relevant high-risk areas in the workplace,
and become familiar with the internal procedures and policies
for health and safety, in an effort to achieve zero work-related
accident.
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SOCIAL (Continued) B. 2 (#&)
Health and Safety (Continued) B2 BEHZZ (&)
The Hong Kong office assigns its employees to take part in BEEMAELHEELUTHERELY2E
regular health and safety meetings for discussion of safety and RN EBERRENE—SRATE
health issues, so as to build a culture of occupational health MHBERERZEXE - THERESE N
and safety in the workplace. Safety inspection is held every ERETEE2RE  URETEREAZS
six months by the administrative manager to identify potential BB HIE R SEE
hazards within the workplace as well as establish improvement
actions.
Table B2.1 - Statistics on work-related injuries in the past KB2A-BAE=ZFTEHFHTF
three years.
Year
FE

2023 2022 2021
Indicator BE 20234 20224 20214
Work-related fatality EIEBEMmET
No. of people A - . -
Percentage Btk - - -
Work-related injuries I%
Lost days due to work injury ETIEmBANITERHR - - 332
Save as disclosed above, in the past three years, the Group Br BN ERE=FAN AKSEELES
did not encounter any severe injuries or casualties, did not FRBEHRFTABZEXGNEN  EREH
record any accidents that resulted in death or serious bodily ERAAEEEE LT EMBEKEE - N
injury, did not pay any reimbursements or compensations to WAMBAMEREER A REHNEE ]
the Group’s employees due to such accidents, and was not —ERAERET AN KRG 2B -
aware of any major violations against the List of Significant
Laws and Regulations section of health and safety.
Education, Training and Career B3 HE - HIRRERRE

To ensure the quality of the employees and prepare future
management personnel, the Group has a comprehensive
career development and training program in place to expand
the employees’ knowledge of operational and safety standards,
and provides on-the-job training for them based on specific
job requirements. Senior management staff and personnel with
professional qualifications are further arranged to participate
in training sessions organized by professional organizations to
update any professional knowledge relevant to their positions.
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Education, Training and Career (Continued)

The Group is committed to provide adequate career
development opportunities. To this end, the Group regularly
reviews the working capability and performance of any
employees meeting the conditions for promotion or job
transfer, and subsequently make reasonable allocations
aligning the Group’s latest business development and the
employees’ personal interest, so as to support the employees’
career development.

Labour Standards

The Group complies with the relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the List of Significant Laws and
Regulations section of the labour standards in respect of the
employment under 16 years of age and their legal rights. The
Group strictly prohibits the use of any child and forced labour
by its operations.

The Group demands all new employees to provide true and
accurate personal information when they join the Group for the
human resources officer to stringently verify their information.
The Group has a comprehensive recruitment process in place
to conduct background check against every candidate, as well
as a formal reporting process to handle any exceptional cases.
It also conducts regular reviews and checks to guard against
child or forced labour in its operation. The probationary period
or labour contract of any employee who uses false information
or breaches the Group’s regulations will be terminated
immediately. At the same time, the Group also avoids using
the administrative supplies and services of those vendors and
contractors whose use of child or forced labour is known.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with any laws and regulations in
relation to the prevention of child or forced labour.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has implemented “local sourcing” in order
to build long-term and stable business relations with its
suppliers. Under the same terms and conditions of fulfilling
the environmental requirements, the Group prioritized the use
of local suppliers to establish mutually beneficial business
partnerships. The Group maintained close communication and
collaboration with them to strengthen the management of ESG
risks of the supply chain. The Group believed that maintaining
long-term and stable business relations with suppliers can
help strengthen the business cooperation with customers and
maintain the competitive edge.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

The Group has well-established procedures for supplier
evaluation and selection. Before adding potential suppliers to
the list of approved suppliers, the procurement team would
usually conduct a comprehensive background check on each
of the potential supplier, covering their business scale, quality
control, delivery time and reputation in the industry. The
procurement policy is that the Group only purchases products
and services from approved suppliers to ensure the quality
and safety of products and services, with a view to minimizing
the ESG risks of the supply chain. The Group would also
carry out assessments of its existing suppliers from time to
time, and require them to understand its suppliers’ code of
conduct. Suppliers that fail to meet environmental and internal
requirements will be removed from the Group's list of approved
suppliers. When a project is launched, the Group would ensure
suppliers understand the expectations through meetings, and
maintain close communication with the suppliers during the
project. The Group would monitor the progress of the project
through regular meetings in order to make timely adjustments
when needed. Currently, the Group follow the abovementioned
practices for the cooperation with suppliers.

During the Reporting Period, there were no non-compliance with
laws and regulations relating to supplier chain management listed
in the List of Significant Laws and Regulations section.

The Group fully considers the ESG risks of its supply chain.
The Group believes that the existing measures for ESG risk
control are adequate. Working on the assessments has
become an extension of its commitment to CSR. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not expose to material ESG
risk in its supply chain management.

Product Responsibility

The ability to consistently deliver high-quality expressway
management services to the customers is essential for the
Group‘s business. As such, the Group always places the top
priority on quality and safety control and adopt stringent quality
and safety standards to eliminate any possibility of physical
injuries or property losses caused by road defect to public
consumers, so as to keep the management services up to the
standards prescribed with the laws and regulations relating
to product responsibility listed in the List of Significant Laws
and Regulations section. To render reliable quality customer
services, its operating team closely monitors all critical phases
of it’s operations and inspect the road safety.
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Product Responsibility (Continued)

The road administration department and the maintenance
department of the Inner Mongolia operating unit are
responsible for regularly inspecting road surface conditions,
clearing up snow and waste on the road surface, and
arranging maintenance and repair. The Group has established
a four-staged process composed of security surveillance,
construction, work completion verification and implementation
to ensure that road conditions meet the standards for safe
driving, so as to protect the safety of road users. In addition,
the relevant departments regularly inspect the appearance,
service language and job responsibilities of the staff of toll
stations to ensure premium service quality. The Group also
set up a customer service hotline for customers to voice their
opinions. Whenever a complaint is received, the customer
service department shall give the customer a proper reply
within 24 hours. The Group would not use any customer
information for other purposes without the customer’s consent.
The marketing department has regularly supervised the use of
customer information.

With regard to intellectual property rights, the Group has
adopted appropriate security measures and confidentiality
agreements accordingly. To minimize the chance of
infringement, the Group’s legal team is responsible for
reviewing the agreements on collaboration with third parties
in all business segments and within the Group. Moreover,
the Group promises not to purchase any pirated software. All
the office softwares were provided by copyright holders. The
information technology department regularly supervises the
copyright of software used.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not identified any
material breaches of applicable laws and regulations relating
to quality, complaints and privacy matters of the services
provided that have a material impact on the Group.

Ethics and Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to ensuring that its business
processes are in compliance with local and the national laws
and regulations relating to the prevention of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. The Group participated in anti-
corruption training and campaigns to educate its employees
on how to comply with law and case analysis so as to promote
the importance of anti-corruption practices.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

Ethics and Anti-corruption (Continued)

The employees are prohibited from seeking or accepting
any benefit or bribe from suppliers. The Group’s corporate
governance policy stipulates that all senior management
personnel are prohibited from engaging in any act of bribery
and corruption. The Group constantly require employees
to declare any conflicts of interest and avoid any potential
conflicts of interest conducted in the normal course of
business. The Group also has a code of business conduct that
is binding on all employees for the prevention of misconduct.
All employees must abide by all local anti-bribery laws and
regulations when conducting business or corporate affairs of
the Group.

As far as whistle-blowing procedures are concerned, according
to the code of conduct, any complaints about possible
violations of the code of conduct can be made to the Board by
confidential fax or letter and will be handled promptly and fairly.
In the case of any suspected corruption or any other criminal
offense, it should be reported to the competent local authority.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with the List of Significant Laws and
Regulations section on the prevention of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering in the places that the Group
operates.

Community Engagement

As a good corporate citizen, we support various charitable
activities through participation in volunteer services. The Group
strongly encourages employees to pursue their personal
passions and dedicate their time and skills to support local
communities. During the Reporting Period, the Group’'s
community participation has continued to focus on health.
There was an urgent need for regular blood supply from
healthy people in our community as blood can only be stored
for a limited shelf life. On the other hand, the COVID-19
pandemic has resulted in a reduction in blood donations. The
Hong Kong office supported local blood donation activities
in which employees and their family members participated to
raise their awareness on the importance in maintaining their
own well-being while helping those in need.

The administrative department of the Company obtains
feedback from community groups through emails, the
Company’s website and annual reports to learn about the
community concerns and subsequently review the Group’s
sustainability goals.
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LIST OF SIGNIFICANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

A.

Environment

Aspect A.1-A.3: Environmental Protection

- Chapter 311 Air Pollution Control Ordinance

- Chapter 358 Water Pollution Control Ordinance
- Chapter 354 Waste Disposal Ordinance

- Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”)

- Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution of the
PRC

- Prevention and Control of Water Pollution of the PRC

- Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Waste

- Road Traffic Safety of the PRC

Social

Aspect B.1: Employment

- Chapter 57 Employment Ordinance

- Chapter 282 Employees’ Compensation Ordinance

- Chapter 485 Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance

- Chapter 485A Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
(General) Regulation

- Labour Law of the PRC
- Labour Contract Law of the PRC

- Social Insurance Law of the PRC
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Social (Continued) B.
Aspect B.2: Health and Safety

- Chapter 509 Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance

- Work Safety Law of the PRC

- Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases

- Fire Protection Law of the PRC

Aspect B.4: Labour Standards

- Chapter 57 Employment of Children Regulations

- Labour Laws of the PRC

- Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour
Aspect B.5: Supply Chain Management

- Bidding Law of the PRC

- Road Traffic Safety Law of the PRC

Aspect B.6: Product Responsibility

- Chapter 362 Trade Descriptions Ordinance

- Chapter 486 Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

- Consumer Protection Law of the PRC

- Advertising Law of the PRC

- Trademark Law of the PRC

Aspect B.7: Anti-corruption

- Chapter 201 Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
- Criminal Law of the PRC

- Punishing Corruption and Regulations of the PRC
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Mc:MillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES AND TRANSPORTATION GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
China Resources and Transportation Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 89 to 203, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the potential interaction of the multiple
uncertainties relating to going concern and their possible cumulative
effect on the consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

On 10 May 2022, the Intermediate People’s Court of Ulangab Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region (the “Court”) accepted the restructuring
application filed against the main operating subsidiary of the Group,
Inner Mongolia Zhunxing Heavy Haul Expressway Company Limited
(“Zhunxing”) by China Development Bank. On 25 August 2022, the
Court issued a written decision that Beijing Tian Tai Law Firm has been
appointed as the administrator (the “Administrator”). Zhunxing and
the Administrator have submitted a restructuring proposal to the Court
and the creditors within 6 months after the date of the court order.
The restructuring proposal has been approved by the Court on 26
September 2023. Before changing the share structure of Zhunxing, the
Administrator must confirm the decisions of the other debtors. As of
the date of this report, the impact on the Company remains uncertain,
pending the final results of the restructuring.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
(Continued)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(Continued)

As described in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$1,510,776,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2023 and as at that date, the Group had net
current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$21,543,100,000
and HK$15,270,535,000, respectively. The Company was in
default in the repayment of the bank borrowings of approximately
HK$10,534,288,000 and other borrowings of approximately
HK$484,666,000 and non-convertible bonds with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$4,395,648,000. These debts, together
with the outstanding default interests accrued thereon of approximately
HK$4,763,282,000, totaling approximately HK$20,177,884,000
have become immediately repayable and are classified under current
liabilities at 31 March 2023. At 31 March 2023, several lenders have
demanded repayment of the overdue principals and default interests
through commencing legal proceedings. All these conditions indicate
the existence of multiple uncertainties which may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, to
meet its liabilities as and when they fall due, which are set out in Note
3(c) to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends on the outcome of these measures, which are
subject to multiple uncertainties, including (i) successfully negotiating
with the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) banks and other creditors
for finalising the debt restructuring; (i) successfully negotiating with the
Group’s other lenders and non-convertible bond holders for the renewal
or extension of repayment of outstanding borrowings, including those
with overdue principals and interests in default; (i) successfully raising
new funds for financing the working capital of the Group within the next
twelve months from the date of approval of financial statement.

Up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
the Group’s measures described above have not yet been completed.
There were material uncertainties on the Group’s ability to obtain
adequate working capital to meet its debts as and when they fall due
in the foreseeable future. In view of the significance of the extent of the
uncertainty relating to the ongoing availability of finance to the Group,
we disclaim our opinion in respect of year ended 31 March 2023.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
(Continued)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(Continued)

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned measures on
a timely basis, it may not be able to continue as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected
in the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2022 were audited by another auditor who expressed a
disclaimer of opinion on those statements on 29 July 2022.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s
report. The report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. However, because of
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Ka Bo, Jimmy
Practising Certificate Number: PO7560

24/F., Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road
Wan Chai

Hong Kong, 11 December 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEEEREMZEKRER

#H 2202353 A31H L F[Z For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—Z2=-= —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
{hg=d FHET FHET
Revenue & 6 735,130 479,596
Cost of sales HEKA (460,802) (910,404)
Gross profit/(loss) EF,(EH) 274,328 (430,808)
Other income and other gains or E AU A R b U 5 5k 7
losses, net EBFE 36,400 24,654
Gain on extinguishing financial liabilities by BRBEITHROMETEE 30
issuing new shares Bz W - 589,513
Impairment loss of property, plant and Y - BB MEERESE 15
equipment (26,483) (98,803)
Impairment loss of concession intangible RirEEEEAEMREER 14
asset (1,232,395) (8,782,162)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss % & K H it & Ug 5008 22
of deposits and other receivables, net CREKBR) REFEE
b (22,830) 83,043
Impairment loss of trade receivables, net B SRR R EEEFEE 21 (22,005) -
Gain on change in fair value less costs to EYBEZ A FEEZH 17
sell of biological assets SHE AN E 4 2 Wik (25,770) 3,098
Selling and administrative expenses HERITHEA (58,657) (131,316)
Finance costs B IDFIN 8 (433,364) (1,328,728)
Loss before tax BRBiATE 1R 9 (1,510,776) (5,071,509)
Income tax FRiS T 10 - -~
Loss for the year FEEBR (1,510,776) (5,071,509)
Other comprehensive loss: Hih 2 EEE
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to A g 18 HifE B 27 7 452
profit or loss: BamiEE -
Exchange differences on translation of REGINETE I TS WK
financial statements of foreign operations EECENER 636,840 (189,493)
Exchange differences reclassified to profit & —fHM B AR =N
or loss on disposal of a subsidiary DEEEECELER 2,080 -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FEXEBRERE
THE YEAR (871,856) (5,261,002)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REEEREMZEKRER

#H, 2£2023%F3 A31H L F[E For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—Z2=-= —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ii=s FHET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: BEFEERSE:
— Owners of the Company S /NEIE F =N (1,341,945) (4,358,017)
— Non-controlling interests - RS (168,831) (713,492)
(1,510,776) (5,071,509)
Total comprehensive loss for the year EBhHEELXEEBREE:
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company /NG F =N (784,629) (4,521,535)
— Non-controlling interests - RS (87,227) (739,467)
(871,856) (5,261,002)
HK$ HK$
it ik
Loss per share attributable to owners of A2 TREEAEBESRER
the Company
- Basic - B 13 (0.13) (0.48)
— Diluted -3 13 N/A N/A
~EA 35 A

The notes on pages 96 to 203 from part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B R &

R2023F3 A31H As at 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
{hg=d FHET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Concession intangible asset FEEEEEE 14 5,992,626 8,184,654
Property, plant and equipment LE 15 158,102 331,142
Right-of-use assets PRAEEE 16 71,094 85,281
Biological assets EYEE 17 54,044 84,526
Financial assets at fair value through profit RRFEER ABR M 18
or loss BEE 121,631 115,460
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEELE 6,397,497 8,801,063
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories F&E 20 85 93
Trade receivables =) G N 21 1,199,660 786,886
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - e REHME 22
receivables W sRIA 83,015 63,273
Amount due from non-controlling B — AP B A7) 2 JEIR 23
shareholder of a subsidiary % A% B 38 - 16,012
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReSEYD 24 17,772 41,398
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS REBEEHAE 1,300,532 907,662
TOTAL ASSETS BEHE 7,698,029 9,708,725
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H b FERT A 25 7,427,872 7,568,326
Borrowings BE 27 11,018,954 11,991,196
Non-convertible bonds TR B ES 28 4,395,648 4,395,648
Lease liabilities HEBE 29 1,158 1,064
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEHEE 22,843,632 23,956,234
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEETHE (21,543,100) (23,048,572)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBER
LIABILITIES (15,145,603) (14,247,509)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BN &

202343 A31H As at 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—E_= —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
{hg=d FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Promissory note AN EE 26 119,808 149,251
Lease liabilities HEBE 29 5,124 1,919
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAELAE 124,932 151,170
TOTAL LIABILITIES E BB 22,968,564 24,107,404
NET LIABILITIES BEFE (15,270,535) (14,398,679)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES IR A R f# 4
Share capital i @N 30 2,128,819 2,128,819
Reserves 1 (15,973,913) (15,189,284)
Equity attributable to owners of RAEHER ANEHER
the Company (13,845,094) (18,060,465)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M 2 (1,425,441) (1,338,214)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCIES % 24 785 A (15,270,535) (14,398,679)
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 11 4 & E&p2024F12 511 B o R I2#E T3 o

December 2024.

Mr. Gao Zhiping
Director

BFE

The notes on pages 96 to 203 from part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREHR

H ZE2023F3A31H IEFE As at 31 March 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

LNGE 2PN 1
Capital Non-
Share Share  redemption Capital Statutory  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
Bk BBEE E4EERE  EABE  iERE  BERE  2iHER Mt FERER a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
E8Tn  BETR EBTr B¥Tn BMTr B¥Tn BETR EMIn BETR EETn
Note ) (Note (i) Note (i)
(W) (fam) (W)
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4A1H 1,488,479 1,880,939 3,800 795,363 1,118 (150,098  (12,609,358)  (8,589,757) (698,747)  (9,188,504)
Loss for the year EERR - - - - - - [4388017) (338017 (718492 (5,071,509
Exchange difierences on translation #8550 £ FiB Bk B
of financial statements of foreign B ZEXEE
operations - - - - - (163,518) - (163,518) 25,975) (189,493)
Total comprehensive loss FEZEERLE
for the year - - - - - (163518)  (4,398,017)  (4,521,53)) (739.467)  (5,261,002)
Issue of shares (Note 30) RRB W) 640,340 (589,519) - - - - - 50,827 - 50,827
At 31 March 2022 and R2022F3A31B R
1 April 2022 2020%4F18 2,128,819 1,291,426 3,800 795,363 1,118 (313,616)  (16967,375)  (13,060465)  (1,338214) (14,398,679
Loss forthe year EEEE - = = - - - (131045 (1341045 (168831)  (1,510,776)
Exchange diferences on translation 2855 £ Bt B RE
of financial statements of foreign B4V EXZE
operations - - - - - 555,236 - 555,236 81,604 636,840
Release upon disposal of AHE-AHBAA
a subsidiary BiE - - - - - 2,080 - 2,080 - 2,080
Total comprehensive loss FRE2EFROE
forthe year - - - - - 36 (131045 (184629) (@122  (871,850)
At 31 March 2023 R2023E3A318 2,128,819 1,291,426 3,800 795,363 1,118 243700  (18,309,320)  (13,845,094)  (1,425441)  (15,270,535)
Notes: BtaF -
0] The capital reserve represented capitalisation of payables to non- (i) BRFEBIEENIFERER 2 RBEKEL -
controlling interests.
(ii) In accordance with the relevant regulations in the PRC, the Company’s (i) RIBEFBAERER  ARRRPREKLZHTEAR

subsidiary established in the PRC is required to transfer a certain
percentage of its profits after tax to reserve funds. Subject to certain
restrictions set out in the relevant PRC regulations and in the subsidiary’s
articles of association, the reserve funds may be used either to offset
losses, or for capitalisation by way of paid-up capital.

(iii) The translation reserve represented all exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of operations outside Hong

Kong.

AEBBREETHIZRBRRENEREAEE - &
HERREER KB AR BB ERRABZRRT
FEEATRE A AFEEERIABRRA 2T A&
EER -

(i) MERBERAEEEBRIMCEZWNBRR 2%
BREEZMAERLEZR

TEHERRBEEEERLT

T CFERE

93



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERETRK

#H, 2£2023%F3 A31H L F[E For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P E FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities REERZRER
Loss before tax MR %5 A5 18 (1,510,776) (5,071,509)
Adjustments for: MATIEBELFAE
Interest income AE=RON 7 (75) 67)
Finance costs 5% 8 433,364 1,328,728
Impairment loss of concession intangible BHEETEAERBERE 14
asset 1,232,395 3,782,162
Impairment loss of property, plant and Y - BE MR EREEE 15
equipment 26,483 98,803
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREETE 15
equipment 45,880 75,190
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEAENE 16 11,545 12,207
Loss/(gain) on change in fair value less EMEEZ ATFEEZSRE 17
costs to sell of biological assets ERAMEEZEE
(W) 25,770 (3,098)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair BEATFEEFABm UK E 7
value through profit or loss Ez R NFEAEKS (14,678) (23,181)
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment 1% & N H R R E 22
loss) deposits and other receivables, net B8,/ CRERIEER)
Pk 22,830 (83,043)
Impairment loss of trade receivables, net B RrRWHIEREREFE 21 22,005 -
Gain on termination of lease 4 EE AW 7,16 (93) -
Amortisation of concession intangible asset 4% & 4 £ 2 & = £ 14 350,309 704,731
Gain on extinguishing financial liabilities by FRBITHROMEABEE 30
issuing new shares 2 Wz - (589,513)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair HERAFEEFABEZY 7
value through profit or loss BEEZ W = (192)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and EEWE  BER&ZEKR 7
equipment (222) (7)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— BB AR W 7 (19,542) -
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) HNEEE (Wak) F 5 7 6,658 (3,484)
Operating profit before changes in EEECEBA 2 LEETN
working capital 631,853 227,727
Decrease/(increase) in inventories GFERL (M) 8 (10)
Increase in trade and other receivables, B 5 N H M EYGRIE -
prepayments and deposits TET RIB R IZ £ m (640,212) (352,603)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables H e EIE CRid) /#8m (19,225) 128,832
Payment for acquisition of financial assets at B EZEAFEETAEBRZZ
fair value through profit or loss FBEEMNK - (12)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at & & A FEET AR 2 8
fair value through profit or loss BEEZFSREIA - 1,523
Payment for plantation of biological assets EHEEMEEMNK 17 (447) (717)
Decrease in biological assets EYEERD 17 484 2,439
Net cash (used in)/from operating meER (AR), iz
activities REeFE (27,539) 7,179
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

IE: % AL

#H 2202353 A31H L F[Z For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—E-= T F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FET
Cash flows from investing activities RETEBZEHER
Payments for acquisition of property, plant HEWE  BEMRBNZR 15
and equipment (3,048) (2,943)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and H&EWE - HEME&EEZ
equipment FriS5%38 369 11
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—REHER R 41(c) (1,286) -
Decreased in amount due from EREERLKENBRRZ
a non-controlling shareholder of FEFE AR AR R
a subsidiary 15,794 -
Interests received 2 U F 8 75 67
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities B/ (AR)REEEHZHG FHE 11,904 (2,865)
Cash flows from financing activities BETEB2EHER
Borrowing raised BREER 27,000 -
Repayment of promissory note R NES (34,895) -
Capital element of lease payments HENRZERIT D 41(b) (1,267) (1,330)
Interest element of lease payments HERFKZHFEED 41(b) (333) (194)
Net cash used in financing activities BERMEEDMAIREFHE (9,495) (1,524)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash RERBEELZEY OBL)
equivalents EnFEEE (25,130) 2,790
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXRZE S E 1,504 (893)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning S#BEERREZEY
of year 41,398 39,501
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRBRERBEESZEY 17,772 41,398
Analysis of balances of cash and cash FRESRESLEEYAETR
equivalents at end of year o
Bank and cash balances RITRIBSGEF 24 17,772 41,398

The notes on pages 96 to 203 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

pay

1
BE

1.

96

—E-=HF=H=+—HI-FZ For the year ended 31 March 2023

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Resources and Transportation Group Limited (the
“Company”) is an exempted Company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office is the office of
JTC (Cayman) Limited located at 94 Solaris Avenue 2nd Floor,
Camana Bay P.O. Box 30745 Grand Cayman KY1-1203 Cayman
Islands. Its principal place of business is located at 22/F, On
Hong Commercial Building, 145 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively refer to as the “Group”) are expressway operations,
compressed natural gas (“CNG”) gas stations operations,
growing and sales of forage and agricultural products and timber
operations.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(@) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new

and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are

relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting

year beginning on 1 April 2022 as mentioned below.

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a
Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Annual Improvements Project  Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Standards 2018 - 2020

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar Two

Model Rules*
Amendments to Merger Accounting for Common Control
Accounting Guideline 5 Combinations

*

The relevant disclosure requirement was effective for
accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not
result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting
policies, presentation of the Group’s financial statements
and amounts reported for the current and prior years.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but

are not yet effective

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. These new
and revised HKFRSs include the following which may be

relevant to the Group:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classfication of Liabilties as Current or Non-
current
Amendments to HKAS 1 - Non-current Liabiltties with Govenants

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 - Disclosure
of Accounting Policies
Amendments to HKAS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 - Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilties Arising from a Single Transaction
Amendments to HKFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 - Supplier Finance
Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 - Amendments to the
Classffication and Measurement of Financial Instruments

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements

- Classffication by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
1 January 2023

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

1 January 2024

To be determined

1 January 2024

1 January 2025
1 January 2026

1 January 2026
1 January 2027

1 January 2027

1 January 2024

The Group has already commenced an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs so far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
material impact on its results of operations and financial

position.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

98

A summary of significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”).

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “Functional Currency”’). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”).
Which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except for
the following assets set out below:

- biological assets; and
- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

3. FEEFHEE

AEERMZTZ ST HRMEBHIMAT -

(a)

(b)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed in
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in Note 4.

Going concern basis

On 10 May 2022, the Court accepted the restructuring
application filed against the main operating subsidiary of
the Group, Zhunxing by China Development Bank. The
restructuring proposal has been approved by the Court on
26 September 2023. Before changing the share structure
of Zhunxing, the Administrator will need to confirm the other
debtors’ decisions. As at the date of this report, the impact
on the Company is uncertain pending the final results of the
restructuring. These events or conditions indicate that there
is uncertainty in the continuing operation of the Company.

Additionally, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$1,510,776,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023
and as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
and net liabilities of approximately HK$2,154,300,000
and HK$15,270,535,000, respectively. The Company
was in default in the repayment of the bank borrowings
of approximately HK$10,534,288,000 and other
borrowings of approximately HK$484,666,000 and non-
convertible bonds with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$4,395,648,000. These debts, together
with the outstanding default interests accrued thereon of
approximately HK$4,763,282,000, totaling approximately
HK$20,177,884,000 are classified under current liabilities at
31 March 2023.

All of the above conditions indicate the existence of multiple
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Going concern basis (Continued)

In view of the circumstances and conditions mentioned
above, the directors have given careful consideration to
the future liquidity and performance of the Group and its
available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group
will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern. Certain measures have been taken by the Group
to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its financial
position, which include, but not limited to, the following:

(i) The Group is actively negotiating with the PRC
banks and other creditors for finalising the debt
restructuring;

@iy  The Group is actively negotiating with the Group’s
other lenders and non-convertible bond holders to
seek for the renewal or extension of repayments of
all borrowings, including principals and interests in
default; and

(i) The Group is actively negotiating with external parties
to obtain new sources of financing to finance the
Group’s working capital and improve the liquidity
position.

The directors of the Company have prepared a cash
flow forecast of the Group for a period covered not less
than twelve months from the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements. Based on the cash flow
forecast which has assumed the successful implementation
of the above measures, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due in the next twelve months from the date of approval
for the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

3. FEGFHEE)

(c)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Going concern basis (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether management of the Company will be able
to achieve its plans and measures as described above.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern would depend upon the Group’s ability to generate
adequate financing and operating cash flows through the
following:

(i) Successfully negotiating with the PRC banks and
other creditors for finalising the debt restructuring;

(i) Successfully negotiating with the Group’s other
lenders and non-convertible bond holders for the
renewal or extension of repayment of outstanding
borrowings, including those with overdue principals
and interests; and

(i) Successfully raising new funds for financing the
working capital of the Group within the next twelve
months from the date of approval of financial
statements;

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
restate the value of assets to their recoverable amounts,
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities respectively, and to
provide for any further liabilities that may arise. The effects
of these potential adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under historical cost basis except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and biological assets which are
respectively measured at fair value and fair value less costs
to sell.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3. FEGFHEE)

(Continued)

(e) Functional and presentation currency (e) WEEREIEHY
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the REBESEB Y BHREMINIEE - 15
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the UZERBNETELEMERLERECZE
primary economic environment in which the entity operates B(hEER ) AE - GAMBHRERA
(the “functional currency’). The consolidated financial B ([BE]) 2 ZEBAAXRFZ
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘“HK$”). MEER 25| & -
Which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

() Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (HN MEBLARARFERESR

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when
the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability
to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly
affect the entity’s returns. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the equity shareholders of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. Loans from holders of
non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (Note 3(m)(ii)), unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XESEXE)

(Continued)

(9)(i) Business combinations (9)(i) £ &6t
Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the EHUWIE IR EARR - E5E 0P
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a HEMNREDEQAFEENEZE  MitE
business combination is measured at fair value, which is FTERAEEEENEE AEBNR®K
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of WESHAEEABBNEERLTEE
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by 7 B AR WA T R AR o R T B 1T O AR R
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the RUHE BB A FEELR - WEEIERE
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control AR —RREERRIBRPHER -

of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and RUE BB - BB T BRI & B R
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair values, EHABRESHATEERER MHT
except that: P B IBERAN -

- deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets and - ELEBEEEXEBEARB@EE
liabilities, related to employee benefit arrangements BRMZHNEESEBETID A
are recognised and measured in accordance with BEEBGFTERFE125RAAEM
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employees BB ERE19REBET
Benefits respectively; WREETE

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based —  AEEBUYEE T ARG AR PE sk
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share- RS E AT ABR 3 UK BB 5
based payment arrangements of the Group entered VARR 19 1~F 3k 2 BE 2 AR 9 19 5R &
into to replace share-based payment arrangements 2 EBEBIBRATA  HRESR
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IS ERE2R AR D BE
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition MARRUEEBEITEE
date;

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held —  REEBEMEEREERESRIFE
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current HEFRBEERBKRIELEE
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are BORRFHEHEHECEE (HE
measured in accordance with that standard; and R0 THIRERZERETTEE

&

- lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the - HEABUFSKEENRNRE
present value of the remaining lease payments (as (EER ARV BREERIFE165)
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were WREFE  HOAKENEE
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases RUEE BB B & - H(a)fE A5
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months U EE B EARRET 1218 A AR &S
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset ZOEHEEAREEMNHER
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised SheEHEEAEREEEEAR
and measured at the same amount as the relevant AR EER R E  WH#ET
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or FENRMEBHEEET SR
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with BB R AR -

market term.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XTEETEHXE)

(Continued)
(9)() *%& 6t (&)

(g)(i) Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests
are measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the measurement period
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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—E-=H=H=+—HI9FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XTEETEE(E)

(Continued)

(g)(i) Business combinations (Continued) (9)() *%& 6t (&)
The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration TEERRTENHABRNRESIE
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments BEURREARBNR DR - DEBE
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. BORAREBETERRERSE A Hﬁéﬁ?ﬁ
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is e RREZBETRESAAR-
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its BREEIBBENIARERZER
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. AHEAFEEENSE *ﬁfﬁ”ﬁlm
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a EEMNRE A ER -

liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the X556 G RO BTN - AEBLA
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is REWBLHEzREENTEZNE
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the RE (A AEEMERZEFEER) AT
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting B1E - MAEENRESESE (B R
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts B R - BERKE B BATR Efi
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition PEB R WK EB TS ELER
date that have previously been recognised in other BRENOHEERS (RAEREENAE
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss AR B o

where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest
were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is HWEBAH VT EARERAGHEE
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the ZMEMARE AR - AIRRERE R
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts SERKE T IEIE 2 TR B bR B B - X
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those BHBEENTEHMA (R £30 TS
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement B UHRBIEELRE  URBRR
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities are WEE BB B FEMBAMA e 2% A
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts ERRBRBZFERBENMRGZHE
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, e
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.

(9)(ii)Goodwill ()i &
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried WEEBELZBERNEBEBER
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the fEE 2 AR R aHREEE (208 ) 518k
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is SUREARBENME  WBEEZEHE
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, (or DHEEEHGERE HRMEER
groups of cash-generating units), that is expected to benefit AEBERReELEN (I—HBREE
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the EEA)  HREAMANEEBESIME
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal B KERNETRKREEDE o
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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e M BRI

HE-_Z-_=%F=H=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)(ii)Goodwill (Continued)

(h)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently whenever there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwiill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or groups of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal
(or any of the cash-generating unit within group of cash-
generating units in which the Group monitors goodwiill).

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are
as follows:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss for which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see Note
37(f). These investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

3. FEGFHEE)

(9) (i) B & (&)

(h)
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—E-=H=H=+—HI9FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3. FEGFHEE)

(Continued)

(h) Other investments in equity securities (h)y RAEBABHZHMEE (E)
(Continued)
Equity investments BRAEARE
An investment in equity securities is classified as fair RAZBHREELGW S B ARARIER
value through profit or loss unless the equity investment EBEAnBEAEAEZ  BRIFZREAEK
is not held for trading purposes and on initial recognition ENRFBEEE  WHEVIRBEREER
of the investment the Group makes an irrevocable REBEEL DA HEERERIEEIRBG
election to designate the investment at fair value through Hihiralmigan BETE (T A#E
other comprehensive income (non-recycling) such that B)  UBBEEATFEEZHEEMLS
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other HW AR - ZFEEAERNT AR
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an A @/\ﬁ;&ﬁﬁ/m\?’*ﬁ)\ﬁ&
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made THRAFEER T AETT - BED LR
if the investment meets the definition of equity from the B EZREHRLEN - \/\MEEW
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, =P 2N NREBERFLEERE
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income (RATEEE) R - EHER - RFEBER
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the H(PAERD) R RANESRETEARE
investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the X - BTg8EAER -
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss.

(i) Property, plant and equipment () V¥ BRERRKHE

The following items of property, plant and equipment other
than construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

TIME BFELREBER (EFEIE
B 51 1R B AR R AT E MORE R 1R T
BE o

—  interests in leasehold land and buildings where the - RAKEERVEERTLFHA
Group is the registered owner of the property interest; ABHE T RIEF R

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold - AEERWEVERZEFCLEAA
properties where the Group is not the registered WEEMENHEMELENER
owner of the property interest; and EE &

- items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use - f!%& SEIEE - BEEERE
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and RENHEMELENERRE
equipment. E o
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e M BRI

HE-_Z-_=%F=H=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated at rates sufficient to write off the
cost less their residual value over the estimated useful lives
on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Buildings — Other buildings Over the remaining term of
the relevant lease but not
exceeding 30 years

Leasehold improvements  Over the remaining life of the
leases but not exceeding 5

years

Power generating 20 years
equipment

Furniture, machinery and 5 to 20 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 5 to 8 years

Vessels 10 years

Safety equipment 10 years

Communication and 10 years

signalling systems
Toll collection equipment 10 years
Camellia trees 20 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate amounted for on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is stated
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost
includes the costs of construction and interest charges
arising from borrowings used to finance these assets during
the period of construction or installation and testing, if
any. No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and are available for its intended use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant assets, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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fv?A FF %5 ¥R 2% MY &

—E-=H=H=+—HI9FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3. FEGFHEE)

(Continued)

(i) Biological assets () =VEE
Biological assets are living plants involved in the agricultural EMEBERBENEEBERFERE
activities of the transformation of biological assets into mAFIEENEE L REEBAS R 2
agricultural produce for sale or into additional biological 'Y - AMEE  RERNMIERIE
assets. Biological assets, agricultural produce and R RN & wE BARE A T EERE
seedlings, are measured at fair value less costs to sell at ERAGE - WEF 2 A FEEREE
initial recognition and at the end of each reporting period. PRAEAR A3 — F I T RE G Z FRA (10
The fair value less costs to sell at the time of harvest is ) °
deemed as the cost of agricultural produce for further
processing, if applicable.
The camellia trees are bearer plants and are therefore K REENEY  FAUEWRER/ME -
prepared and accounted for as property, plant and B KRt - 78 RAES() ©
equipment, see Note 3(i).
If an active market exists for a biological asset or agricultural MESLERIEM AR RRE - £ K
produce with reference to comparable specie, growing RELBHEER £MEAEIREMR
condition and expected vyield of the crops, the quoted price TaEhRmE  AIREEXEEATE
in that market is adopted for determining the fair value of BERSRMET IS RE - WA FEER
that asset. If an active market does not exist, the Group M5 AIRRESERRTETIER S
uses the most recent market transaction price, provided B (EEERENZ 5 BHEREH
that there has not been a significant change in economic A EBREAEE) RBUEEZT
circumstances between the transaction date and the end of BEHABRARRER) EEAFERE-
the reporting period, or the market prices for similar assets EWﬁEﬁAW*ﬁE i R ik AT EE
adjusted to reflect differences to determine fair values. The R EH E BN P EE A 2 s SES IR R
gain or loss arising on initial recognition and subsequent éfﬁﬁ FREBERER - REENEE®M
changes in fair values less costs to sell of biological assets ERHMERLERERERSBRR
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it Z B -
arises. Upon the sale of the agricultural produce as forestry
products, the carrying amount is transferred to cost of sales
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Seedlings that have little biological transformation taken QE}K%E&Z}K?&&E&/J\EE'}@@ """"" o
place since initial cost incurrence are stated at cost less B E AR AR DR E B B 5 R
any impairment loss.

(k) Concession intangible asset (k) BTFEEFLEE

Concession intangible asset represents the rights to
charge users of the public service that the Group obtained
under the service concession arrangements. Concession
intangible asset is stated at cost, that is, the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable in exchange
for the construction services provided under the service
concession arrangements, less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses.

Amortisation of the concession intangible asset starts
upon commencement of the operation of the concession
intangible asset.
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e M BRI

HE-_Z-_=%F=H=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

U

Concession intangible asset (Continued)

Amortisation for concession intangible asset with finite
useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

It is the Group’s policy to review regularly the projected total
traffic volume throughout the concession periods of the
respective concession intangible asset. If it is considered
appropriate, independent professional traffic studies will be
performed. Appropriate adjustment will be made should
there be a material change in the projected total traffic
volume.

Costs incurred during the period of construction of the
underlying concession intangible asset are recognised
as part of concession intangible asset. Subsequent
expenditures are capitalised in the concession intangible
asset when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the concession intangible asset. All other
expenditures are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange of
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

(i) The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for all
leases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U

Leases (Continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with these leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments over the lease term, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

3. FEGFHEE)

U
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e M BRI

HE-_Z-_=%F=H=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Leases (Continued)

(i)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do
not meet the definition of investment property and
presents lease liabilities separately in the statement of
financial position.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines
at lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified
as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the case,
the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance with
Note 3(u)(iv).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(0

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (i.e. trade and other receivables).
Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject
to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability-weighted estimate of credit loss.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- trade and other receivables: effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof; and

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past event, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

3. FEGFHEE)

(m) EEZFEBERBE
() HBTAZEEER

AEEEMHAEHEZ SR
A7 (BVE 5 K0 30 R A
IR R AR 2 SRR
B BRAFEENEZMBAE
T (T RS B SRS -

BRI BEE R AT E

BEHEEERNHEEEROM
Kbt - EEERRAAR
HReRA (IREERREALORE
B3R &7 B2 7K 5 [ 38 HA U ER A9
RencRnE8) WRETE -

EMRENTZEEE AR FHH

ReEZENMRBEERUTRER

&=

— B SRR R H ith UK
B EVERRARRTOE
BR R HAUUE &

— ERHNRMBEE ENE
B o

B EREEERREENRER
HEATEEAREERARNE
AR -

KA ERMEEERY  A5H
SEZRAANGERBBEXH
AEFHETIBERLLLE K
B BREAMBESEMH B
AR B AR SRASEAR TR ) B o

114 china Resources and Transportation Group Limited Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRI

HE-_Z-_=%F=H=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(0

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within 12 months after the reporting period end
date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of both
the current and forecast general economic conditions
at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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fv?A FF %5 ¥R 2% MY &

—E-=H=H=+—HI9FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(0

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
(i) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environmental that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRI

HE-_Z-_=%F=H=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(0

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note
3(u)(v) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.
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!
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£ - =4 =HF=+—HI-FZ For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(0

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environmental that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amount subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the
recovery OCCurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRI

HE-_Z-_=%F=H=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets;

- intangible assets;
- construction in progress;
- goodwill; and

- investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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—E-=H=H=+—HI9FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continue

d)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable)
or value in use (if determinable).

Reversal of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

3. FEGFHEE)

(m) BEEZFEBERBE(E)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE—-Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see Note

3(m)(i).
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in Note 3(m)(i).

Other payables

Other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Other
payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

e M BRI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI
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HE-_Z-_=F=HF=+—HI-%FZ For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3. FEGFHEE)

(Continued)

(90 Borrowings ( BE
Borrowings are measured initially at fair value less BEVZ iR A FEERENRZSK AR
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, R M HERE  BEREEREFEEN
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the BERARTIR - FIERBEAEBBEK
effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised Rz et BR R (RHFE3w) -
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see Note 3(w)).

() Taxation rn BK

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE—-Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

Taxation (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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e BRI
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]
HE-T—

3. SIG

NIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

r)

(s)

Taxation (Continued)

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group or the Company
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.
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e M BRI
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is recognised
in profit or loss over the vesting period with a
corresponding increase in the employee share
based compensation reserve within equity. Non-
market vesting conditions are taken into account by
adjusting the number of equity instruments expected
to vest at the end of each reporting period so that,
ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over
the vesting period is based on the number of options
that eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are
factored into the fair value of the options granted.
As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied,
a charge is made irrespective of whether the market
vesting conditions are satisfied. The cumulative
expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market
vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are
modified before they vest, the increase in the fair
value of the options, measured immediately before
and after the modification, is also recognised in profit
or loss over the remaining vesting period.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits, and when it recognises restricting
costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.

3. FEGFHEE)

(s) EERF (&)
(i) HROBEEZMH

A 12 8 $2 R LR 75 18 DA R AR
BE ARG RER 2 MR TR
RE RS LA XA FEEE

=
E-°

RELHAEERASEE Z AR
MRERZNRZ A FERTIR
ERUANEDRRR MEaR
ZEEBRAWMERFESHEREM -
R FETEREEE AEE
BRBREHREMRER S TR
BzEaTAHE RUERES
ARz Rt RIIRBERE
ERBRERBFE -mHR
BIEMERAMKRLEBREZ A
FEE REMAEEGBRBGRMT
BEK ABRMSERREZ
BREERD & EHMER o W RAE
ERTEEBGE AITEREE
REtFx -

ied 8 AU ME 2 16 AR R AR TR 55 S AT
BiERT AREERETA MR
ERIRFTEZ BREXAFEER
NIRRT 64 55 B SF N R B 1R -

(iii) BRBEF
BRIEZEEBAAEAEBTHBR
BZERMAL SR IHEIERH

ZEERAEERER (AREE
RAEE) o

TEERRBEEARAE —T_=—FERE

125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

]
HE-_Z-_=F=HF=+—HI-%FZ For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3. FEGFHEE)

(Continued)

(t) Provisions and contingent liabilities ) BERIAREE
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing WMASBEEBEEGHmE B EEIIHEE
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive B - WA AR LA AT S fh AT AD AR R & A
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an BEEBEHEEL AEEFETHBNMNE
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the EIETNEEEREE - MEEFRH
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the BEKX BEBEARBEEEEEM
time value of money is material, provisions are stated at ERZMBEAEYE -
the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic WK RSB BER =R - A
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated SRR EME - EBEERE
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, ERABE - BRIFLEFE R L 2 A8
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is MR - HEAEEEZR - EHXKZEK
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be REHEAMETETE 2R E IR
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one ERABE - BRIFLEFE R L 2 A8
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent PR o
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

(u) Revenue and other income (v WEREAMWKA

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use
by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

(i) Revenue arising from toll operation is recognised
at a point in time when the vehicles exit the toll
expressway, of which the Group operates part or all
of it. The revenue from toll operation is based on the
toll rates determined by government authorities. It is
settled by government agencies on a monthly basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE—-Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i

(i)

(V)

(vi)

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the
control of the goods is transferred to the customer,
which is taken to be the point in time when the
customer has accepted the goods that are delivered
by the Group.

Revenue from sales of electricity is earned and
recognised upon transmission of electricity to the
customers or the power grid owned by the respective
regional or provincial grid companies.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the time
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of
the leased assets. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent
rentals are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis, taking into account the principal amounts
outstanding and the effective interest rates applicable.

Government grant that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred is recognised as revenue in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred.

e M BRI

—=F=A=4+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. FEGFHEE)
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=H =B =+—HI-%FZ For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies

(0

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
entity in the Group are measured using the currency
that best reflects the economic substance of the
underlying events and circumstances relevant to
that entity (“functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries outside
Mainland China is Hong Kong dollars and the
functional currency of the subsidiaries in Mainland
China is Renminbi. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“presentation currency”).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Group initially recognises such
non-monetary assets or liabilities.

The results of operations outside Mainland China are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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e M BRI

HE-_Z-_=%F=H=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Borrowing costs

(x)

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset
for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3. FEGFHEE)

(Continued)

(yy Government grant (v) BUS#ED
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable BEHEEEEBREEEKETIER
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions R B4 B S & U B B T LARERR ©
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.
Government grants relating to income are deferred and H3 UG A HE R MY BT R B T AR T AR
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them WAEHE ARG A B - AEEERER
with the costs they are intended to compensate. B8R AT -
Government grants that become receivable as compensation ERBEAENBRNIBANMEE A
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose R BN E B T8 KR R AR A AR
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no KIBR AT # B - 16 70 H mT W ER ) A AT T
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the AEa o
period in which they become receivable.

(z) Inventories (2 =&
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable GFERKAMI]EHEEEFEFOEE
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average BYR o NARERAIE T EERT
basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress B o B A AR R AN B IE R MR -
comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate BEEREAIUKRFMEBLEEREZERNE
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and =) tt Bl WEHEENBEATRESBEE
where appropriate, subcontracting charges. The costs of o BT EM AR E AT
purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates ?D BTN - AIEREEFELEELE
and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling BEBARBPHEMBEEES  BAE
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated BT IRAR D EMHERAR o
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

(aa) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (aa) I EBENERTHE
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified WHBaENER TARBMEIINGR
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements ZHE R BB LA KRB BB 15w & E R A
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an WELE MEZTENTEERETHE - #
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is wLTERECNMKRABEAER  FHE
any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets EEEFNARERNEMEE -
of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

(ab) Events after the reporting period (ab) IEHBEENEIE

Events after the reporting period that provide additional

i&%ﬁﬂf‘ﬁ?éﬁ’]%lﬁ MRREHET A%

information about the Group’s position at the end of the B 75 7R 5 B R AR B B AN {E B (3R BB
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern B E 1%1 STNER)  ABRARSE
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are % WiEkkE ﬂﬁ%#ﬁi‘%qﬂ Rk o 3R HR

reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3, the directors are required to make judgements (other
than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on
the amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations, which
are dealt with below).

(@) Going concern and liquidity

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management
has prepared the consolidated financial statements on
the assumption that the Group will be able to operate
as a going concern in the coming year, which is a
critical judgement that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern
assumption involves making a judgement by the directors,
at a particular point of time, about the future outcome
of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
The directors consider that the Group has the capability
to continue as a going concern and the major events or
conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that
individually or collectively may cast significant doubt upon
the going concern assumption under “Significant accounting
policies” are set out in Note 3(c) to these consolidated
financial statements.

4.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 4.
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in Note 37(c), ECL are measured as an
allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or
lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves
to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly
increased the Group takes into account qualitative and
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking
information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.

(c) Impairment of concession intangible asset and
relevant property, plant and equipment

The Group’s expressway operations are identified as a cash
generating unit (‘Expressway CGU”) to which concession
intangible assets of approximately HK$5,992,626,000
(2022: HK$8,184,654,000) and relevant property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$128,777,000 (2022:
HK$209,116,000) are allocated, as disclosed in Notes 14
and 15 respectively. Management assesses the recoverable
amount of the Expressway CGU, to which concession
intangible asset and relevant property, plant and equipment
are allocated, based on value-in-use calculations which
require the use of estimates and significant judgement by
management on the growth rates on the revenue of the
Expressway CGU during the remaining concession period
and discount rate which are disclosed in Note 14(b).

Based on the impairment assessment as disclosed in
Note 14(b), provision for impairment of approximately
HK$1,258,878,000 (2022: HK$3,878,949,000) on the
carrying amounts of the Expressway CGU, to which the
concession intangible asset and relevant property, plant
and equipment are allocated, are required at 31 March
20283.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

Impairment of concession intangible asset and
relevant property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The proforma sensitivity analysis on the potential downside
effects on the carrying amounts of concession intangible
asset and relevant property, plant and equipment, which
are allocated to the Expressway CGU, is set out below:

(@)

If the discount rate was increased by 5% and all
other parameters remain unchanged, the value-
in-use of the concession intangible asset and
relevant property, plant and equipment, which are
allocated to the Expressway CGU, would decrease
by approximately HK$249.00 million and HK$5.35
million respectively, and additional impairment of
approximately HK$249.00 million and HK$5.35 million
on the carrying amounts of the concession intangible
asset and relevant property, plant and equipment,
which are allocated to the Expressway CGU, would
be required at 31 March 2023, respectively.

If the average long-term growth rates during the
remaining concession period was decreased by 5%
and all other parameters remain unchanged, the
value-in-use of the concession intangible asset and
relevant property, plant and equipment, which are
allocated to the Expressway CGU, would decrease
by approximately HK$121.71 million and HK$2.62
million respectively, and additional impairment of
approximately HK$121.71 million and HK$2.62 million
on the carrying amounts of the concession intangible
asset and relevant property, plant and equipment,
which are allocated to the Expressway CGU, would
be required at 31 March 2023, respectively.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 4. BRABREEMLE (&)

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)
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Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s
financial statements require measurement at, and/or
disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market
observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used
in determining fair value measurements are categorised
into different levels based on how observable the inputs
used in the valuation technique utilised are (the “fair value
hierarchy”):

° Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

° Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other
than Level 1 inputs;

° Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from
market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based
on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant
effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers
of items between levels are recognised in the period they
occur.

The Group measures a number of items at fair value:

° Biological assets (Note 17); and

° Financial instruments (Note 18).

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value

measurement of the items above, please refer to the
applicable notes.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e)

(U]

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations and
competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles.
Management will increase depreciation charges where
useful lives are less than previously technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as at
31 March 2023 was approximately HK$158,102,000 (2022:
HK$331,142,000).

Fair value of biological assets

Management estimates the current market prices less costs
to sell of biological assets at the end of each reporting
period with reference to market prices and professional
valuations. Un-anticipated volatile changes in market prices
of the underlying agricultural produce could significantly
affect the fair values of these biological assets and result
in fair value re-measurement losses in future accounting
periods.

The Group’s forestry business is subject to the usual
agricultural hazards from fire, wind and insects. Forces of
nature such as temperature and rainfall may also affect
harvest efficiency. Management considers adequate
preventive measures are in place and the relevant legislation
under forestry laws in the PRC will assist in minimising
exposure. To the extent that un-anticipated factors
affecting harvestable agricultural products may result in
re-measurement of harvest losses in future accounting
periods.

The carrying amount of biological assets as at 31
March 2023 was approximately HK$54,044,000 (2022:
HK$84,526,000).
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RSB 2R EH K AR A
EE-MAEAEOVE - LARKES
FRAN BN B H B RUOREE © T2
BRAEER BB G - ik EHE
=2 A AR R R - B
YR S 2 BINEEA 3| R R E
AR E T B IRAURA -

H E2023F3A31H A WEEKRE
B 4978 #54,044,0007C (20224 : &
84,526,0007T) °
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 4. BRABREEMLE (&)

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

e R EM N EZERIR (F)

(9) Estimation of amortisation period of concession (g) #HHFEEFEEBHEHERE
intangible asset
The Group amortises the concession intangible assets REBRAR TR REBRABERE
using the straight-line method over the concession period FHRFFRT R EE#E (WiT14@) -
granted (Note 14(a)). The concession period is approved B EPSRAREEIE  NEERR
by the grantor and the Group does not have a renewal or FFRERRE W EE BRI -
termination option for the concession period.
If the grantor requires to extend or shorten the concession W T & ERERNFE LTI -
periods, management will revise the amortisation charges EREMETH#ETL  HgmERm
which are different to previously calculated, or recognise an FTEEER  EAREEEE) -
impairment loss, if any.
The carrying amount of concession intangible assets as H EZ2023F3A31H  HHEEFRE
at 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$5,992,626,000 = /) IR E & B A5 #55,992,626,0007T
(2022: HK$8,184,654,000). (20224 : B #£8,184,654,0007T) °

(h) Impairment assessment of trade and other (h) B 5K RAMENKSE 25 EFF
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receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of trade
and other receivables on a forward looking basis. Lifetime
ECLs on trade receivables are recognised from initial
recognition of the assets. The provision matrix is determined
based on the Group’s historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the trade receivables with similar credit
risk characteristics and is adjusted for forward looking
estimates. Other receivables are considered for 12-month
expected credit losses unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instruments, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs. In making the judgement, management
considers available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information such as actual or expected significant
changes in operating results and financial positions of the
customers, past payment history of the customers, and
actual or expected adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change in the customers’ ability to settle their
trade debts. At each reporting period end, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking economic conditions and estimates are
analysed by the Group’s management.

3

AEBZABEEEREETE S RUERR
R B A R URIR 2 BE R - B 5 R
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)  Impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables is approximately HK$1,199,660,000 (2022:
HK$786,886,000), being net of allowance for doubtful debts
of approximately HK$28,982,000 (2022: HK$7,477,000).

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of other
receivables and deposits is approximately HK$63,850,000
(2022: HK$45,378,000), being net of allowance for
doubtful debts of approximately HK$27,003,000 (2022:
HK$176,221,000).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision makers have been identified as
executive directors of the Company. The directors review the
Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources, and determine the operating segments.

The Group has three reportable segments. The segments are
managed separately as each business offers different products
or provides different services and requires different business
strategies.

4.

ARG REEGLE (&)

e R EM N EZERIR (F)

() EZERRNRRMENRNEZEET
14 (4&)

H E2023F3A31H  E 5 W HRER
1 4978 #1,199,660,0007T (20224 : 8
#786,886,0007T) * B 1k 17 5 (& %5 &
15 #) 75 #28,082,0007T (20224 : B #
7,477,0007T) ©

#H £2023%F3A31H » EfhERF R IZ
+ BRE{E 478 %63,850,0007T (2022 :
75 #45,378,0007T) * B IIBRTF B (E TS
B 5 #4078 127,003,000 (20224 : 5
#176,221,0007T) ©

TREBARECHERRARRNTES
E=ZMEEEHARERNINRE  UFER
ARDPEERLEELLEDHE -

AEBBE=ERREDHE ANTEEHRE
AR EE dn SR KA R BR 75 e SRR 9 %
S B DRBYERE -
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BE

—E-=HF=H=+—HI-FZ For the year ended 31 March 2023

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The following summary describes the operations in each of the
Group’s reportable segments:

Expressway operations — the operations, management, maintenance
and auxiliary facility investment of Zhunxing Expressway;

CNG gas stations operations — operations of CNG gas stations;
and

Other operations — sales of timber logs from tree plantation and
outside suppliers, sales of seedlings and refined plant oil, sales
of agricultural products and electricity supply by solar power
stations.

There was no inter-segment sale or transfer during the year (2022:
HKS$NIl). Central revenue and expenses are not allocated to the
operating segments as they are not included in the measure of
the segments’ results that is used by the chief operating decision
makers for assessment of segment performance.

The measure used for reportable segment profit or loss is loss
before unallocated finance costs and taxation.

Segment assets exclude financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, amounts due from non-controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary, cash and cash equivalents, right-of-use asset and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude promissory note, non-convertible
bonds, interest payable on non-convertible bonds, lease liabilities
and other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

5.

TEEFR (&)

FRASEEAIRENBZEBHENT

B4 K R 00 4504 B — B B A R AR
Fk R

Hit 2 E-HERBEEE NI RIEERZ
AM - HEBERBERNH HEREM
RGBT HE -

FRLED BEIHE X E (2022F : BRT
TO) o PREERFAXTENRERLEDR -
FRRRX2LERARERUFHELIARRZ
DRFEHEYERTARER -
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BAFE R AR KR BR B B S 48
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

5. 7BEH(H)

Reportable Segment (@) AHREDE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE2023F3HA31ALFE
Expressway CNG gas stations Other
operations operations operations Total
e BEARR \ N
BELREE NREEE Rfp&E @
HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000
BET T BT BT BT
REVENUE [l¢:3
Revenue from external customers RENREF 2 W 733,580 - 1,550 735,130
Reportable segment revenue nREDERE 733,580 - 1,550 735,130
Reportable segment loss RESEER (1,221,047) 2,115) (48,398) (1,271,560)
Adjusted EBITDA Vot () BRRSHAEREHAME W) 660,393 (165) (9,515) 650,713
Reportable segment assets ARENREE 7,389,438 17,276 146,699 7,553,413
Reportable segment liabilities IRENRER (16,685,948) (995) (23,072) (16,710,015)
Other segment information EftpEER
Additions of property, plant and equipment W% BERSELRE 3,048 - - 3,048
Addltions of biological assets EMEEIRE - - 441 447
Loss on change in fair value less costs to sel of ENEEL R BEEDALE
biological assets RAEE - - 25,770 25,770
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE BERRENE 41,382 345 4,150 45,817
Unallocated depreciation of property, plant and AOENE  BERREENE
equipment 3
Total depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - BERRAEHELE 45,880
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELGENE - - 10,436 10,436
Unallocated depreciation of right-of-use assets AOEEREEERE 1,109
Total depreciation of right-of-Use assets FREAENELSR 11,545
Amortisation of concession intangble asset BHEEVEAEEH 350,309 - - 350,309
Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment nE BERIEIAEEE 26,483 - - 26,483
Impairment loss on concession intangible asset BHEEVEENERR 1,232,395 - - 1,232,395
Impairment loss of deposits and other receivables, net %% R EMEWEREEETE 15,315 - (1,067) 14,248
Unellocated Impairment loss of deposits and other  RAERS R AMEYNFARE
recelvables, net BRE - - - 8,582
22,830
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) of BORRETAERR/
trade receivables (REEERR) 20,919 1,605 (519) 22,005
Rental income HEUA - - 1,632 1,632
Finance costs BBHA 194,637 - 113 194,750
Unallocated finance costs FOEBBRE 238,614
Total finance costs BHRAGE 433,364
Interest income TON 67 - 6 73
Unallocated interest income AARFEHA 2
Total interest income FSBALE 75

TEHERRBEEEERLT

T _ZFERE
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- S, | =
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 7¥EH (&)
(a) Reportable Segment (Continued) (@) "HREDE (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE20226F3A31BLFE
Expressway CONG gas stations Other
operations operations operations Total
BRAK EERAR
28 NRKEE EfEE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
REVENUE g
Revenue from external customers PELY &I 475,078 - 4518 479,59
Reportable segment revenue ARENENE 475,078 - 4518 479,596
Reportable segment loss RENEER (5,421,418) (690) (18,370) (5,440,478)
Adjusted EBITDA (Note f) BEBERAERBHANNE W) 239,158 (224) (2,075) 236,859
Reportable segment assets RENEEE 9,221,763 18,438 278,399 9,518,600
Reportable segment liabilties IRENRER (17,960,684) (1,075) (119,010) (18,080,769
Other segment information AfgAEEN
Additions of property, plant and equipment hE BERSELFE 2913 - 30 2,943
Additions of biological assets EMEEIRE - - 7 77
Gain on change in fair value less cost sell of EMEERABEZDNH
biological assets HERAKE - - 3,008 3,098
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment n% BERRBENE 66,172 466 8,546 75,184
Unallocated depreciation of property, plant and APRNE HRERRENE
equipment 6
Total depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1%« BERZEE4E 75,190
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAENE - - 11,448 11,448
Unallocated depreciation of right-of-use assets AOREREEENE 759
Total depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAENESS 12,207
Amortisation of concession intangble asset BB AESSE 704,731 - - 704,731
Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment ~~ #1% ~ BERREZHEEE 98,803 - - 98,803
Impairment loss on concession intangiole assets BEEVEE NERE 3,782,162 - - 3,782,162
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

5. 7BEH(H)

Reportable Segment (Continued) (a) TWREDE(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Continued) HZ2022F3A31H L EE (8)
Expressway CNG gas stations Other
operations operations operations Total
SN BRERAR
BB NEHEE EfEE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AETT AETT BETT
Reversal of impairment loss, deposits and REBRED ZeRABELE
other receivables, net i 82,304 - 739 83,043
Finance costs BHRA 1,001,013 - 141 1,001,154
Unallocated finance costs KPR BHRA 237,574
Total finance costs HERARE 1,328,728
Rental income AElmA - - 1,924 1,924
Interest income FSHA 57 - 3 60
Unallocated interest income APRMEMA 7
Total interest income HMEWALE 67
Note: Hiat -
(i) EBITDA is defined as Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, 0] BRI EHMENETEAERFE -

Depreciation, and Amortisation (Adjusted EBITDA) is
calculated based on profit for the year excluding interest
income and expenses, tax, depreciation and amortisation,
fair value change on biological assets, impairment of
property, plant and equipment, impairment loss on
concession intangible assets and impairment loss/reversal of
impairment loss of deposits, trade and other receivables.

MR- TE - R EHESHRITE
BRI RREFEMNBHEN
ZAETEEMNEMAMER - HA
FENEE EMEENDAR
B WX BERREORE - BT
BEVEENREBEARETR &
S REMERFBENRERERE

EEEm -
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2 E&ER (#&)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment results, b) ARSI EXE EEREEBZY
assets and liabilities B
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ok e
Reportable segment loss before tax BB BT A 3RS 5 e 1R (1,271,560) (5,440,478)
Gain on extinguishing financial liabilites by F B ITH RO MET B EE
issuing new shares 2 W - 589,513
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair BAFEEFABRZHBHE
value through profit or loss EZAFEEKE 14,678 23,181
Net realised gain on disposal of financial &R A FEEF ABRZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss ~ M EEZ © BRI 558 - 192
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—H B AR K 19,542 -
Unallocated other income and R B E MU A K&
other gains or losses H b Ui 25 ok &5 18 475 4,143
Unallocated finance costs R 5 B B 75 A AR (238,614) (237,574)
Unallocated corporate expenses PVl WG (35,297) (10,486)
Consolidated loss before tax R A4 & B8 (1,510,776) (5,071,509)
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AIREDIREE 7,553,413 9,518,600
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EYD 17,772 41,398
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEEFABRRZ
profit or loss WMBEE 121,631 115,460
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 569
Amount due from non-controlling ElR—MHEB AR Z
shareholder of a subsidiary FE 12 IR AR 3R RRIR - 16,012
Unallocated corporate assets RKOMABIEE 5,213 16,686
Consolidated total assets MEEESE 7,698,029 9,708,725
Liabilities =k
Reportable segment liabilities ASmEDEEE 16,710,015 18,080,769
Promissory note NS 119,808 149,251
Non-convertible bonds A B mESH 4,395,648 4,395,648
Lease liabilities HEAE - 621
Interest payable on non-convertible bonds 1~ 7] i, ¥ & % = JE - FI| &, 1,415,054 1,184,600
Unallocated corporate liabilities Ko AFIBE 328,039 296,515
Consolidated total liabilities e BERR 22,968,564 24,107,404
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2EEH (E)
(c) Geographical information (c) HEER

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas —
the PRC and Hong Kong.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers and non-current assets

FAEENTEREERNELIEHELE -

TRERARERAIIKETP 2 Wk
MBTARNZIERBEE ([EEFR

other than financial instruments (“Specified non-current BEE]) 2o
assets”).
Revenue from external Specified
customers non-current assets
RENREE 2l BEXRRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$’°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T BT T BT T
PRC A 735,130 479,596 6,275,866 8,685,031
Hong Kong BB - - - 572
735,130 479,596 6,275,866 8,685,603
(d) Information about major customers (d FEETEEZEFZEHR

There was no customer contributing over 10% or more of
the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2023

H F2023%F N202243A31H IFFE -
BMERXFEMAEBRBEI0%HA L

and 2022. Wk o
REVENUE 6. U
Revenue represents the revenue from the principal activities of the WEmEAERFE B ERK 2 WG - 05 A8
Group, net of any sales taxes. The amounts of each significant ER RFREFEIER 2 SEXNERK
category of revenue recognised at point in time during the year MBI -

are as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Income from toll road and related operations 7 B Y& QB M ARRE & & 89Ut A 733,580 475,078
Income from electricity supply by solar power KB A5 a3 BULHEE 2 WA

stations 1,089 3,717

Sales of timber products SHEARMESR 461 801

735,130 479,596
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7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS OR 7. HHWAREMKENERF

LOSSES, NET £R
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest income FLEWA 75 67
Exchange (loss)/gain, net i 5 (&18) a5 8 (6,658) 3,484
Rental income HE WA 1,632 1,924
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE M ERE
equipment 222 7
Gain on early termination of leases IRATAR IEFA M= 93 -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HTB AR K 19,542 -
Government subsidies (Note) S B) (B aE) 268 489
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value R AFBEFABRZZHBEEEZ
through profit or loss N EE Y= 14,678 23,181
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair HERATEEFAERZ
value through profit or loss BB E W= - 192
Reversal of over accrued expenses ol BB T X 4,470 -
Others HAity 2,078 (4,690)
36,400 24,654
Note: Government subsidies represented Employment Support Scheme B - BB —IET EBRAH HAOMEFH
launched by the Government of PRC. There were no unfulfiled - WERBERBBBESIEEHDOIEE
conditions or contingencies for the relevant subsidies. 18 o
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HIBRA
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Interests and finance costs on bank and HRITREMEE 2B R KA
other borrowings 1,768 163
Interests on promissory note EAREBEZFE 5,452 17,576
Default interests on bank and other HITREMEBEEZEZLHFE
borrowings 162,166 965,247
Default interests on non-convertible bonds TN HMESF ZEBLOFE 230,290 219,782
Interests on lease liabilities HEAENE 333 194
Interest on overdue construction payables EREMREBEZENFE 33,355 125,766
433,364 1,328,728
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LOSS BEFORE TAX 9. RBAEE
Loss before tax is stated after charging/(crediting): BREAIEEE MG (B%) TFEE -
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Auditor’s remuneration % SR BN &
— Audit services — BZRE 1,100 1,000
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BEMREREBETE
equipment 45,880 75,190
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 11,545 12,207
Amortisation of concession intangible asset 43 & 4 £ 2 & = 1 £
included in cost of sales FFAEK AR 350,309 704,731
Impairment loss of concession intangible SR EERERE
asset 1,232,395 3,782,162
Impairment loss of property, plant and ME - HWE REHBEEER
equipment 26,483 98,803
Impairment loss of trade receivables 2 5 WO ORI EE 1B 22,005 -
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) &4 K H b & Ug sk B R E B 18,
of deposits and other receivables, net OREEEREE) T8 22,830 (83,043)
Operating lease payments recognised as BREAYZEEHESTH
expenses 276 185
Cost of inventories sold EHEFEZKA 484 2,525
Staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments): 8 TR A (TNEIEESFH) ¢
— Salaries and allowances — ¥ KZA 37,615 64,680
— Defined contributions pension costs — AEHEFERES KA 2,065 2,847
39,680 67,527
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10. INCOME TAX

10. A8 %

The income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss per
consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

FRASHAEESBaERAIIEREMRNT -

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BEET I

Loss before tax R T BT &5 18 (1,510,776) (5,071,509)

Tax calculated at 25% (2022: 25%) 1225%5T 8 2 18 (20224F : 25%) (377,694) (1,267,877)

Net effect of non-taxable/deductible items BEZRH T IRER 2 FoE 357,233 1,292,809
Net effect of tax losses and temporary AERZBIBBEREREZR 2

differences not recognised FRE 1,527 3,876
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries RE A AR E 2 @A A

operating in other jurisdictions MEAR 2z w2 18,934 (28,808)

Income tax Fir 5 15 - -

No provision has been made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the
Group did not have assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

All of the Group’s subsidiaries established and operating in the
PRC are subject to PRC enterprise income tax of 25% (2022:
25%), except for those explained below.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations in the PRC and with
approval from tax authorities in charge, subsidiaries including
ARE CRIE) AR QAL AEARARE (KiH) BRAF and Ar
Horgin Banner Xinze Agricultural & Animal Husbandry Company
Limited* (BRI HRILEZZREBEBRAF), are qualified as
forestry operation enterprise by the local tax authorities and so
they are fully exempted from PRC enterprise income tax.

Zhunxing a subsidiary of the Company, was exempted from PRC
enterprise income tax from 2014 to 2016 and was subject to
12.5% PRC enterprise income tax from 2017 to 2019. Pursuant
to the document “the Encouraged Industries in Catalogue of
Industrial Structure Adjustment Guidance 2019 (revised)” issued
by the National Development and Reform Commission on 27
August 2019, Zhunxing is entitled to the preferential tax rate of
15% for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation

are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2023

11.

EENE

RIBEEBCA BRI £33N KR AR (KE
ERFEERE0) Fo B EEZTHEF

BEIIMT

B £2023F3B831HILEE

Defined
contribution
Basic retirement
salaries and benefits
Fees allowances scheme Total
ExFe REMR
he R BIRERGE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Name of directors EEpR BRI BRI BETT BETT
Executive directors BTES
Fung Tsun Pong (resigned on 2 March 2023) BRI (R2023F3 728 ) - 3,017 - 3,017
Lu Zhiming EEH - - - -
Gao Zhiping BEF - 2,729 - 2,729
Jiang Tao E - - - -
Duan Jingquan BEX - - - -
Wang Gang Tl - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Jing Baol HEH 20 - - 20
Bao Liang Ming BRH 20 - - 20
Xue Baozhong EXA 20 - - 20
Chan Chu Hoi fresigned on 1 December 2022) &%k (R2020F 1251 HE L) 140 - - 140
Xu Hui (aopointed on 5 December 2022 & HB (K020 1255HEZ (LT
resigned on 15 October 2024) Fo024F 105158 F1F) 40 - - 40
240 5,746 - 5,986
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2022

1. EEM 2 (&)

B £2022F3831HILEE

Defined
contribution
Basic retirement
salaries and benefits
Fees allowances scheme Total
E1Ee REMHT
ik R RINERGE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Name of directors EEpR BEFL BT BT BT
Executive directors BTES
Fung Tsun Pong HEE - 3,578 - 3578
Lu Zhiming (aopointed on 6 December 2021) W58 (Ro001512H6H EZ ) - - - -
Gao Zhiping ax¥ - 3,115 - 3115
Jiang Tao E - - - -
Duan Jingquan BRE - - - -
Wang Gang (aopointed on 12 January 2022) TRl (K000 1 5 12REZ(T) - - - -
Tsang Kam Ching (resigned on 7 September 2021) G 3%3& (72001497788 1F) - - - -
Cao Zhong (resigned on 28 October 2021) BB (Ro021F10828A 8 1T) - 2,809 - 2,809
Li Wing Chiu (aopointed on 15 June 2001 and 23k B (R202156 F 150 EZ £
removed on 15 November 2021) TRO001E11 5 15A %E%E) - 50 - 50
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Jing Baoli HEF 20 - - 20
Bao Liang Ming BRH 20 - - 20
Xue Baozhong EXA 20 - - 20
Chan Chu Hoi ‘%G 50 - - 50
110 9,55 - 9,662
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Note:

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors and the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office. There were no arrangements under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the current and prior years.

During the year, the five highest paid individuals included two (2022: three)
directors, details of whose emoluments are set out above. The aggregate
of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2022: two) individual
during the years are as follow:

11. EEM < (8)
Bt st -

A H E2023F N202263A31H IFFE - AEBHI
BERAEERTHSEENRABALTINETAMSES
Bl E AR INAKREBES 2 $EE s E AR
B-RAFERBIFERERESTHELIRAER
BAT B S VEH 25

FR - HHES2ARALBEME (2022F: =4)
EE FEZMEER EXXEHY - Ep =4 (2022
F:ZR)ATREFRANMESBELT ¢

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$’'000

BT T BT T

Salaries and allowances e oEM 3,172 3,884
Defined contribution pension costs AERFRKE KA 30 -
3,202 3,884

The emoluments of the other three (2022: two) individuals with

MemkmzEsm=5 (20220 —H) A2

the highest emoluments fell within the following bands: eBRATHE :
2023 2022
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A

Emolument bands B 5 &3 [

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = = % ¥1,000,0007T -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 75 #1,500,001 7T 2 /78 #2,000,0007T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 75 12,000,001 7T 2 /78 #2,500,0007T - 1
3 2

Save for disclosed in Note 35(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transaction, arrangement and contract
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

DIVIDEND

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of
a dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HKS$Nil).

BriR & B MR M E35(0) TR EE SN - AN AT
WEER—ITRFREFRNEMEHERR
AEENEFE BB A LR ARRABER
REEEARS RHERGHLEIREPEE
SKRAZ A EARFE

12. RE

AAFERW T ERREEE2023F3A31H
IFFE 2 % B (20224 : BT L) o
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13. BRE1E

AR A B A 5 IR R T 5 9B T B
T B -

13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

ARBHEBARBIEFEER

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BEET I
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted FrTEERERNEEEE
loss per share KA BB (1,341,945) (4,358,017)
’000 000
Number of shares: g8 : TR F A&
Weighted average number of ordinary shares M3A31B st EERER K
as at 31 March for the purposes of basic EEEBRA L AR
and diluted loss per share IHEF &L 10,644,093 9,049,518

Diluted loss per share has not been presented as there was no
dilutive potential ordinary share of the Company outstanding

during both years.

B MIEFEARR AL EEEEEE R

WEREEERL B -

14. CONCESSION INTANGIBLE ASSET 14. JHFREFLEE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cost: AN
At 1 April R4A1H 20,667,790 19,990,136
Exchange difference JEH =% (1,372,159) 677,654
At 31 March M3A31H 19,295,631 20,667,790
Accumulated amortisation and At EERRE
impairment:
At 1 April R4A1H 12,483,136 7,755,025
Amortisation for the year IS E 350,309 704,731
Impairment loss for the year NEFERBEER 1,232,395 3,782,162
Exchange difference PE N Z%8 (762,835) 241,218
At 31 March M3A31H 13,303,005 12,483,136
Net carrying amount: BREFE :
At 31 March A3A31H 5,992,626 8,184,654
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14. CONCESSION INTANGIBLE ASSET
(Continued)

(a)

Descriptions of the concession intangible asset

Zhunxing entered into a service concession arrangement
with a PRC local government authority whereby Zhunxing is
required to build the infrastructure of Zhunxing Expressway
and is granted an exclusive operating right for collecting
tolls from vehicles using the Zhunxing Expressway for a
term of 30 years.

According to the relevant government authority’s approval
documents and the relevant regulations, Zhunxing is
responsible for the construction of the toll road and the
acquisition of the related facilities and equipment and it
is also responsible for the operations and management,
maintenance and overhaul of the toll road during the
exclusive operating period. Zhunxing is entitled to operate
the toll road for an exclusive operating period of 30 years
by charging drivers, which amounts are contingent on the
extent that the public uses the expressway. The relevant
toll road assets are required to be returned to the local
government authorities when the exclusive operating period
expires without any compensation to be made to Zhunxing.
As such, the arrangement is accounted for as a concession
intangible asset under Hong Kong (IFRIC) Interpretation 12
“Service Concession Arrangements”.

The right to charge the users of the public service is
recognised as an intangible asset. Zhunxing estimates
the fair value of the intangible asset to be equal to the
construction costs plus certain margin by management
estimation with reference to the market information in
similar industry and management’s experience.

Amortisation of the concession intangible asset started
upon commencement of the operation of the Zhunxing
Expressway on 21 November 2013.

No interest was capitalised to concession intangible asset
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

14. BFEELEE (&)

(a)

TEERRBEEARAE —T_=—FERE

BREETLEESM

o LB AP B3 5 T BT L RS RFRT R
BEo MR B E A S R AR
AEWER TERBRLEENRER
HE RN BEREURITE - A
30 ©

REEBEBTHXLBREER  EHE
BERRUEBBRRKBAERERR
B TEBREEHNAEREERZ
BENER REMBERE - ERA
BEBFMAKEE (SBEIARSER
BZARERE) EEZER  FIFL
EHIRB0F c R RRE IR M
B BRAWEEREERRENTT BN
TEBFT - B 2A B SRS
B FHt - ZLHEREEE (BRYB
BERBEZEE)BE 125 [ IRBRES
BLFIERFHAEETLEEAR -

[ A KRG E R ERE 2 EFIER S E
WEE - EEMAFERIEEZ A FEE
HERBRIANERESZR/UTE
EBBERMAZETHE-

EFE SR NER2013F 11 A21HRBE
Big BB EERBE -

# 220234 N2022%F3A31H IEFE -
B EELEEMERNEERE -
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14. CONCESSION INTANGIBLE ASSET 14. BHAEELEE (B)

(Continued)

(b) Impairment testing of the concession intangible (b) BHAEEFEEZRENR
asset
At the end of each reporting period, management of the REREHAR  BRAEBAKEED
Group tests for impairment of its concession intangible PRELEEBE ASETEEHER

asset because the Group’s Expressway operations segment
incurred ongoing business losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the concession
intangible asset is allocated to Expressway CGU under the
Expressway operations segment.

As disclosed in Note 5(a), revenue and adjusted EBITDA of
Expressway CGU for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022 are as follows:

FIEEEEET TREN -

RBEANAMS  BFAAEELEEES
RERENKEENEETHSERAR
WeELSBM -

AN BT FES(a)FT K B - Bl Z=2023F K&
2022F3ABIALFERBAKBESE
BN 7 W RS AR BT E R
RIFEIT -

Year ended 31 March
B ZE3ASIBLEE

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Revenue Wz 733,580 475,078
Adjusted EBITDA KR BRI E R AT RS 660,393 239,158

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
the recoverable amount of the Expressway CGU has
been determined independently by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited by the value in
use calculation. This calculation uses traffic forecast data
determined by Samuel Wong Consultancy Limited, an
independent traffic consultant, and cash flow projections
based on financial forecasts approved by management
up to the end of the exclusive operating period, taking
into account the actual operating results of the Zhunxing
Expressway during the year.
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14. CONCESSION INTANGIBLE ASSET
(Continued)

e M BRI

—=F=A=4+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

14. SHEELEE ()

(b) Impairment testing of the concession intangible (b) BHAEEFEEZRENR (&)
asset (Continued)
Key assumptions used for the value in use calculation are BEEAEEFMANZIZGEET
as follows:
2023 2022

Remaining exclusive operating period BT B R A 20 years () 21 years (4F)
Discount rate AR 10.87% 10.60%
Average long-term toll revenue growth rate ”1. BRTERLCEHFHRA

over the remaining exclusive operating BITEWRERE

period 4.26% 6.11%
Average toll revenue growth rate for next 20244 £ 20254 (20224

two years from 2024 to 2025 (2022: 2023 FE20244F ) Hig M

2023 to 2024) BT BITERRERE 6.49% 7.70%
Average toll revenue growth rate for the F2026%F (20224 : 20254 ) #

period from 2026 (2022: 2025) to end of ~ EBR& L HEMH T E

exclusive operating period TBEREERE 4.02% 5.95%

The discount rate is a pre-tax measure estimated using the
capital asset pricing model based on the industry average
ratios and the Expressway CGU’s specific risks. The
average toll revenue growth rate was determined based on
the forecast of traffic volume growth.

The management of the Group have assessed the
recoverable amount of the Expressway CGU amounting to
approximately HK$6,197,966,000 (2022: HK$8,394,104,000)
which is lower than its carrying value as at 31 March
20283. As a result, impairment losses of approximately
HK$1,232,395,000 (2022: HK$3,782,162,000) and
HK$26,483,000 (2022: HK$96,787,000) were recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2023 in respect of concession
intangible asset and related property, plant and equipment
(Note 15) respectively on the basis of the expectation of
slowdown of economic growth in the PRC.

At 31 March 2023, the proforma sensitivity analysis on the
potential downside effects arising from 5% increase in the
discount rate and 5% decrease in the average long-term
toll revenue growth rates of Expressway CGU is disclosed
in Note 4(c).

UREAFEAERNEETEBRENBIET
¥ ERERAKREELEEME
TE Rk ﬁﬁZﬁﬁmﬁg F19miTE
WS R EDRIEBEABREE R
EEE

AEEERECDHEREARRASES

A7 R A] U [B] & BE 47 #56,197,966,000
7T (20224F : /& %8,394,104,0007T)

BN H R2023F3A31B MIREE -
B It - A # £2023F3A318 IFF &t
FHREVEERBENDE BE
M (I 5E15) 2 B ER B EBIEL
7 #1,232,395,0007T (20224 : B #
3,782,162,0007T) & 7 #526,483,0007T
(20224F : 7##96,787,0007T) Jh H 7 &
AR R UE TR -

MR2023F3A31H @ BRI K FFA5% K=
RABRBCELEBNZ FHRBBITE
I 2518 & R T BRB%FTEE £ 2 B fE T K
FEBERRES MR T4 EE -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Solar power Furniture,
Other generating Leasehold  machinery and Motor
buildings equipment  improvements equipment vehicles
Ep8e ARNBERE  EENREE 4B BERRE RE

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS000
ETn Ein o Eod 5o L ao

15. M1% - BMER&RE

Communication
Safety ~ andsignaling  Toll collection Construction
Vessels equipment systems equipment  Camellia tree in progress Total
LH 2ERE EARASAE HRE A TRIE it

HK$000 HK$000 HK§000 HKS1000. HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
L9 L g EBTR 8T 8T Enfn TR

COST s

A1 Apr 2021 RRtER1R 403845 103464 14301 182,591 37840 61952 505820 102,662 56,810 2485 141,334 1,584,304
Addtons #E - - - 98 - - - - - - 2016 2943
Disposal & - - - - K] - - - - - - k]
Exchange diference EizZE 16,613 4,265 - 5746 1363 - 20849 420 2342 - 340 55,758
At 31 March 2022 and 1 Apri 2022 420458 107,729 14,301 139,265 39,130 61,952 526,669 107,102 59,152 2,485 143,689 1,642,932
Addtons - m - 853 1924 - - - - - - 3048
Disposal - - (2,520) - - - - - - (2,520
Disposal of a subsidiary - (102,668) - (21 (366) - - - - - - (103.271)
Exchange diference 31,046) 6,3%2) (442) (7.281) 2,69) - (38962) (1.923) 4376) (1,959) 735 (100,754)
At 31 March 2023 HOEIRIA 9412 - 13,859 132,600 35470 61,952 81,700 9,179 54,176 21,52 142,054 1439435
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment: BT ERBE

A1 Apr 2021 HORIERTR 166,08 18,099 14301 15,548 35,503 61952 398829 81,105 4% 2485 141,334 1100710
Charge for the year EERY 1350 5318 - 248 1889 - a0 8380 468 - - 75190
Disposal te - - - - 69 - - - - - - (69
Impaiment loss for the year HEEE 67,655 - - 129 161 - 21848 4443 2551 - 2016 98,803
Exchange diference EiZE 7468 819 - 4500 1267 - 17310 3520 198 - 39 37,156
At 31 March 2022 and 1 Apri 2022 H0EIRS ARANEIFIR 22,53 2421 14,301 122,600 38,751 61,952 479,194 91448 53,608 2,485 143,689 1,311,790
Charge for the year ERRR 7610 1,241 - 245 108 - 2315 5351 295 - - 45,880
Disposel e - - - 2313 - - - - - - 2313
Impeiment lss for te year FEHERE 2,162 - 4% 299 - 2,098 610 30 - - 26,483
Disposal of a subsidiary i ) - (24310) - (221) (288) - - - - - - (24,825)
Exchange diference EfzE 17,578 1,162) (442) (4716) (2,499) - (35,379) (7,195) 3,058) (1,959) 735 (75,622)
At 31 March 2023 HOEIRIA 264,785 - 13,859 119,946 33994 61952 413128 96,214 52975 21,52 142,954 1,281,333
Net carrying amount RERE

At 31 March 2023 HOEIRIA 124527 - - 12,654 1476 - 14519 2,065 1,801 - - 158,102
At 31 March 2022 R00EsRIA 167,927 83498 - 16,665 379 - 47415 9,654 5544 - - 31

Construction in progress mainly represented the construction
costs incurred for petrol and gas stations in the service areas of
Zhunxing Expressway which were not yet available for commercial
use at the end of both reporting periods.

Camellia trees as bearer plant are located in Xingning, the PRC.
For camellia trees as bearer plant, at 31 March 2023, the Group
owned and obtained all the forestry ownership certificates for
approximately 10,278 (2022: 10,278) Chinese Mu of forests of
camellia trees in Xingning with a 50-year term, expiring in 2058.
Camellia trees as bearer plant for refined plant oil were planted in
previous years and had little biological transformation.

PR TR 3 245 1 oK A R R 5 5 HA R A 4
7 3 R i 2 VB B R N B AR TS [ P9 AR DR
U2 FRRBEA o

EREEMEM z FHEARPBEER - 5t
EREEMBEY 2 EBME - K2023F3 731
A AEEEE KIS HEET10,278 (2022
F:10,278) AR Z B MEEE - BH
50%F + FA20584F [Eim o fFBIRZm 2 2t (1E A
EEMEED) DREFEER YREBELEE
e o
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ - BERZE (E&)
(Continued)
Analysis of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment RIFEBRRTINEBHOME - BE RZER
of the following operations at the reporting period end were as HESTWET
follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ok e
Zhunxing Expressway operations HEHEERAREE 128,777 209,116
CNG gas stations operations BRAERARIMRIL & E 7,028 10,505
Other operations HEeiE 22,297 111,521
158,102 331,142
Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment ME- BERRZREZRENR
At the end of each reporting period, relevant property, plant, and REREHR HENYE  BEMNRER
equipment were allocated to the corresponding cash-generating DEIEENREELSEMN  BIEEEFR
units, including the Zhunxing Expressway operations, CNG gas NEEE BRERAARMRUGELMELAME
stations operations, and other operations, for impairment testing BoLETRENS  ARAERFEEDS
due to the Group’s ongoing business losses. B8 o
Zhunxing Expressway operations recognised an impairment loss B = R A BB N E2023F3A31H F
of approximately HK$26,483,000 (2022: HK$98,803,000) for the [E R RE SRR (B /B 18 4978 1£26,483,0007T (2022
year ended 31 March 2023, as further detailed in Note 14(b). F : 7 #098,803,0007T) - #E— S FIE R W T
14(b) °
During the year ended 31 March 2023, management of the B E2023F3A3IAIEFE -AEEHERE
Group conducted an assessment of the construction in progress Epm A AERERGBBESF 2 AET
that were not yet available for commercial use for more than 5 BRETHH UYREAEERIRELERKRELE
years and considered the probability of future economic benefits MW AT g E M - Ak - A8 E£2023F3 A
associated with the construction in progress to be remote, and 1B LEFE - REEARERBENEDRRIE
accordingly, no reversal of impairment was recognised in profit or mHRBMFER - (2022F - BEBEAEBE
loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: impairment loss of 2,016,0007T) °
HK$2,016,000).
On 31 January 2020, the entire CNG gas stations operations were 720201 A318 - Mlﬁﬁiﬁi%ﬁbﬂﬁiﬂi”&
leased to an independent third party for a period of 20 years, BEERETBIE = BH20F KAR
with an income of RMB1.00 million per annum. The recoverable BF AR OOEFﬁJf BRGNSl
amount of the CNG gas stations operations calculated based RUELZARESENERBERKAD
on the present value of total leasing income exceeded carrying IREMBR2023F3A31 8 ZIREE - Bt -
value at 31 March 2023 and accordingly, no impairment loss of L2023 20223 A31IEFE - H L
property, plant and equipment (Note 15) and right-of-use assets MEBEBXARNRUBESEEEMNYE -
(Note 16) allocated to CNG gas stations CGU was recognised in i Kk s (B sE15) A A & & (ffsE16)
the profit or loss for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. BEBEREBRTER -
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EHAEEE
Prepaid
land lease Leased
payments properties Total
EAES HEWE Mt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT T
(Note a) (Note b)
(Hiita) (Htitb)
Cost: RN
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A1H 178,282 5,662 183,944
Exchange difference EHZER 9,042 141 9,183
At 31 March 2022 and 202263 A31H &

1 April 2022 2022F 4 A1H 187,324 5,803 193,127
Addition NE - 5,706 5,706
Early termination IERTAR IE - (3,809) (3,809)
Exchange difference W =& (16,896) (251) (17,147)
At 31 March 2023 A2023FE3H31H 170,428 7,449 177,877
Accumulated depreciation and EiITERFHME :

impairment:

At 1 April 2021 R2021E4 818 88,923 1,718 90,641
Charge for the year FEMRAX 10,865 1,342 12,207
Exchange difference EHZR 4,959 39 4,998
At 31 March 2022 and R2022F3 A31H &

1 April 2022 2022%F4H1H 104,747 3,099 107,846
Charge for the year FEMX 10,131 1,414 11,545
Early termination RATA L - (2,926) (2,926)
Exchange difference M xR (9,580) (102) (9,682)
At 31 March 2023 7A2023F3H31H 105,298 1,485 106,783
Net carrying amount: REFE:

At 31 March 2023 A2023E3H31H 65,130 5,964 71,094
At 31 March 2022 20223 A31H 82,577 2,704 85,281
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- ~ = —
16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 16. EAEEE (&)

Notes: ki

(@)  The Group obtains the land use rights through lease contracts with (@)  AEEFEBEF MG BT A B50F &)
local governments in the PRC with 50 years term. The balance is LG L MERE - BRRRNTBUT
classified as right-of-use assets upon the adoption of HKFRS 16. WEERFE1HRED B AERREE -

()  The Group obtains right to control the use of office and other (o) AEEFBEERBEGER — R EAZEH
properties for a period of time through lease arrangements. Lease MAEREMYERGCOEN - HELHET
arrangements are negotiated on an individual basis and lease terms BIAMEITIER - MABEIN FA1E35F -

ranging from 1 to 3 years.

() Analysis of the carrying amount of right-of-use assets of the 0 MREBEBRRTIWEBHNERREEREES
following operations at the reporting period end were as follows: T -
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
CNG Gas Stations operations EREERARIMAILEE - 5,106
Other operations Hih g iE 71,094 80,175
71,094 85,281
Impairment testing of right-of-use assets EREEEZRENR
At the end of each reporting period, relevant right-of-use assets REREMRR HETHEEEE B EE
were allocated to corresponding cash generating units for MR ESEESA  UEREAS - BREBR&®
impairment testing. Based on the impairment assessment of CNG SHARBHERAARNRUMEERSEEEN
gas stations CGU at the reporting period end, no impairment loss ZRERE - BB E2023F K£2022F3 H31
was recognised for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. AItFERRBREREEEZ T - 8 £2023
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, management FR2022F3A3IBIEFE - AEEERED
of the Group conducted an assessment of the prepaid lease BREAALBRLHMRTHEZTEHE -
payments for plantation of agricultural, forage products and HEEREMRBEERLNE ((HMBER
forestry (the “Other Operations CGU”") through a market REEEEN]) WBENHESETIM - Bt
research on the current market prices of the comparable land W AR GRE IR AE L RE -

and accordingly, no impairment was made in the consolidated
financial statements.
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17. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 17. £ EE

Seedlings Standing trees Total
BHE BEY®A Mt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT
At 1 April 2021 R20214F4A18 205 79,615 79,840
Plantation expenditure incurred EEXZEBERY 115 602 717
Disposal during the year FAHE - (2,439) (2,439)

Change in fair value less N EEZEREEKRA

costs to sell - 3,098 3,098
Exchange difference MEHZR 11 3,299 3,310
At 31 March 2022 and 202263 A31H &

1 April 2022 2022F 4 A1H 351 84,175 84,526
Plantation expenditure incurred EEZEEAY 108 339 447
Disposal during the year FALE - (484) (484)
Change in fair value less N EEEERBEEKRR

costs to sell - (25,770) (25,770)
Exchange difference W EXE (26) (4,649) (4,675)
At 31 March 2023 A2023FE3H31H 433 53,611 54,044
(a) Description of the Group’s biological assets (a) AEEEYEENGLR

Standing trees and seedlings are located in Dabu, the PRC.

For standing trees, at 31 March 2023, the Group owned
and obtained all the forestry ownership certificates for
approximately 82,817 (2022: 82,817) Chinese Mu of forests
of standing trees in Dabu with 50 years’ term, expiring
in 2057. The standing trees were stated at fair value less

costs to sell at both 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Seedlings are carried at cost less any impairment loss. The
directors of the Company considered that little biological
transformation has taken place since initial cost incurrence.
The cost of these seedlings is therefore not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2023 and

2022 as determined by the directors of the Company.
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17. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

Description of the Group’s biological assets
(Continued)

In additional to the financial risk management as disclosed
in Note 37, the Group is exposed to the following
operational risks relating the biological assets:—

(0

(i)

(iii)

Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
PRC in which it operates. The Group has established
environmental policies and procedures aimed at
compliance with local environment and other laws.
Management will perform regular reviews to identify
environmental risks and to ensure that the systems in
place are adequate to manage those risks.

Supply and demand risks

The Group is exposed to risks arising from
fluctuations in the price and sales volume of log. The
Group’s forestlands are maintained for the purpose of
providing stable source of raw materials to the Group
to produce particleboards for sale. Where possible
the Group will align harvest volume to its production
schedule so as to ensure continuous production of
particleboards.

Climate and other natural risks

The Group’s biological assets are exposed to the risk
of damage from climate changes, diseases, forest
fires and other natural forces. The Group has adopted
different measures aimed at monitoring and mitigating
those risks, including regular forest inspections by
setting up forest patrol team.

17. £V EE (8)
(a) AEBEYEEHEL(E)

BRET 7R B M B E R EEIN - K
SEEmMEATRBEYEERBNIRE
[

() EEANRZRR

AEEFETHELHMAENTE
HOERER - RERT A B
BEREMER AEBECEYR
BHREMEF -BEEKTEHE
TEE - AHRIIRE & R IR
RERGRADERELRAR

(i)  HRE R

AEEERARAY ERMEE
ERPMELNRAR AKED
ML 5 R R E R R
KR - AEERHIEENZEAR -
EARENERT  NEESHE
RAREAR A EER B - AHER
PAMOFELE -

(iii) TIRRE M E AR

AEEWEYEEE KRB RKR
B KR RN REME
ANENBERR AEBEDK
HR % T 4 6 A BB R ORUE 35 L2
B BREEBRARMCEBE
TERHRMBRE -
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17. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

(b)

Measurement of fair value

The fair value of the Group’s standing trees was
independently valued by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal
Limited (2022: LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited) (the
“Valuer”). After due consideration of the experience and
credentials of valuers, the directors of the Company are
satisfied that the valuers are competent to determine the
valuation of the Group’s biological assets. The directors
are of the opinion that valuers are independent from the
directors of the Company.

The fair value of standing trees is categorised into level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

Fair value measurement of standing tree

The valuers have adopted the market approach in its
valuation by using the current market price per unit
cubic meter (“cu.m”) of similar round logs and the total
merchantable volume of timber in the forest at 31 March
2023 and 2022 as basis for estimating the fair value less
costs to sell of the Group’s standing trees. The principal
assumptions adopted are as follows:

- the Group is to produce round logs; and

- the factors of natural defects in the wood such as
physical defects, rots and directions of grain have
been allowed for a recovery rate of 70% for the

valuation.

Significant unobservable inputs

17. EWEE ()

(b)

APEEHE

AEBEIHANAFEEH RS
N AR DR (20224 « MEEITHE
Eﬁi*ﬁﬁﬁ/ a) ([fE{ERm]) ETEEE -
Sl %)ﬂé@ﬁﬁiﬁﬁi«%ﬁ&%ﬂ_'$@

TW%%( NEEMAEREEAEER
i%ﬁﬁmﬁ@ EERAMGEMBT
RARRES -
BEYBAKHAFTEESEAFEIEQF
BEBR -

YRR A FEENE

HEMEGEFRAMSHE  EAR
2023%F NM202243A31 BB M E KR EF
SMAK(TLAR]) BB ITTHRER
LEIMPRHAM A HEBE  (FARE
AEBEVHARFEERBEEXN A2
i WM EZ/EBLOT ¢

- FAEESLEERAN: R

- AMFERBEAREREER HIWE
ER BaRSUERFHED
B70%H B K -

EXRTTEESH

Input value/range

WAE HE
2023 2022
Price of round logs per cubic meter T KEIARERS RMB349 to RMB525 to
RMB715 RMB890
AR¥349TE AR50
ARBT15T AR #B8907T
Recovery rate 5] U & 70.0% 70.0%
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17. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Measurement of fair value (Continued)

Fair value measurement of standing tree (Continued)
The higher the price of round logs, the higher the fair value
of the standing trees. The higher the recovery rate, the

higher the fair value of the standing trees.

There was no change to the valuation techniques for
standing trees during the year.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s biological assets at as 31 March
2023 and 2022.

17. EWEE ()

(b)

(c)

AFRE R (R

B #AH A FREEHE ()

B E B iR - IE ST AR AT B
BB BB - AETB AL
AT EETHES -

FAR-BIBANBED AL ELE -

IRBEEER

TERRERT AEEE Z=2023F3A31H
K2022F3A3IBAEMEENAREE
BIEER -

Fair value measurement categorised into

ARBEAIESE
Fair value
less costs
to sell Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AREE
SRR £/ KB =B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BET T
Group recurring fair value REFELEN
measurement: AREEAIE :
As at 31 March 2023 B Z2023F3A31H
— biological assets —EYEE 53,611 - - 53,611
As at 31 March 2022 HE2022F3A31H
- biological assets —EYEE 84,175 - - 84,175

The fair value less costs to sell of the Group’s biological
assets at 31 March 2023 and 2022 have been determined
based on Level 3 fair value measurement. There were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3. In determining the fair value less costs to sell
of the Group’s biological assets, the highest and best use
of the biological assets is their current use.

TEERRBEEARAE —T_=—FERE

#H E20234F M202243A31H » KEH
EMEEMNRABERERERAEKS
“EARBEISRTE REEE—E
HME—BEAESR IAREZEHAN
HEHNER EREAEBEMEED
ARABEBRELERAR  £WEEN
BEefxERREEAR -
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17. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) 17. £ PEE (88)
(d) Sensitivity analysis on changes in material (d FHELFEZEANERBAREES
inputs used in the valuation techniques are as ZHBESWWT :
follows:
Standing trees as at 31 March 2023 BV AKR202343531H
Changes on the price of Increased Decreased
round logs per cubic meter BIYFKEREEES by 10% by 10%
#10% H210%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T
Increase/(decrease) in fair value AN EEEMN, CRD) 5,364 (5,364)
Increased Decreased
Changes on the recovery rate 5] Uy = & B by 5% by 5%
¥ IN5% BWA5%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T EEE T
Increase/(decrease) in fair value A EEE M, CR D) 2,682 (2,682)
Standing trees as at 31 March 2022 BV BIARR2022F3H31H
Changes on the price of Increased Decreased
round logs per cubic meter BIUFKEAREREH by 10% by 10%
¥ 1010% HWA10%
HK$'000 HK$’'000
BT T BEE T
Increase/(decrease) in fair value AFEEEMN, CRD) 15,305 (13,324)
Increased Decreased
Changes on the recovery rate 5] 4R =R & B by 5% by 5%
1 IN5% BWA5%
HK$’000 HK$'000
AT BEET T
Increase/(decrease) in fair value ANFEEEM CRd) 6,013 (6,013)
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 18. RAFEEFAEZ2UBE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS E
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETT

Non-current financial assts designated BEBREZEAABEITEN

at fair value through profit or loss ERBEMEE
Unlisted equity investments: I EmRARE
Inner Mongolia Berun New Energy AEHERAEERERAF
Company Limited* (N 5 & 88 #7788 (18R ]) (@), b))
JRABR AR (‘Berun”) (Notes (a), (b)) 25,092 23,895
AR HFAILEERERRDER AR A H AR E B G
(Note (a)) BIRAR (Hit(a) 96,539 91,565
121,631 115,460

Notes: Krat -

(@)  The unlisted equity securities represent investment in equity (@ FELMRABHFEERREKILIREE 2L
securities issued by private entities established and operate in the BEEAMETIRABHFRE HEEFHHE
PRC, which were classified as financial assets at fair value through RBBBERRAABEASIMEEE -
profit or loss.

(o) At 31 March 2023, the Group’s 15.2% equity investment in Berun (o)  HR2023F3A31H  REBRIFIR 215.2%%
with a fair value of HK$25,092,000 (2022: HK$23,895,000) was TG E 2 AP EE A 1525,092,0007T (2022
pledged to a bank as security for the Group’s borrowings as 4 ¢ 75 #23,895,0007T) - EE W T #HRIT - A
referred to in Note 27(b)()). ERMZE27T O)()FTE A EEBE ZERm -

() Details of the fair value measurement of these financial assets are (0 ZEUBEEMNATEEAEFBINTX

disclosed in Note 37(f) below. M EES7(f) °
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

164

Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 and

2022 are set out below.

19. T EME QT

Proportion of ownership interest

R2023K2022F3A31H » TEMBERAE 2 F
BN DT -

FrRRRELA
Place of
incorporation Form of Registered Held by the Held by a Attributable

Name and operation legal entity Capital Company subsidiary to the Group Principal activity

£ EMEIRESRY FEERKA ifEx  ARREAKE ANELERA FRERSE IEEH
% % %

Inner Mongolia Zhunxing The PRC Sino foreign Renminbi (‘RMB) - 86.87 8687 Zhunxing Expressway and
Heavy Haul Expressway joint equity 2,5613,920,600 (2022: 86.87) (2022:86.87)  auxiliary facility investment,
Company Limited enterprise (2022: operations, management and
(‘Zhunxing’) (Note (i) RMB2,513,920,600) maintenance

NELERESRRLR  E maERE  AR¥2513920,6007 EESRABREEREL
EREERRA(ER]) (2022 \EH hE 28 BERME

2,513.920,6007C)

Inner Mongolia Zhunxing The PRC Wholly owned RMB10,000,000 - 100 86.87 Construction and operation of
Expressway Service Areas domestic (2022: (2022: 100) (2022:86.87)  petrol and gas stations and
Management Company enterprise RMB10,000,000) service areas of Zhunxing
Limited (‘Zhunxing Expressway
Expressway Service’)

(Note (i)

nEEEEREREEEE T8 NEBALE AR %10,000,0007 BRREEEARRRKL
EREALA(RARE (2022: AR manEEREHBE
1) 10,000,0007)

Leshan Zhongshun Oiland ~ The PRC Wholly owned RMB32,800,000 - 100 100 Operations of GNG gas stations
Gas Company Limited domestic (2022: (2022: 100) (2022: 100)

(‘Leshan Zhongshun') enterprise RMB32,800,000)
(Note (i)

Flih BRI TERAT hE NEBELE AR#32,8000007 BEEERARNES
([BE)) (2002: ARE

32,800,0007C)

RmERRRE The PRC Wholly owned RMB10,000,000 - 100 100 Investment and asset
domestic (2022: (2022: 100) (2022:100)  management
enterprise RMB10,000,000)

hE NEBALE AR 100000007 REREEER
(2002: ARE
10,000,0007z)

BARECRU)ERRE  ThePRC Wholly foreign RMB43,773,025 - 100 100 Timber log trading and sale of
owned (2022: (2022: 100) (2022 100)  fumiture and handicrafts
enterprise RMBA43,773,026)

G MEEEL)K ARH43,773,00570 A BRI REERER
(2022: AR FIlgn
43,773,02571)

BARE(KB)EBLE  ThePRC Wholly foreign RMB102,175,000 - 100 100 Forest operation, fimber logging
owned (2022: (2022: 100) (2022:100)  and tree plantation
enterprise RMB102,175,000)

aléi NEBARE ARE102,175,0007 INEE  HARER
(2002 AR
102,175,0007c)
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 19. T E B2 7 (&)
Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 and MR2023%2022F3A31H * T EWBAF] 27+
2022 are set out below. (Continued) BEIAT o
Proportion of ownership interest
FEgRELA

Place of

incorporation Form of Registered Held by the Held by a Attributable
Name and operation legal entity Capital Company subsidiary to the Group Principal activity
1 AMRUREERY EREEFS iftEx  ARRARE  BRELRES FRERSE IEEH

% % %

BABREE(RS) The PRC Wholly foreign RMB4,721,500 - 100 100 Plantation and trading of

ERAT owned (2022: (2022: 100) (2022:100)  seedings
enterprise RMB4,721,500)
hE NEBELE ARH4,721,5007 HEEEREEES
(2002: ARE
4,721,5007L)
ABPAREBRAF The PRC Wholly owned RMB30,000,000 - 100 100 Production and sale of plant-oi
domestic (2022: (2022 100) (2022: 100)
enterprise RMB30,000,000)
H NEBALE AR 30,000,000 FREERBE
(2002 NRH
30,000,0007L.)

Ar Horgin Banner Xinze The PRC Wholly foreign RMB68,000,000 - 100 100 Growing and sales of forage and
Agricultural & Animal owned (2022: (2022:100) (2022:100)  agricultural products
Husbandry Company enterprise RMB68,000,000)

Limited (‘Xinze") (Note (i) ‘ ‘

WERBLERERNE  HE NEBELE AR 68,000,007 HEREEREERKE
BRAA (&) (2022 : NRH

68,000,0007C)
REDERMERERAA  ThePRC Wholly owned RMB100,000,000 - - - Operations of solar power station
(Notefii) domestic (2022: (2022: 100) (2022: 100)
enterprise RMB100,000,000)
mE NEBELE AR%100,000,0007 BERGEEER
(20021 ARE
100,000,0007c)

Red Sino Investments Limited  BVI Limited liability UsD100 - 60 60 Investment holding
(‘Red Sino’) company (2022: USD100) (2022: 60) (2022: 60)

TEREERAFAE]) ZERLES EREALA 10057 RERR

(2022 : 100%T0)

Notes: et

0] The above table includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, 0] EREEARFEERHNEFAHAEEZ
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected EERREAYESRNRERRBRAEE
the results of the Group for the year or formed a substantial portion BERBBEXENBHDIARAMBARF - &K
of the assets and liabilities of the Group at the end of the reporting REEERR  HIHEMKE R ZFHER
period. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion BHANRBRILE °
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

(i) The summary of financial information of Zhunxing and Red Sino is (ii) MR A S E R E RN AR A M ISRk

disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. P 5E36H #5775 -

(i) The subsidiary was disposed on 20 June 2022. (i) B ARIR2022F6 4208 HE -

(iv)  The English translation of the company names is for reference only. (v RAREENEXHZEHSE FLEEN

The official names of these entities are in Chinese. ERBTBUARARE -
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20. INVENTORIES 20.

(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:

FE

(a) REEUBRRERNEFERE:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Raw materials R R 26 28
Finished goods SUPK i 59 65
85 93

An analysis of the Group’s inventories at the reporting
period and was categorised as follows:

AEERBEHANFED T BNT

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Forage products WEE S 26 28
Others Hh 59 65
85 93

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories

(b) BRABMIAUFTFAGREBEBERNGT

recognised as an expense and included in ESHEINUOT :
consolidated statement of profit or loss is as
follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT IT
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA 484 2,525
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

21. ESEWERR

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BEET I

Trade receivables =00 TN 1,228,642 794,363
Less: Provision for impairment loss BB EEEEE (28,982) (7,477)
1,199,660 786,886

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally two months, extending up
to six months for major debtor. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing.

On 15 April 2021, the Supreme People’s Court of Inner Mongolia
Municipality ordered the Ministry of Transport of the PRC to
withheld the Group’s toll road income receivables as security
for the other overdue bank borrowings together with accrued
interests, up to a maximum amount of RMB8,838,000,000.

Pursuant to a court order issued by the Intermediate People’s
Court of Inner Mongolia Municipality (the “Inner Mongolia
Intermediate Court”), as at 31 March 2023, the Inner Mongolia
Intermediate Court ordered to release a aggregate amount of
RMB539,150,000 for the partial repayment of liabilities, the
purpose of working capital and operation of expressway of the
Group.

B EPAEARMNNKEN AEEEREE
PZzBRBREIBZUNEERRNET - EEH
—RAMEA TREBAMNAERERS
NEA -BREFHEEELR - AKEEXK
N8 E R D 2 U R TR A B AR AR )
REEEEEHMUABEERBRRE&KE -
SRERETH R alss - E5EKER
KTEE e

20214150 - AEH BARERARZER
ML PREBERSDINE RSB ERKE
NEEW A - VBB H i BR IR 17 5 3% R JE R F
BEMER  &=o oA A R%S,838,000,000
T o

BEARASTEARPFBARZER ((REHH
WoEBR ) BHE AR TS 0 B £2023%F3 A
A AEEHRBEERG LB ELBEARE
539,150,0007 ' S AR EEER - 1EAE
BESRAEETRAKEE o
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21. EZRWRA (&)

R|EHRR REZAHRNBRBEEEEN
5 RYER RO RE DT

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, and net of loss
allowance, are as follow:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
1-30 days 1230k 44,196 55,843
31-60 days 31E60XK 41,422 17,530
61-90 days 61%E90K 42,171 36,980
Over 90 days B B0K 1,071,871 676,533
1,199,660 786,886

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade B SRBERTREBEREZSHNT

receivables are as follow:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
At beginning of year F9) 7,477 7,181
Impairment loss REEE 22,005 -
Exchange difference PE N Z%8 (500) 296
At the end of year FR 28,982 7,477

The Group’s trade receivables are denominated in RMB.
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

23.

22, FEHFE - ke R HMEWRE

RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Prepayments TER FRIE 19,165 17,895
Deposits Bioacia 50 1,908
Other loan receivables H i EWE R - 66,270
Other receivables Eofth fE 5 1E 90,803 153,421
Impairment allowance VERI=RE L] (27,003) (176,221)
83,015 63,273
Management assesses the expected loss allowance of deposits EEEEMNFEEe MEMEWRIE B
and other receivables on an individual basis. The expected credit EEEE EHEEEBEEDIZ2ERARANSE
losses are assessed with reference to the credit status of the B R REGENTFROES AR

recipients and the past due status of doubtful debtors.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of deposits
and other receivables are as follow:

1T -

me MAMRKRIRRERERERSHMNT

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

At beginning of year F9) 176,221 252,826
Impairment loss VEREYSEiE] 22,830 -

Reversal of impairment Ve RIERCAE] - (83,043)

Write-back of impairment upon write-off of ~ H th & U T8 & i 4 1%

other receivables pERIENEIEE: (162,986) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—MEHBRR (806) -
Exchange difference PE 3 =% (8,256) 6,438
At the end of year FR 27,003 176,221

AMOUNT DUE FROM NON-
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER OF A
SUBSIDIARY

Amount due from non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

23. R —BEARZFERRK

RARE

Y — M BB 2 IFE

PR ER BROR A M AR

2B RBRERESR -
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25.

170

]
HE-_Z-_=F=HF=+—HI-%FZ For the year ended 31 March 2023

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24. BERBASEEY

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Cash and bank balances Be RRITET 17,772 41,398

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short-term time deposits were made for varying
periods depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earned interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates.

As at 31 March 2023, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately HK$17,742,000
(2022: HK$40,753,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

OTHER PAYABLES

RITASBBEEARTERMNEZZBHH X
DA E - RFAEBEZBRSFRME -
RHERFERIRNTRBARMEL - LIRBH
2 58 B E BT SN R BRER A B,

HZE2023F3A31H  AEEUARBIED
e RIRTTH L BB 17,742,0007T (2022
& 1 B #40,753,0007T) ° A R a2 5 5N EE
FEEPBENIINEES FHEF RINELE - H
EML AT EBIEH -

25. e RIE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Construction costs payable JERT R A 1,965,518 2,238,135
Retention and guarantee deposits RE RRERE 148,294 158,601
Accrued and default interest on the bank and 1T R EMEE 7 B F B KED
other borrowings B 3,348,392 3,425,491
Accrued default interest on non-convertible ] A& 5 2 FEETE LR B
bonds (Note 28) (Htzt28) 1,414,890 1,184,600
Other deposits and accruals Hibize RESTER 294,145 287,920
Refundable earnest monies received from the WHLE B FCZ AliR A E &
Purchaser C (Note) (H7aE) 256,633 273,579
7,427,872 7,568,326

Note:

On 30 December 2016, the Group and Hohhot Huizehang Investment Co.,
Ltd* (RSB AIER E AR 5T AF) (‘Purchaser C”) entered into a
conditional agreement for the disposal of 18% equity interest in Zhunxing,
pursuant to which, during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019,
Purchaser C paid RMB80,000,000 and RMB145,000,000 to the Group
as refundable earnest monies, respectively. These refundable earnest
monies of approximately HK$256,633,000 (2022: HK$273,579,000) will
be refundable by the Group to Purchaser C if the disposal transaction was
not proceeded.
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26. PROMISSORY NOTE

On 9 February 2010, the Company issued promissory note, with
principal value of HK$280,000,000, to China Alliance International
Holding Group Limited (“China Alliance”).

The promissory note is unsecured and repayable by 14 quarterly
instalments of HK$20,000,000 each with interest accrued thereon
payable on the last day of every three months after the issue
of the promissory note. The promissory note bears coupon
interests at 1.5% per annum payable quarterly. The Company
may, by giving prior written notice to the noteholder, repay in
whole or in part the outstanding promissory note (in multiples of
HK$20,000,000) at any time and from time to time after the date
of issue of the promissory note.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group defaulted on
repayment of the principal and interest.

Pursuant to the promissory note agreement, the promissory
note holder was entitled to demand immediate repayment of any
outstanding principal and accrued coupon interest. As a result,
the carrying amount of promissory note plus accrued coupon
interest of approximately HK$285,000,000 was classified under
current liabilities since 31 March 2011.

On 23 May 2012, the Group and the promissory note holder
signed a supplemental agreement pursuant to which the
repayment terms of the promissory note were extended and
the Group was required to pay a default interest at 0.05% per
day (equivalent to annual interest rate of 18.25%) based on the
outstanding principal amount and accrued coupon interest.

On 16 April 2019, the promissory note, together with the accrued
and default interests, was extinguished and replaced by new
promissory note of approximately HK$683,348,000, which are
unsecured and bearing coupon interest at 5% per annum. The
new promissory note, including the outstanding principal amount
and total accrued interest, will be repayable on 15 April 2024.

Up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group are still negotiating with the promissory

note holder for the renewal or extension of the promissory note.

The effective interest rate is 5% (2022: 5%).

26. A E#E

MR2010F 2898 « A Q&M 8 BB IZE K
EEERAA([FB)BETASAEBE
280,000,0007T K 24 -

EANZEEAERE WEASUHEETBE
20,000,0007T {8 3 « & 2 & 5 B Bl 78 1 &
NEEETES=ZEAZxE— iiﬁﬁoﬁk
NEBERZEEREFE15% TR  SFTAERH
BAEASN ARQE A RANZERTH
BHEEMTREBANEEFAEAZNELSE
ERA - BERIRIBHAEE AN EE
(3% 7 #20,000,0007T 2 fZ &) -

HE2011F3AMHIEFE  AEBHREER
e RFIE -

BEBEANERHE - %m%ﬁ%ﬁ/\*ﬁ%g
iﬁﬂﬁ%fés‘%fﬂiﬁif@f%@ZKi&Eﬁ?ﬁ o

;%H;‘T‘eiﬁa’]ﬁ%ﬁ@bu}%ﬁ?ﬁZW%/M%
285 000,0007T * H2011F3A31B 5 E A
//|L§b§1§°

PR2012F5A23H - AE B EHANEEFE
AT T - B A B 2 (EE
PR JE T K ZS%ZE?&%&%%%ZX%%E&F&‘
FTREREH005%ZME (HERFH X
18.25%) XATE X FI S o

MR2019F4 5168 » & E & #E R fE T &
BHFNNEE TEE YHASBEOREE
683,348,0007T 2 # A REENN, - i # AT
SR AEEIR LT F R ER5%ME S o Fk
NEE (BEREERNSENMEF ST
JAM2024F 4158 B -

BEGAMBRERIL AR AEBEER
ENRBERFEARENREBENE KT RE
TR °

FERFEF R E5% (20226F : 5%) °
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26. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued) 26. AR (&)
HK$’000
BT T
At 1 April 2021 M202144 818 750,372
Set off by share subscription (Note 30) 58 A B 1) R (B 2£30) (618,697)
Interest expense charged BT 17,576
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 202243 A31H 202244 A1 0 149,251
Repayment B (34,895)
Interest expense charged FE X H 5,452
At 31 March 2023 7A2023F3H31H 119,808
27. BORROWINGS 27. B8
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Bank borrowings RITIEE 10,534,288 11,497,127
Other borrowings HmEE 484,666 494,069
11,018,954 11,991,196
(a) At 31 March 2023, borrowings of the Group were repayable (@ H2023F3A31H AKBEZEEAR
as follows: AT FEIEE -
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within 1 year or on demand —FRRIEEK 2,226,465 1,869,927
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERFA 658,177 626,361
After 2 years but within 5 years MERERFA 2,359,436 2,393,767
After 5 years AF& 5,774,876 7,101,141
8,792,489 10,121,269
Total borrowings EE®EE 11,018,954 11,991,196
Less: Current portion of borrowings due &l : I —FRE|HEENEEN
for repayment within one year B ER 2,226,465 1,869,927
Non-current portion of borrowings subject 5 BIEF 3% 5k (82 (R TR R &9
to immediate demand repayment clause  EE R ZERE o 8,792,489 10,121,269
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27. BORROWINGS (Continued)

()

27. 68 (&)

At 31 March 2023, borrowings of the Group were secured (b) M2023%E3A31H @ N&EEE E R KT
and guaranteed as follows: NERET

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 BT T BEET I
Secured and guaranteed BHEAR LB ER (i 10,561,288 11,497,127
Unsecured and guaranteed mEERBER (il 457,666 494,069
11,018,954 11,991,196

Notes:

(i

(i)

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the secured borrowings of
the Group, together with the interest accrued thereon, were
secured by (a) Zhunxing’s rights to receive of toll income of
the Zhunxing Expressway; (b) the Group’s equity interests
in Berun with a fair value of approximately HK$25,092,000
(2022: HK$23,895,000) (Note 18); (c) the equity interests
in Zhunxing Expressway Service; (d) the equity interests in
Zhunxing; and (e) certain assets of Zhunxing.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the borrowings of the
Group were also guaranteed by (a) the Company; (b) a
non- controlling shareholder of Zhunxing; and (c) Zhunxing.

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the unsecured borrowings of
the Group were guaranteed by (a) the Company; and (b) a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The Group’s available banking facilities as at 31 March
2023 amounted to approximately HK$10,989,954,000
(2022: HK$11,989,196,000), all of which approximately
HK$10,989,954,000 (2022: HK$11,989,196,000) has been
utilised.

Mt

0] R20234F K202243H31H - AL EH B K
S EE R B F 2 () B UEUE 5 R
REBITERAZERN A EERIFERA
FEEH A B 125,092,0007T (20224 : &
23,895,000t ) 2 B4 (Mi7E18) & (o) E iR
RIS E 2 B « ()FA /B 2 R ¢ R (e)fE L
ZETEERF -

B E2023%F K2022F3A31H  NEE 2 &
B R@AN AR (o) Sz FFERARR : K()
AEELELR o

(i)  F2023%F K20226F3A31H ' REE 7 &K
HEEHREAAAE  ROARAR—B2EH
BARFTER -

(i)  AEER2023F3AN BN EARITREN AS
#10,989,954,0007T (20224F : 7 #11,989,196,000

T0) B2 H 75 1510,989,954,0007T (20224F ¢
75111,989,196,0007T) B /EEH A ©
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27. BORROWINGS (Continued) 27.
(b)  (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(iv) All bank and other borrowings were overdue and default and
were all classified under current liabilities as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.
V) For the year ended 31 March 2023, the effective interest

rates of the Group’s bank loans at 7.21% (2022: 7.42%) per
annum.

() At 31 March 2023, borrowings of the Group were

BE (&)
L) (&)
Bzt : ()

(v FIBERTTREMA

BB HIEL

R E £22023F K2022F3A318 # 5

BRRBAE-

(v)  EHZE2023F3A31RILFE - AEBEZ
BITERNEBRENERETF7.21%

(20224 : 7.42%) ©

€) # ZE2023F3A31HEBHNEZIATI

denominated as follows: BE®E
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
RMB AR 10,989,954 11,989,196
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK Dollars”) 78 ([## |) 29,000 2,000
11,018,954 11,991,196

174 china Resources and Transportation Group Limited Annual Report 2023




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRI

HE-_Z-_=%F=H=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

28. NON-CONVERTIBLE BONDS

28. FAHRESH

20234 202293 A31H « R E 4 K ARD

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of the non-
convertible bonds (including the principals and the accrued default
interests), which remain in default and became immediately
repayable, are as below:

B (R 40T A X R 5 (B A R B EHE A
FlB) ZEEENT

Principal Coupon Carrying Default
amounts interests amounts interest
K& EEAL REE EHARE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
(Note 25)
(HiaE25)

31 March 2023 M2023%F3A31H
Bond A BEHA 500,000 19,295 519,295 178,457
Bond B E4B 500,000 45,083 545,083 174,779
Bond C f&%C 832,000 2,468 834,468 290,010
Bond D E%D 1,500,000 182,556 1,682,556 526,489
Bond E (L= 700,000 114,246 814,246 245,155
4,032,000 363,648 4,395,648 1,414,890

31 March 2022 202293 A31H
Bond A BEHA 500,000 19,295 519,295 151,251
Bond B E%4B 500,000 45,083 545,083 146,222
Bond C f&%C 832,000 2,468 834,468 246,292
Bond D fE%D 1,500,000 182,556 1,682,556 438,339
Bond E fE5HE 700,000 114,246 814,246 202,496
4,032,000 363,648 4,395,648 1,184,600

(a)  Mr. Cao Zhong, former executive director of the Company, @ ARAFATESEREEDRESFA

has provided personal guarantees to the holders of Bond A
and Bond B as to the due performance of all the obligations
of the two bonds. Mr. Cao Zhong has resigned on 28
October 2021.

In accordance with the bond instruments (as amended by
their respective subsequent amendment agreements, as
appropriate), in the events of defaults in the payment of any
sum due and payable thereon these bonds, the Group shall
be liable to pay default interest to these bondholders from
due date to the date of actual payment in full calculated at
the prime lending rate, as quoted by The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited on a daily basis,
accruing on these carrying amounts of approximately
HK$4,395,648,000 in default.

TEERRBEEARAE —T_=—FERE

MEHFBZEBEAREZERITMERS
ZERMETREBEEALER  ERELES
R2021F10 528 H BHT ©

REEHFTA(EEAERERBER
£l (M&@E) HaBX&FES
ZAEABIE R BN IR - REEARZ
EE KN ERE B 48 %4,395,648,0007T
BREELBESRITERARES MK
ZEBENEXAZFEFFEAXINA
AP REERMNRB S 2 MEZ
KRB
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES 2. HEEE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of THRETAEEBEEBEN B AT BT RS
the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous HARZHB T AR HER

reporting periods:

2023 2022
Present Present
value value
of the Total of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REHAE REHEE RERE RIEHEE
NTRBRE TR R E BB X
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BETTT BETT

Within 1 year —FR 1,158 1,436 1,064 1,193
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERFER 1,042 1,272 15 93
After 2 years but within 5 years M EEERFER 2,206 2,728 52 278
After 5 years hFi& 1,876 4,217 1,852 4,739
5,124 8,217 1,919 5,110
6,282 9,653 2,983 6,303
Less: total future interest B RRF B AR
expenses (3,371) (8,320)
Present value of lease liabilites FEBEZRE 6,282 2,983
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities ranged HAREEABEMSEERF=EER4.45%
from 4.45% to 5.64% (2022: from 4.45% to 5.64%). £5.64% (20224 : 4.45%%5.64%) °
At 31 March 2023, lease liabilities of the Group were denominated HE2023F3A3THEBEMNHEERENTIE
as follows: MaEE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
RMB AREE 6,282 2,362
HK Dollars B - 621
6,282 2,983
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

30. R4

Number of
shares Amount
B& 7 k-]
Notes ’000 HK$'000
Bt T % BT T
Ordinary shares HK$0.20 each SREEE0.20TZ
ZER
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR
As at 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A1H 7,442,396 1,488,479
Issue of ordinary share under RIERERREITEBER 2
subscription agreement (Note a) izt (B sta) 1,480,000 296,000
Issue of ordinary share under RIBEBE ML BEET b)
debt capitalisation agreement (Note b) & EAZ %7 (K 5Eb) 1,613,484 322,697
Issue of ordinary share under RIFERETEETER )
share option scheme (Note c) AR A& 17 (BT #Ec) 108,213 21,643
As at 31 March 2022, B E2022F3A31H »
1 April 2022 and 2022F4A1A &
31 March 2023 2023%3H31H 10,644,093 2,128,819
Notes: e
(@) On 1 June 2021, the Company and the noteholder entered into a (a) R2021E6 A1H - AR FHEEZEA A

subscription agreement under which the Company agreed to issue
and allot and the noteholder agreed to subscribe, 1,480,000,000
new shares at the subscription price of HK$0.20 per subscription
share. The subscription was completed on 18 June 2021. The
subscription consideration was applied to set off against the
promissory note with the carrying amount of HK$296,000,000.
Accordingly, no cash proceeds were received by the Company from
the share subscription. Details of the subscription were disclosed in
announcements of the Company dated 1 June 2021 and 18 June
2021.

On 1 December 2021, the Company and the noteholders entered
into a debt capitalisation agreement under which the Company
agreed to issue and allot and the noteholder agreed to subscribe,
1,613,484,265 new shares at the subscription price of HK$0.20
per subscription share. The subscription was completed on 28
December 2021. The subscription consideration was applied to
set off against the Promissory note with the carrying amount of
approximately HK$322,697,000. Accordingly, no cash proceeds
were received by the Company from the share subscription. Details
of the above were set out in the Company’s announcement dated
1 December 2021, 2 December 2021, 15 December 2021 and 28
December 2021.

On 3 December 2021, a total of 108,212,950 share options were
granted at the exercise price of HK$0.20 per share and all the
share options were exercised on 28 December 2021.

TEERRBEEARAE —T_=—FERE

REBAATDEKERZEZF KRBT
1,480,000,0000% ¥7 % 15 - FAXRIE IR 1D RIE
BABB020TFI RN IHh#  BREAE
#296,000,0007T 32 f# % 17 B 7202166 418
HREZERBETTFERSBA - RERERAR
A Z 4R R £ 585 %296,000,0007T °
At ARRTEEBRNHREFEBES I
o ZRBHFBRN AR F B E A2021F6
A18 k202156 A18H K Affi o

R2021F 12818 - ARRIEZEEBRFE A
AV BEBERNEHE Bl KRR B GKYE
RAERZERET MEBEFBEAGKGR
EWRHEA £1,613,484,265M # % 1D - RE
BAESRABERM BB - REEHED
R2021F12H28H T - RIEFEH 2= 2
RECAREEANZEEERSBELHBE
322,697,0007T Bt + AR B AR IR 1 3R
BHPERRSHE BHLANFBHERAE
A7 B H# A2021F12H81H  2021F 1272
B - 20214128150 K20214E12 A28H 2 A

=

2021412 A3H & #£108,212,95017 ¥ ik
ELAFRO0B THITEERL - TEBRK
B R2021412 A28 H1T{E »
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

178

PAYMENTS

A share option scheme of the Company was adopted on 28
August 2014 (the “Scheme”) in place of the share option
scheme adopted on 16 July 2004 pursuant to the approval by
the shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting
held on 28 August 2014. The Scheme shall remain in force for
10 years from the adoption date unless otherwise terminated or
amended.

The exercise price of the options shall be determined by the
directors of the Company, but shall at least be the highest of (i)
the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s share on
the date of the grant of the share options; (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
share options; and (jii) the nominal value of an ordinary share. The
maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

On 3 December 2021, a total of 108,212,950 share options were
granted to Mr. Fung Tsun Pong (resigned on 2 March 2023), Mr.
Gao Zhiping and Mr. Jiang Tao, being directors of the Company,
at the exercise price of HK$0.20 per share. The options granted
are fully vested immediately and exercisable in 30 days from
the date of grant. All the options granted were exercised on 28
December 2021.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding are as
follows:

31. EQZIK" Bzl ROBE#RZN

a’A

RIEAR D B IR A2014F8 528 H L2 1THI AL R
RBERE E2#0E - ARAFIHR2014F8H28H
BRANPERE R B ([5H81)) BN KR 200447 A
16H FM 2 AR REET 8l o BRIELA E A 5 AR
WEsiER] BRI EIBERMABHRERTF -

BEREZTEERARARAESEETE  BK
PRUTEEZ&ERE (A ARBRNRE G
P R B P 2 T B ¢ (AR AR
T“ﬁ/\%%?ﬁﬁjﬁﬁﬂx% B HI A BB R 5 B R
Rz FHWHE : R(i)EBREE- R
BE MR 2B AT S Rz By BB &
ZNGHBBARENEFDEITRA10% °

2021612 A3 + A #£108,212,95017 i i%
FELAF 020 THITHEER FTARRIES
BB L (B R2023F3A2HET) =&
FTERERZRSLE BRESKD AR
S0H AR - T A B #EH E 7KR2021F12A8
28H1TfE ©

ERTHBREREZHWT

Number of share options

BREYE

Outstanding Granted Exercised Outstanding

as at during during as at

1 April 2021 the year the year 31 March 2022

Name of category/ BZ2021%F 8220225

participant Bh/2RELR 4R1EREE RERRH RERTHE 3AEAEE

Directors =z

Mr. Fung Tsun Pong BEELAE

(resigned on 2 March 2023) (B 202353 A2H BHT) - 59,657,535 (59,657,535) -

Mr. Gao Zhiping BEEELE - 23,634,865 (23,634,865) -

Mr. Jiang Tao ZEEE - 24,920,550 (24,920,550) -

- 108,212,950 (108,212,950) -
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED M. RARGEE 2 URGAER 2
PAYMENTS (Continued) (&)
As at the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share HERSHR  AQFRBERETSETIL
option outstanding under the Scheme. MR RITR R BEARFE o
The fair value of share options is determined at the date of grant ERENATEERBLHEMERTFHE
using Binominal Option Pricing Model by an independent valuer A-EAPETERAEE  WEANTR
and the following assumptions were used to calculate the fair [ETHEREN A TEE -

value of share options:

Grant date 3 December 2021
BB 2021512 A3H
Fair value at measurement date Nil
BERZAFEE ke 2=
Closing price on date of grant HK$0.016
REH A2 KHE 75 #0.01670
Exercise price HK$0.20
1TEE B #0.207T
Expected volatility 103%
T8 B R 18 103%
Option life 30 days
i P B AT 50 B 30H
Expected dividends 0%
TEHIRR S 0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.07%
I [ i ) 0.07%
The values of options are subject to (i) subjectivity and uncertainty BRENEBESRRA()EE LEBEMKRENR
relating to the assumptions to which such values are subject; RARE Y BN REE M (i) A R kA
and (i) limitation of the model used to estimate such values. BELEMELNNRRM FEHKERETE
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical SORBETRRRBENRE - EATET—E
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily EERER -

be the actual outcome.
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 32. &1 7] Bt B AR R &

180

THE COMPANY

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iokz3 FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - B REE - 3
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 569
Interests in subsidiaries, net RWB AR Z s F 58 - 39,137
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEELE - 39,709
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K HMEWRIE - 267
Cash and cash equivalents Re KRS EEY 29 644
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS REBEEHE 29 911
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H b AT 5 1,528,979 1,278,763
Lease liabilities HEAE - 621
Non-convertible bonds T R ES 28 4,395,648 4,395,648
Obligation under a financial guarantee — BRI HMEE >
for a subsidiary’s other borrowings B ERETZEE 1,031,213 1,134,491
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEESHE 6,955,840 6,809,523
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBaEFEE (6,955,811) (6,808,612)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAEBERARBERE
LIABILITIES (6,955,811) (6,768,903)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnBEE
Promissory note HAT EIE 26 119,808 | | 149,251 |
TOTAL NON-CURRENT FREBEEHEE
LIABILITIES 119,808 149,251
NET LIABILITIES EBEFE (7,075,619) (6,918,154)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR #E
Share capital & A< 30 2,128,819 2,128,819
Reserves ] 33 (9,204,438) (9,046,973)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCIES 2 5 A (7,075,619) (6,918,154)

Approved by the board of directors on 11 December 2024 and

are signed on its behalf by

Mr. Gao Zhiping
Director

EF

Mr. Lu Zhiming

BEABA R4
Director

BE
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33. COMPANY’S RESERVES

e M BRI
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33. A EIf#E

Capital
Share redemption Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
&x

BHEE HBERFE 2 BHE%  RNEB “m

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AEFT  ARTr  ABTx  B¥%FTR  B%Tx

(Note (i) (Note (i)

(Hz) (HEt))
At 1 April 2021 R202154A18 1,880,939 3,800 64,314 (10,425.233)  (8,476,180)
Profit for the year FERM - - - 18,720 18,720
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FEZ2EWAA%E - - - 18,720 18,720
Issue of shares BIkM (589,513) - - - (589,513)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R2022%3A31H I

2022F4A1H 1,291,426 3,800 64,314 (10,406,513) (9,046,973)

Loss for the year FEBE - - - (157,465)  (157,465)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXEBBEEE - - - (157,465)  (157,465)
At 31 March 2023 M2023F3A31H 1,291,426 3,800 64,314 (10,563,978) (9,204,438)
Notes: Wit
0] Under the Cayman Islands Companies Law, the funds in share (i) REFESHEERRE BROGREERRANES

premium account are distributable to shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(i) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of subsidiaries when
they were acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the
Company'’s share capital issued for the acquisition.

(i

distributable reserve.

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have

TEHERRBEEEERLT

(i

(i)

AHY KT ARRARR  HEEEEHRD KK
KEERR  ARBIARANEEERBE
XA E B2 ET

RRB 2 BEHRABIEME QBB AR TR
RriralkRESEMNETRBMETAR
AIRAEEMRE ZER °

20234 K2022F3HA31H » A &) & 7]
o IREEE -

T CFERE
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34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34. EAREIE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2023 not provided 202353 A31 8 » WENERA M H R P &
for in the consolidated financial statements were as follows: B REEEREELT
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEET I
Contracted but not provided for BRTHBEREE
— acquisition of property, —WHEME - BE REFE
plant and equipment 22,339 24,160
35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. BEREEALTRS

(a) Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, @ ARAIEEMBAR(KARZAERE
which are related parties of the Company, have been AT)BZRGENGZEERE KEHE -
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this B mR A s 5R o
note.

(b) Members of key management during the year comprised b)) AFEZFTZEEEKEEBREES
only of the directors whose remuneration is set out in Note %2 HME N AR MK -
11 to the consolidated financial statements.

() Mr. Cao Zhong, former executive director of the Company, € ARAAATEFHEREEDHESFA
has provided personal guarantees to the holders of Bond A REFBZHBEAMLZERITMERS
and Bond B as to the due performance of all the obligations ZEHEFRERHEARER BHRELED
of the two bonds. Mr. Cao Zhong has resigned on 28 K2021F 10528 H BHE ©

October 2021.
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36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following table summarised the financial information relating
to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) at the end of the reporting period. The
summarised financial information presented below represents the
amounts before any inter-company elimination.

36. EERESR

TRBUMN R E AREAEAIE B AR ([
ERERS D 2ASENBRARSE 2HBE
e TX2N2HBERMBHEEBEARA

GEIE= P ¥

Zhunxing
Expressway
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE2023F3A31HLFE Zhunxing Service Red Sino
SR
HEH RS E A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BET T BT T
NCI percentage EERERAE DT 13.13% 13.13% 40%
Revenue W = 733,580 = =
Loss for the year FEEE (1,252,832) (418) (10,973)
Total comprehensive loss PHBBBE (614,943) (804) (15,950)
Loss allocated to NCI DB IR 2 E1E (164,497) (55) (4,389)
Total comprehensive loss DREFZERERZ
allocated to NCI T HEIBAEE (80,742) (106) (6,380)
Cash flows used in operating activities AREEEB RS R (835,075) (27,559) (34)
Cash flows used in investing activities AREEESH RS R (2,421) - -
Cash flows used in financing activities ARmEES RSN (616) - -
Net cash outflows e mHFE (838,112) (27,559) (34)
As at 31 March 2023 A2023FE3H31H
Current assets MEEE 1,280,245 2,251 13,481
Non-current assets FEMBEE 6,148,759 153 37,945
Current liabilities MEAE (18,223,931) (216,038) (750)
Non-current liabilities ERHEaE (2,186) - -
Net (liabilities)/assets (8E) BEFH (10,797,113) (213,634) 50,676
Accumulated NCI ZE R R (1,417,661) (28,050) 20,270
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36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 36. JEIEZERER (F)
(Continued)
Zhunxing
Expressway
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BIE2022F3A31HLFE Zhunxing Service Red Sino
o ELE R
o B PR 75 = Ak

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT ABTRT AE%TR

NCI percentage FEERERA DL 13.13% 13.13% 40%
Revenue W = 475,078 - -
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BE),FE (5,400,576) 2,267 (11,735)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income W (BE) R ALE (5,607,831) 2,832 (8,777)
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI DEEIFERER 2
(E8/),/FH (709,096) 298 (4,694)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income NDEEFEEREREE

allocated to NCI (F518) Az (736,308) 372 (3,511)
Cash flows from/(used in) operating RE/(BR)EEERZ

activities REm 2,389 20,579 (10)
Cash flows used in investing activities AREEEFSHZRER @3) - -
Cash flows from financing activities BREES RSN - - -
Net cash inflows/(outflows) BeRA/ (Rl FE 2,386 20,579 (10)
As at 31 March 2022 M2022%3H31H
Current assets MBEE 867,417 30,142 29
Non-current assets FERBEE 8,417,999 165 67,373
Current liabilities mE B & (19,467,587) (243,137) (776)
Non-current liabilities R EE - - -
Net (liabilities)/assets (Bl BEFHE (10,182,171) (212,830) 66,626
Accumulated NCI ZETIEE R E R (1,336,919) (27,945) 26,650
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

(a)

(b)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates and at fixed
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and
fair value interest risk respectively. The Group’s interest rate
profile as monitored by management is set out below.

37. B RERER

ELXBAEEZMBEIAZ T 2R/R /X
Rk SRR FEERR RBHETAR
EEERR EEe=HYREEREREL
ME IR 2 B LA

(@) FEmEb

AEEZNXERIZELEREER %
BREBBESAEENFIEERER
xR NN FEERNXRRER - NEE
HEEEER 2NTEEHIWT -

2023 2022

Effective Effective

interest rate interest rate
per annum HK$’000 per annum HK$'000
ERFR=E BETRT TRFHEX BETT
Floating-rate on bank deposits R 1717 72X #)% ) Fl| = 0.4% 17,772 0.16% 41,398
Floating-rate on borrowings BRAFEH K 7.21% 10,534,288 7.42% 11,497,127
Fixed-rate on borrowings & R E & E F & 16.53% 484,666 22.02% 494,069

Floating-rate on non-convertible 7~ ] &5 (& 5 H)

bonds E BRI 5% 4,395,648 5% 4,395,648
Fixed-rate on promissory note 71 22 & &9 [E 7& FI| & 5% 119,808 5% 149,251

Fixed-rate on lease liabilities HEBENEEMEX 4.75% to 4.75% to
5.64% 6,282 5.64% 2,983

During the year ended 31 March 2023, it is estimated that
a general increase of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase
the Group’s loss for the year and accumulated losses
by approximately HK$55,007,000 (2022: increase the
Group’s loss and accumulated losses by approximately
HK$134,132,000). It is estimated that a general decrease
of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would decrease the Group’s loss for the year
and accumulated losses by approximately HK$55,007,000
(2022: decrease the Group’s loss and accumulated losses
by approximately HK$134,132,000). Other components of
consolidated equity would not have any impact.

Foreign currency risk

The group companies mainly operated in their local
jurisdiction with most of the transactions settled in their
functional currency and did not have significant exposure
to risk resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange
rates.

RE E2023F3A31BILFE £ E
HMBEEFIENERT  Bar xR
BEERI00EEY BSEASEFR
B 18 I 2 5t B 1R 15 hn 49 7% 55,007,000
JC (20224 - WMASEEERRETE
B4 78%134,132,0007T)  FEFTA H i
BEHFTENERLT BT FEE
BETF100E A B AEBFAE
B R FEER A #8748 %55,007,0007T
(2022F : HAOAREEEE R RFTEE
#4978 #134,132,0007T) » Hib4r & e
oW E AL -

(b) FMESEBR
SERARTIEZNHEMRNEREESE -

REBOXFUAENGEEREE - BWE
HESINEE RSB AESL 2 EXEAR -

TEERRBEEARAE —T_=—FERE
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its
trade and other receivables and deposited bank balance.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer. The default
risk of the industry in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group has a certain concentration
of credit risk as 99% (2022: 99%) and 99% (2022: 99%) of
the total trade receivables which was due from the Group’s
largest trade debtor and the three largest trade debtors,
respectively.

The Group does not provide any guarantee which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are generally due within 60
days, extending up to over 180 days or more for major
customers. The Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience indicate different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

37. HERAKRER ()

(c)
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RBERR AEEEETEERR
Er o B F99% (20224 : 99% ) K99%
(20224 : 99%) DRI A AREE 2 &K
HERFPFR-AHERF 2 EZRIWE

Eo
N

75 B A & AR AT R R < AN 5 A
RIEERR -

RRRRERKBHETCHEEZHE
BEETERNEEFNE - ARBIEFRT
HEPZBAANBMERCHEIERZE
e Bt hBEPZEEEREER
LA 2 KBRS - ESBBER
— RGO WEIA - EEEEFAER
Z180H A £ - AEE W & 7 XK P H
1S3 -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables

(based on due date):

e M BRI

T - =F=H=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

37. HERAKRER ()

(c) FERB(E)

TRERANAEEZ EERREER
AMAZESREER 2 RBEREEE
YR

As at 31 March 2023
72023F3H31H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance Net
EHEEE BERMEE BERE REE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T BT T BET T

Neither past due nor impaired  # £ i 2 5l 35l (&

Up to 30 days past due # B f % 30K
Over 30 days past due 10 BB 330K

0.41% 85,971 353 85,618
1.82% 42,952 781 42,171
2.53% 1,099,719 27,848 1,071,871

1,228,642 28,982 1,199,660

As at 31 March 2022
R2022F3A31H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance Net
TE BRI IE & HIREE BB R FEE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ARTIT ABTx BB TRT  ABTx

Neither past due nor impaired 13 £ 8 Ef sk Jef (&

Up to 30 days past due i Bl £ % 30K
Over 30 days past due 180 BB 130K

0% 73,373 - 73,373
0% 36,980 - 36,980
1.09% 684,010 7,477 676,533
794,363 7,477 786,886
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss over the past
3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economics conditions during the period over
which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economics conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

For deposits and other receivables, the directors make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical settlement

37. HERAKRER ()

(c)

FERE (&)

FEHBBEXDENBE=FNEREE
B - ZFLXREEHRABRARBRNIK
SESLBURR AR BRI - 2R
LB R £R 18 S R MR IR TR R R AR O
MAMBEZHWESR -

R REMEYHIENE EFRE
BESERS  BELBUNEERE
HER (AR EARBE AT

records, past experience, and also quantitative and AR - HE M EWRIE RIESH K
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive 5] 1% 3 17 8 B T AR T AR o ZKE?Hﬁﬁ
forward-looking information. The Group uses two categories e E e YR IE R AR E LR R - by fR
for deposits and other receivables which reflect their credit RMEFEERKRIAESERE EJE‘J’E B
risk and how the loss provision is determined for each of HE 7 e

the categories.

Category Definition Loss provision

il E&H BERE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay =~ 12 month expected losses
R B KR bR N A R BE 58 1218 A 7 B g 48

Underperforming  Significant increase in credit risk Lifetime expected losses (not credit-impaired)

T EERBBEE L FEREREE GEERRE)

Non-performing  High risk of default Lifetime expected losses (credit-impaired)

TR BARBRS FEBREHERE (ERME)

On that basis, as at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the loss ER BN B ZE2023F3A31H M

20223 A31H « 17 Z A H b JE Y58 89

allowance provision for the deposits and other receivables

was determined as follows. BT IREBENT -
Performing  Underperforming Non-performing Total
R T TR b
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’°000
BETR BETT BETR BETT
As at 31 March 2023 B Z2023F3A31A
Gross carrying amount R A% 50,495 40,358 - 90,853
Expected loss rate RHEBEE 3.92% 62.00% -
Loss allowance provision B2 HE 1,981 25,022 - 27,003
As at 31 March 2022 22022637310
Gross carrying amount IRHAE 19,286 33,107 169,206 221,599
Expected loss rate BHEEX 6.48% 17.41% 100%
Loss allowance provision BRHRRE 1,250 5,765 169,206 176,221
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

The movements in impairment losses on deposits and other

receivables are as follows:

37. HERAKRER ()

(c)

FERE (&)

Be REAMEWRIENREBBEZ SN
T

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
P 21 P& ER2 P& ER3 322
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETRT BETT BET T
At 1 April 2021 M2021F4 18 89,802 163,024 - 252,826
Reversal of impairment loss RENERZRERE
recognised during the year o (83,043) - - (83,043)
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 HIEBR1EB ER 2 (5,554) 5,554 - -
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3~ HFE BB EE S - (163,024) 163,024 -
Exchange difference BERZESR 45 211 6,182 6,438
At 31 March 2022 and R2022%F3A31A K
1 April 2022 2022%4H1H 1,250 5,765 169,206 176,221
Write-back upon write-off of FREWREEME R
receivables during the year ] - - (162,986) (162,986)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HEMEAR - (806) - (806)
Impairment loss recognised RERBRAZBERFE
during the year 880 21,950 - 22,830
Exchange difference ELER (149) (1,887) (6,220) (8,256)
At 31 March 2023 72023534310 1,081 25,022 - 27,003

The Group deposited bank balances with approved and
reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the banks
may cause the Group’s right with respect to bank balances
held to be delayed or limited. The directors monitor the
credit rating of these banks on an ongoing basis, and
consider that the Group’s exposure to credit risk at 31

March 2023 and 2022 were minimal.

TEERRBEEARAE —T_=—FERE

REBRRITERTFTARUTREERL
HIERTT - SRITRESE N EETREER
REE G EFTIS A RT3
EELZEBR FRHEERZER
THEEFR - WRAREEN2023F
N2022F3A31A FTA X M EERK B
HA o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. HHEREE (&)

(Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (d) RBESER
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity REBHEAEHERERSESS
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves T URRESSENRSHE BN
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and ERHERBoRBESTE -
long term.
The following table details the remaining contractual TREFRAEEHRRE R IECTERN
maturities at the end of reporting period of the Group’s 5‘5"5\Tf&ﬁﬂiﬁﬁ%i%\ﬁZﬁ?Té%’U@J%q
non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial EN - DIBBEAORBER SR (B
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted KAAGKHF RN (EZ L) ERHREHR
cash flows (including interest payments computed using RZBAMNEAENSFIE) HAEH
contractual rates, or if floating, based on rates current at ARERER 2 RFHHTE -

the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay:

Total More than More than
contractual Within 1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount  cashflows  ondemand 2 years 5 years 5 years
RNRER —ERg —-E# MER

RAE HRERAR REX BRER BREER hER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR AR BRI AR AR AR

2023 20235
Other payables A 7421872 7421872 7421872 - - -
Promissory note NS S 119,808 125,027 - 125,027 - -
Borrowings feg 11,018,954 11,018,954 11,018,954 - - -
Non-convertible bonds T RES 4395648 4305648 4,395,648 - - -
Lease liabllties HEak 6,262 9,653 1,436 1,272 2,728 4217
22968564 22,077,154 22,843,910 126,209 2,728 4217
2022 20225
Other payables At REfiE 7568326 768326 7,568,326 - - -
Promissory note EANES 149,251 162,536 - - 162,536 -
Borrowings = 11,091,196 11,991,196 11,991,196 - - -
Non-convertible bonds AR AES 4305648 4395648 43950648 - - -
Lease liabllties HEak 2,983 6,303 1193 ok 278 4739
24107404 24124009  23956,363 93 162,814 4739
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(e)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 18).

Equity price risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or
currency risk), whether caused by factors specific to an
individual investment (stock-specific) or its issuer, or factor
affecting all instruments (generic risks) trade in the market.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the fair
value of the Group’s unlisted investment in A% & #HF L
BER 22 R B 10 B BR A 7] designated and carried at fair value
through profit or loss are determined by reference to the
sales multiple of enterprise value to sales (‘EV/Sales”) and
price to earnings (“P/E”) (2022: N/A) of comparable listed
companies in the same industry, after taking into account of
discount for lack of marketability of 27% for the respective
unlisted equity investments. The performance is assessed
at least annually based on the information made available to
the Group.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
principal activities of Berun is investment properties
holding and therefore the fair value of the Group’s unlisted
investment in Berun are determined by reference to asset
based approach, after taking into account of discount for
lack of marketability of 20% (2022: 27%) and discount
on lack of control of 20% (2022: 23%) for the respective
unlisted equity investments. The performance is assessed
at least annually based on the information made available to
the Group.

e M BRI

—=F=A=4+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

37. HERAKRER ()

(e)

TEERXBEEERLAT —T—

B 18 2 B

AEBEES B AERTEENABS
e AR (HHE18) 2 A8 b
2 IREED -

RERRDMBTIAEEANTEED
ke (AMEREBEEERRARE
BRo1) 2 Lk aﬁ%ﬂaﬁ’\flﬁﬁxﬁ(ﬁﬁ
ERE)REBTARERRIFE
HETIA(— &J—LM)X%ZI%%@Z

R20234F N2022F3A31H » AEBE R
ARG FAaLEERERBR N AR ARG
EREAFEEAABSERINEZIEE
TREZAFEENZ2ER—T¥AL
BEMA ﬂZm%f‘;@%ﬁ‘é%mﬁﬁfﬁ
%z(m%“fﬂﬁé%ﬁ&m E([WmEA
£]) (2022%F : TEA) - #&27%;.
#LWQZM“QﬁkiTi&i%'l‘E‘EZ?ﬁ%F
F o RBEARANEEABHENRL T
FFH ke

2023 N2022F3H31H - HREE
EBRIREMEZER - FTA - AEER
%;ﬁﬁ#im&éﬁz NEEEDZREE

EEEE o Wit 20% (20224 < 27%)
;%Eimﬂﬁzmxﬁﬁzﬁﬁ%IiiLZ%“
K:20% (20224 : 23%) R = 1R Hl 3
ERAERAEEASNERELE
FE—IK -

=FE®RE 191



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fv?A FF %5 ¥R 2% MY &

—E-=H=H=+—HI9FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. K EKRER (&)

(Continued)

() Fair value hierarchy ) 2AFEEER
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s TREVARERRIZBE U BEREE
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting BIZE13 R AFEBEFEMREAFEE
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three- EBHhz=RBERAEEREEFEZLAE
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair BB ITAZATFEE - A FEEF=E

Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs, that is, unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs, that is, observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

An external independent valuation company, with
appropriate recognised professional qualifications, is
engaged to value the unlisted equity securities classified
as financial assets at fair value though profit of loss at the
end of each financial reporting period. Appropriate valuation
methods and assumptions with reference to market
conditions existing at the end of each financial reporting
period to determine the fair value of the unlisted equity
securities are adopted.

FBERSREMERMTERZEA
BEZIBEREEREZUET AH
BRmT

- E-HRRE:QAFEERKAS
—HRBABREBIE  BMEFER
RERMSTPHREESEEZ
REFERE -

- F_AME AFEERAEZ
R ABIBFE Eﬂﬂiﬁéﬁé%
—RZABRGABELR TSR
RERAABREAZE - A7
BERBABEBEREEIRGEHEH
BZBARIE -

- FZAME AFEERAEKX
PRI ABURRTE ©

REMBHREHR  ARAZE-—HA
BREERAZEEXEERIN B
BERAR - WD BRIEAFEET AR
HZMBEEZIFETBRAEHET
b - REEFLTRAZSLSZ AFE
B A2RREUBHRERNRZETH
o RWEE HETERRE -

The following table gives information about how the TEREVNEAZSVBEEATEESE
fair values of these financial assets are determined (in EARZER (LHZ  FIRAMBERN
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as R AHE) - ARBRATFEEAER
well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair A%&TJ%T&%mifiri‘J PN T (=l ﬁ%Z
value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 and 3, REEEEBRRERN (D ARE ERk

based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. I ERERE (&)
(Continued)
() Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ) 2AFEEEHRGE)
At 31 March 2023 2023F3H31H
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AL EE B B B=ER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BETT BETT BET T BETT

Unlisted equity securities at BATEEHAERZ
fair value through profit or loss ~ 3E_F AN E S 121,631 - - 121,631
At 31 March 2022 202243 831H
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
NEEE E—& F_ F=4;
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BETIT BT T BETT BETT
Unlisted equity securities at BAFEENABEZ
fair value through profit or loss ~ 3E F TR AE 5 115,460 - - 115,460
Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on NE=ZRNTFEEFEZEELK
level 3:
HK$
ok
At 1 April 2021 202144418 88,319
Fair value gain during the year NFEEEFRR G 23,181
Exchange differences ME N E5 3,960
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 202243831 H K2022F4H1H 115,460
Fair value gain during the year NEEBEFARE 14,678
Exchange differences PN E%E (8,507)

At 31 March 2023 7R2023F3H31H 121,631
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. KERERE (&)
(Continued)
() Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ) 2AFEEEHRGE)
Information about the Level 3 fair value measurements of B B R2023%F 2022331 A F
the unlisted equity investments carried at fair value through BEFABRIERZIELTREAEE 2
profit or loss at 31 March 2023 and 2022 are set out FEZWATEEFENERFIIDOT
below:
Significant
Valuation unobservable
techniques inputs Key data applied
EATABE
fHE M WABE ERNEZEEE
31 March 31 March
2023 2022

Unlisted equity securities at fair
value through profit or loss:

BATEEAAERZ
FEMBRAES
4% equity interests in N5 & Market comparable EV/Sales
HALERERBRBAR DA companies in the relevant ¥ (BB 4 & 5.00 5.72
RARGHEILERERRMNE industries
PR A B2 4% HETEZ TS P/E 294 NATEA
AR AR mR=E
Discount for lack of
marketability
RZAIHE 2 & 20% 27%
15.2% equity interests in Inner Asset based approach Discount on lack of control 20% 23%
Mongolia Berun New Energy BEAERE FRZ ST

Company Limited* (A% &
R AR ERAR)

RARHERFEERER AR
215.2% 0% 1

Discount for lack of
marketability
RZAIHE 2T & 20% 27%
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. BiIERER (&)

(Continued)

() Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ) 2AFEEEHRGE)

EETERHNEXBGABBEE ZH
BEZTHT -

Sensitivity analysis on changes in material inputs
used in the valuation techniques are as follows:

R2023F3A3MB R AFEEFARSE
REZRFLTREARES

Level 3 unlisted equity securities at fair value through
profit or loss as at 31 March 2023

Increased Decreased
by 5% by 5%

Changes on discount for MEZAHEESEZ
lack of marketability mEEH ¥ 5% BWA5%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Decrease)/increase in fair value DEEECRD) 0 (9,423) 9,853
Increased Decreased
by 5% by 5%
Changes on the EV/Sales TEEEHHEEET 5% BA5%
HK$'000 HK$’000
ok e BEE T
Increase/(decrease) in fair value ANFEEEM CRD) 4,493 (4,522)
Increased Decreased
by 5% by 5%
Changes on the P/E ratio MBREH # 15% BWA5%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Increase/(decrease) in fair value A EEEM G D) 91 (328)
Increased Decreased
by 5% by 5%

Changes on the discount on

lack of control MREZEHETEZ2S ¥ 5% BWA5%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Increase/(decrease) in fair value AFEEEM CRD) (1,140) 2,282
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. KERERE (&)
(Continued)
() Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ) 2AFEEEHRGE)
Sensitivity analysis on changes in material inputs used 1BELEZRAEX A B 158> 8
in the valuation techniques are as follows: (Continued) BESHFWUT (&)
Level 3 unlisted equity securities at fair value through profit R2022F3HA31RZ A FEEFF AER
or loss as at 31 March 2022 LE=ZRIELETRATZS
Increased Decreased
by 5% by 5%
Changes on discount for MEZAHEELEZ
lack of marketability mEEH ¥ 5% BWA5%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T EEE T
(Decrease)/increase in fair value NEEECRD) /i (7,763) 7,897
Increased Decreased
by 5% by 5%
Changes on the EV/Sales TEEEHHEEES # HN5% WA5%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Increase/(decrease) in fair value REEEEMNCRD) 4,058 (4,046)
Increased Decreased
by 5% by 5%
Changes on the discount on
lack of control MEZEFETEZES ¥ 1N5% BWA5%
HK$'000 HK$'000
ok ab BT T
(Decrease)/increase in fair value NEEECRD) /i (1,458) 1,579
The higher the discount for lack of marketability, the lower Mz AEEr 2ElS A FEAERE -

the fair value.

The higher the EV/Sales, the higher the fair value. TEEBEYHENLIES  ATFEELES -
The higher the discount on lack of control, the lower the fair BRoESETERS  AFEEBE -
value.
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38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

The externally imposed capital requirement of the Group to
maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange, it has to have a public
float of at least 25% of the shares. The Group received a report
from the share registrars of substantial share interests showing
the non-public float and it demonstrated continuing compliance
with the 25% limit throughout the year.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total
liabilities divided by total assets. The gearing ratios at 31 March

EXRERER

ARBEREAL A0 AERAEE LM
@ L ARRREEREAE MG

PRULRIZE - FIBS (RH5 B 12 2 B A 1 UL IE
EARFA -

38.

RRTAFEELRERE  ARBAERHRIK
NFPBRRZBRECHE BRMERTRER
TH RN R EEENREETR -

REE2023F3A31H IEFE - NEEEEE
B 4 45 N o

REFBZ LT AREBEERINE
EREN BRBFERERFRED26% -
AEBBRNBFELOREE —MHBTIE
ABFREZEHREIER MR 2HE B
ERAREEREEFEAN—EET25%MRE -

HENEMRAFMER  AEBAFNBEGLX
ERER IR RABRERNEERE
STE o A2023% [22022F3 AB1H 2 B & L

2023 and 2022 are as follows: R
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Total liabilities BEARE 22,968,564 24,107,404
Total assets BEHE 7,698,029 9,708,725
Gearing ratio BELE 298.4% 248.3%
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39. CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 30. IKEEREEBZER
AND LIABILITIES
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial R20234F M2022F3A31E E R 2 A%
liabilities as recognised at 31 March 2023 and 2022 may be VHEELRYHAGEZREES BN T

categorised as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at amortised cost RN 2 IS A E 1,281,282 905,772
Financial assets at fair value through profit or A EEFAEBRZZ
loss (Note) IS EE (H:) 121,631 115,460
Financial liabilities MKaE
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost R # K AAEZ MK EE
(Note) (Hiat) 22,962,282 24,104,421
Note: Kiat -
Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value. WHERATFEENENTHEEREE -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost 20234 202243 A31H + 7N &= B #57 ik 7 ok 8
or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values at 31 ARSIz B TAZ EAEREATFEETES
March 2023 and 2022. RER o
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 5 March 2016, an independent contractor commenced the
legal proceedings against Zhunxing in relation to the construction
costs and retention monies of approximately RMB100.00 million.
On 11 July 2023, the court sanctioned that Zhunxing is liable
to pay approximately RMB30.00 million to the independent
contractor. Up to the date of these consolidated financial
statements, Zhunxing and the independent contractor have
appealed to the highest court without final judgement. After taking
into account the legal advice from the Company’s lawyer, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that, no additional
provision is required as at 31 March 2023.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Material non-cash transactions

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2023, toll road
receivables withheld by the Ministry of Transport
of the PRC and receivables withheld by the PRC
courts relating to the proceeding instituted by an
independent third party contractor and the PRC
banks in aggregate amount of approximately
HK$113,754,000 (2022: HK$444,105,000) were
applied to set off the bank borrowing and interest
payable of approximately HK$113,754,000
(2022: HK$444,105,000).

(i) ~ During the year, the Group disposed of a 100%
interest in IR H AEBEFELIRER Q7. Up to
the approval date of the consolidated financial
statements, the consideration of RMB4,000,000 had
not been received.

(i) Additions to right-of-use assets during the year of
HK$5,706,000 (2022: Nil) were financed by leases
liabilities.

40. FAREE

201643 A58 « — & B A& B i i B iR
HERFR  PREZNEARRBEHAR
#100.008 & JT ° 2023F7A11H AR E T
HEEFRZBLABEZNHAREI30.008
BT BEAGEUMBKHRERBE  HHEKZ
B ABREE R EeAREL EF - HEEE
EH SRR HR - & Z BN AR EE R
AR EESER A BE2023F3A31H -
R IMNEE o

4. ZERERRMFE
a) EXXBELXS

() B ZE2028F3H31HIEFE
B 22 37 48 ) B 40 B8 AN £k B JE ik
BN B & B B A BT B8
FE=HABEMNTEZMEITIR
BOFABENERKBELE
49 75 7 #113,754,0007T (2022
£ 5 15444,105,0007T) E AR
WEBITEBERERMST B 4B
#113,754,0007T (20224 : B &
444,105,0007T) °

iy FAN ZXEEBHETREHHEE
L IR B R A B HI100%A% 7 - &
EHEREMBHREABHE  EE
AR #4,000,0007T (4 K W B

iy FRAFEABEEMNREIERB BB
#5,706,0007T (20224 : £) '
EBEmE -
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41. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 41. 8B &R KM & (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BETBFELEZEEEE
activities
Non-
Lease convertiole Promissory Interest
liabilities Borrowings bonds note payable Total
A
HEak &8 RS EARES ERFIE st

HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$ 000 HK8000 HK§'000 HK§'000
BETT BRI AT ARTT AETT BRI

At 1 April 2021 R01E4A1H 4,206 11,884,790 4,395,648 750,372 3,248,329 20,283,345
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSTED:
Capital element of lease payments REMFZERSES 1,330) - - - - (1,330)
Interest element of lease payments REMFZHEHA (194) - - - - (194)
Total changes from fnancing cash flows ~~ BEB S FEHEE (1,524) - - - - (1,524)
Exchange adjustment EiAZ 107 486,418 - - 114,807 601,422
Other non-cash changes: EGES Y TR
Settlement by net off against trade and WEHEE 5 REMEYNGE

other receivables FEEE - (380,012) - - (84,099) (444,105)
Settlement by issuing new shares HETHRGEE - - - (618,697) - (618,697)
Interest expenses B 194 - - 17576 1,310,958 12328728
Total other changes Egenn 194 (380,012) - (601,121) 1,246,865 265,926
At 31 March 2022 H2022%3A31R 2983 11,991,196 4,395,648 149,251 4,610,091 21,149,169
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41. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 41. 8B &R KM & (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BETBFELEZEEET (E)
activities (Continued)
Non-
Lease convertible  Promissory Interest
liabilities  Borrowings bonds note payable Total
q
HEER &8 RaES OGS EFE &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BYTR BYTT BRI AR

At 1 April 2022 022471 2,983 11,991,196 4,395,648 149,251 4,610,091 21,149,169
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSTED:
Capital element of lease payments REMFZERSS (1,267) - - - - (1,267)
Interest element of lease payments REMFZHEHA (333) - - - - (333)
Repayment of promissory note BRANZE - - - (34,895) - (34,895)
Borrowings raised EEER - 27,000 - - - 27,000
Total changes from financing cash flows HERSREDLE (1,600) 27,000 - (34,895) - (9,495)
Exchange adjustment EiAZ (164) (887,256) - - (272620 (1,160,040)
Other non-cash changes: EEness:
Termination of lease Sk (976) - - - - (976)
Addition of lease liabilties BIAERE 5,706 - - - - 5,706
Settlement by offsetting against trade and ~ BBHHE H RAMBEMER

other receivables BIEE - (113,754) - - - (113,754)
Interest expenses fIEA% 333 1,768 - 5,452 425,811 433,364
Total other changes =-E R 5,063 (111,986) - 5,452 425,811 324,340
At 31 March 2023 H2023%3A31R 6,282 11,018,954 4,395,648 119,808 4,763,282 20,303,974
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—E-=H=H=+—HI9FE For the year ended 31 March 2023

41. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  41.
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Disposal of a subsidiary

On 20 June 2022, the Group disposed its subsidiary,
namely M5 & & BT EEIR A R A )

Net liabilities at the date of disposal was as follows:

REREMRME (&)

(c) HEKBAF

20226 H20H  KEBEH &1 \Mﬂ%/
Ej ’ EDW?E/&%& zfﬁ E °©

HtEERZABEFHENT

HK$'000
BEET T
Property, plant and equipment L//ER lﬂ%& 51 78,446
Bank balance RITEE 1,286
Trade receivables E%F 451 397
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTRA - hzﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂlﬁl KIB 468
Other payables H b FE FUR (97,536)
Net liabilities disposed of HEZFAE (16,939)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RBMHNBARAWER :
Total consideration 4(E (4,683)
Exchange reserve 5N £ 5 2,080
Net liabilities disposed of HEZFARE (16,939)
(19,542)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: Hj’éﬁ'ﬁﬁiziﬁﬁmutﬂﬁgﬁ :
Bank balances disposed of IRITHETTEE (1,286)

42. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENTS 42,

Operating lease receivables - as a lessor

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group leases out CNG
gas stations and land as a lessor of operating lease for which
the rental income amounted to approximately HK$1,073,000
(2022: HK$1,329,000). The minimum rent receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases at the end of a reporting period are

RERERH
EEREEWROE - FRHEAR

HZE2023F3A3IALFE  AEBEEAKEE
MEMEHEF HATEBEERXATME X
T - e WAL BB E1,073,0007T (2022
F 1 %1,329,00000) c REEHIR - BB
AEUEMEEHE  SEEWHESRENT

as follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Within year 1 RE—FN 1,269 1,352
In the second year RE_F 1,220 1,297
In the third year RE=4F 1,171 1,250
In the fourth year KRB F 1,096 1,188
In the fifth year REREF 1,054 1,113
After five years AFE% 9,867 10,784
Total 1EEE 15,677 16,984
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43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. REHIERREH

44.

END

Update on Debt Restructuring

On 10 May 2022, the Intermediate People’s Court of Ulangab
Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region (A5 & B8 @ B B 22
A A A RJEBT) accepted the restructuring application of
Zhunxing by China Development Bank for the said bank to
restructure Zhunxing. On 25 August 2022, the Court issued a
written decision that Beijing Tian Tai Law Firm* 1t L K505 Z=4E
B 75 FT has been appointed as the Administrator. The Court
have approved Zhunxing to continue operating and manage
business affairs on its own. Zhunxing and the Administrator
have submitted a restructuring proposal to the Court and the
creditors within 6 months after the date of the court order. The
restructuring proposal has been approved by the Court on 26
September 2023. Upon the approval of the restructuring proposal
by the Court, certain claims (the “Partial Claims”) of the
restructuring against, and liabilities of, Zhunxing were discharged
and compromised in full and certain equity interest in Zhunxing
will be transferred to the remaining ordinary creditors for the
purpose of the restructuring. Before changing the share structure
of Zhunxing, the Administrator will need to confirm the other
debtors’ decisions. Except for the discharge of the Partial Claims
disclosed above, up to the approval date of the consolidated
financial statements, the other impact of the restructuring on
the Company is uncertain pending for the finalisation of the
restructuring.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on
11 December 2024.

EREAZEH

20225108 - ASH EARESEEMM
PRARZERESXBERFAZRITEH EEER
RIS - (FRZIRTTRE ¥ B 7T E 40 - 2022
F8A2H  ERELAE@mET  EEILERK
SERARMEBMBETEARBESTEA &
BEEMENEHBREBEATTEERE
BEK - FEREBAEE w2 LA
HeeE A MmER M EEARREATE -
EHF RER2023F9A26 8 E B AT ©
AL EEMR T RE - EREEEENEH
RE((BOERE) METBER 2R BRNZ
W WEEENSOHBRESEETHR TITHE
BEEANEEITES - EoE @ R
HEEZH BEATEMRAEMBEEANE
Meofr L ERBRNBOREIN  BHERE
PR MEZR > RAl B8R E 1N T
HNESHEEEANSRER -

4. GEUBHRRZHE

RAVBERRDEARADAEEEH20245F12
A 11 B kA %4 2 o
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Summary of Financial Information

MBEENBRE

#H, 2£2023%F3 A31H L F[E For the year ended 31 March 2023

The summarised consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited

TRV AKEBELBMBFEZGAFRE &
ERAEHRE  IREEAKEZEEZEEMT

consolidated financial statements of the Group, were set out below:

Year ended 31 March

BE3ANMALEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214 20224 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BETT BT BETT BETT
RESULTS £
Revenue W 867,377 567,562 598,117 479,596 735,130
Loss before tax BRILAIES 1B (1,190,651)  (3,591,190)  (1,500,930)  (5,071,509)  (1,510,776)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisMEe,/(Rx) 85 974 - - =
Loss for the year FREE (1,190,566)  (3,590,216)  (1,500,930)  (5,071,509)  (1,510,776)
Attributable to: FEfh
Owners of the Company VA/NIEZ =N (1,072,414)  (3,154,695)  (1,332,463)  (4,358,017)  (1,341,945)
Non-controlling interests IR ER (118,152) (435,521) (168,467) (713,492) (168,831)
(1,190,566)  (3,590,216)  (1,500,930)  (5,071,509)  (1,510,776)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Total assets EERE 16,439,350 12,981,926 13,863,365 9,708,725 7,698,029
Total liabilities AEEE (20,352,177)  (20,496,627) (23,051,869) (24,107,404) (22,968,564)
Non-controlling interests RS (30,525) 407,340 508,747 1,338,214 1,425,441
Shareholders’ funds attributable ZAQXAREEARERRES
to owners of the Company (3,043,352)  (7,107,361)  (8,589,757) (13,060,465) (13,845,094)
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